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The digital erais defined as the transition
from the classical industrial economy
to a digital, information economy. The
traditional markets are changing and
digital technologies are becoming
increasingly important.

The COVID-19 pandemic has
accelerated the processes already taking

Statement of Nikola Dujmovic,
President of the Management Board

is digital
g place, and the implementation of the
digital transformation has become an

issue of survival of commercial organisations of all sizes in all markets. In the past two
years, we took part in projects our users had planned to implement for years and were
forced to materialise in just a few weeks.

We are bearing witness to change in each segment of business - the labour
market, markets of merchandise and goods, supply chains, as well as the information
technologies themselves have changed and adapted fast. By delivering innovative
products and services, the information technologies ensure strategic business edge, but
traditionally led IT departments have not been fast and agile enough to adapt to the new
market requirements.

Our strategy to be a reliable partner to digital leaders and organisations in the
digital transformation by ensuring infrastructure services, software asset management,
development of business solutions, and operative management of IT system has perfectly
corresponded to the actual needs of customers in all markets.

We achieved the strongest revenue growth in the very segment of infrastructure
services - Cloud & Cyber Security solutions, which recorded a 32% growthin Span last year
compared to the previous year, which was in line with the growth strategy of the Group.

A strong revenue growth was also recorded in other business segments, so we
ended the business year with the growth of consolidated revenues of the Group of 26%,
up to the total amount of HRK 767.3 million. Net profit of the Group at the end of 2021
amounted to HRK 23.8 million, a 220% increase compared to 2020.

We willremember 2021 for Span’s going public on the Zagreb Stock Exchange,
by which we laid the foundations for our faster growth in the existing markets and
expansion to new ones.In 2021, our shares were listed on the Official market of the
Zagreb Stock Exchange. Interest in shares in the Initial Public Offering was higher
than the offer so all the shares were sold at the highest price in the offered range,
and in the last quarter of 2021, they were
traded almost every day at the average
price of HRK 222. We entered the capital
market with more than a thousand new
Spanshareholders, including institutional

Nikola Dujmovic

President of the
Management Board, Span d.d.
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investors, a large number of small investors that also included our employees, so we are
entering a new development phase of operation with a balanced shareholder structure.

We intend to further strongly develop our operations and are focused on the
growth of our team, capacities and competencies for the global market. In the past year,
we employed 135 new experts, and we invest in knowledge and skills and additionally get
stronger in order to readily respond to the growing needs.

Additionally, through our endeavours for sustainable and responsible operation,
we aim at making a contribution to the community where we operate.

Unfortunately, a war in Ukraine where we have operated since 2018, started almost
two months after the end of the business year. Although we had been prepared for various
scenarios, we did not anticipate such fast and brutal aggression.

Since the first day of the aggression, people, and above all our employees,

their families and users, are our priority. Since the

security of employees and their families is our Net
first and foremost concern, we ensured .
. . . . profit of the
assistance in receipt, transportation
and accommodation as well as Groupattheend
psychbclyloglcal aid té) everyobody who Of 2021 amounted
was able to come to Croatia. Our priority R
are also our users who operate in the to HRK 23'8 mI“IOIl,
war conditions as well. Our activities in a220% increase
the war-engulfed regions have not
& & compared to

stopped, we still provide support
to our users in Ukraine.
Even though our revenue in
Ukraine was increasing year by year, the total final
contributioninthe balance sheet was not significant
because we are still in the developmental phase
there. The war circumstances will certainly
influence further operations in Ukraine but
because we do business in the IT sector, we
believe that the flexibility of the business
model and technology will enable us to
maintain continuity of operationsin such
difficult conditions as well.

2020.
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We were established on 23 March 1993 as a limited liability

AbO“t company. Under the decision of the company’s Assembly, we
s became ajoint stock company on13 December 2019. Our main
pan activity includes the'provision of services of software asset

management and licensing, infrastructure services of design
and maintenance of information systems, work in cloud and information security, management of
information technology and technical support service centers, as wellas development of software
and business solutions. During the 29 years of operation, we have developed from an IT system
integrator in Croatia, to a group that today operates globally with more than 1200 clients.

Goh.ﬁ Goh:,i Goh.j Go\z.:l
Microsoft | ... Microsoft Microsoft Microsoft | ... oo
Partner Advanced Specialization Partner Partner Partner Advanced Specialization

B8 Microsoft B8 Microsoft B2 Microsoft BE Microsoft

Go\n.ﬂ Go\fi Golsi Gol?
MICrOSOFt | oy sinasemen MICrOSOFt | ..o st commoe vamsement Microsoft | ..o MiCrosoft | ... et rom
Partner Advanced Specialization Partner Advanced Specialization Partner Advanced Specialization Partner Adv pecialization

B9 Microsoft B Microsoft B Microsoft B Microsoft

We are focused on our long-term relationships with customers and we cooperate with
leading global and regional corporations. A leading expert in Microsoft technologies and leading
regional Microsoft partner, we hold the status of the Microsoft Gold Partner and are the first Croatian
company boasting nine Microsoft specializations.
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We have recorded continuing revenue growth by more than 20% annually in the past years,
and three quarters of that revenue has been made in international markets.

Span Group 2020 Span Group 2021
Croatia = Croatia
30% 26%
Ukraine Ukraine
23% 21%
Slovenia Slovenia
18% 17%
USA UK
15% 14%
UK USA
8% 14%
Others Others
&% e

As an IT service provider, we follow and respond to trends in digital transformation of
operations successfully, and with our work and company values, we strive to be a role model for
responsible and sustainable operation in Croatia.
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spa n i n Hi St ory an d y\/te staztedFourjou (rjney ’i\;.1993 ?f : IiT]ensle 9 rovider |jnd systfhm
development |r.1 egra o.r.. ocuse . on |cro'so echno ogles, .we ecamethe

- first certified provider of Microsoft solutions in 1996 only to
n u m be rs- become a Microsoft Certified Solution Provider Partnerin 1999. A year later, a Hungarian system

integrator, Synergon, joined our ownership structure.

The 1996 to 2001 period saw a significant transformation in the operation. Having obtained
the status of the first Gold Microsoft Partner in Croatia and the leading Microsoft Partner in the
Croatian market in 2001, we started providing technical support to customers, and this branch
of operation, which we have developed continuously, is our largest division in terms of numbers
today. At that time, we started offering consultancy services and designing business solutions for

our customers.
> ‘ Spanis the
\/ % first Croatian
‘ Microsoft
certified Gold

1993 40000+ 275 mtgrator Smergon | | Poriner s

becomes a partnerin

COMPANY PROACTIVELY SUCCESSFULLY Span status
ESTABLISHED MONITORED DEVICES COMPLETED Span launches 0
PROJECTS IN 2021 Microsoft CTEC First Microsoft

education center Enterprise agreement in

Croatia

We are implementing

Spanis the first

Croatian Microsoft the first Windows NT
Certified Solution 4.0. cluster - project
Provider "Jutarnji list - first
issue"
Organize Microsoft o
Systems &
o Development
24 x 7 177,108 99,98% Conference first
AVAILABILITY RESOLVED TICKETS INCIDENTS g?g‘zi'c ceonference _
OF SPAN SUPPORT IN 2021 RESOLVED IN TERMS yp
OF SLA!

Span becomes
Microsoft Certified
Solution Provider
Partner

Spand.o.o.
founded, with
(( )) software sales
3 ; as basic
activity

34 70% 340+

Frist Microsoft

AVERAGE AGE OF OF EMPLOYEES WITH EMPLOYEES WITH Certified system
EMPLOYEES UNIVERSITY OR PROFESSIONAL engineer employed
COLLEGE DEGREE CERTIFICATION in Croatia

! Service Level Agreement
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Span wins European
Business Award in

Inthe years that followed, we expanded to international markets - opened offices in Great The Business of

o . . , . ) the Year Award with
Britain, Slovenia, the United States, Azerbaijan, Germany, Ukraine, Switzerland, and most recently Turnover of €0-25m" TOVS founded
an founde
in Moldova. With the intent to list our shares on the regulated Zagreb Stock Exchange market, we category in Kyivp
became ajoint stock company under the decision of the General Assembly in 2019. o

Infocumulus d.o.o.

We continue to focus on Cloud&Cyber Security, and in addition to Microsoft as the main o
joins Span Group

partner,on work with Google, Amazon and other renowned Security partners. By listing our shares

on the Zagreb Stock Exchange in September 2021, we started a new development phase of Span Development

operation oriented to an accelerated organic growth in the existing market and an opportunity to We became Academy started

continue to expand in international markets. Microsoft Partner 2018
of the Yearin o o
Croatia

Microsoft Partner of
Span USA,INC.in the Year in Croatia

Chicago founded

o Achieved 9
Microsoft Advanced
o Specializations
Proud of 17 Mi ft
C;(;:lpec:endeécroso Shares listed on
16 Gold Zagreb Stock
Exchange
Achieved _
Established s.r.l.in Chisinau
Span IT Ltd, London Span is Microsoft
Partner of the Year in O | | Achieved
. ; We became AWS and Google
Spand.o.o.in Croatia Cloud Services Partner ISO/IEC 14001
Ljubljana, Slovenia We took h
e took over the ;
founded company Recro-net Span TOV is Microsoft best Achieved
. (o) SP* partner in Ukraine ISO/IEC 50001
Achieved - Group has over 300 LSP*partnerin '
ISO 9001 - our first employees ' '
ISO certificate Mlcro§oft Partner of the Year in
o Span Azerbaijan MMC Croatia
We implemented the Achieved in Baku founded
first Hosted Exchange ISO/IEC 20000 *Licensing Solution Provider
- defining and selling
of first cloud services
(o]

o

McDonald's UK IT
operator of the Year
award

Span management
buy-out and
redemption of
business share
from Hungarian
Synergon
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Organizational
StruCture Of the 0On 31.12.2021, Span d.d. has business
Span Group2 shares in the following companies:
Spand.d.
INTERNATIONAL SUBSIDIARIES DOMESTIC SUBSIDIARIES

NV
AN

Span IT Ltd. 100%

Span d.o.o. 100% —r—
100% Infocumulus d.o.o.

Span USA, Inc. 100%

i

I

Span Azerbaijan MMC 100% Bonsai d.o.o.

—

Span GmbH 100%

K

60% Trilix d.o.o.

Span TOV 100%

Span Swiss AG 100%

AINLELN!

Span-IT s.r.l. 100%

Corporate We have a robust Corporate Governance model that ensures

the implementation of accountability on all levels. The Corporate

Governance Governance structure is based on a dual system consisting

of the Supervisory Board and the Management Board of the

Company, and together with the General Assembly, they make the three fundamental bodies of
the Company.

As the Span shares are listed on the regulated Zagreb Stock Exchange market, we apply

the Corporate Governance Code of the Zagreb Stock Exchange and the Croatian Financial Services

Supervisory Agency (HANFA), which is available online on the sites of the Zagreb Stock Exchange

and HANFA (Corporate Governance Code). A statement on the application of the Corporate

Governance Code signed by the members of the Management Board is a constituent part of the
Annual Report of the Span Group.

2 Span Group (“Group”) consists of Span d.d. ("Company”) and its subsidiaries
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Statement of Pursuant to Article 272.p, in connection to Article 250.a of
Application of the Companies Act (Official Gazette no. 111/1993, 34/1999,

121/1999,52/2000,118/2003,107/2007,146/2008,137/2009,
111/2012,125/2011, 68/2013, 110/2015, 40/2019, hereinafter
referred to as: Companies Act) and Article 22 of the Accounting
Act (Official Gazette no. 78/2015, 134/2015, 120/2016,
116/2018,42/2020, 47/2020), the Management Board of Span
d.d., Zagreb, Koturaska cesta 47, OIB:19680551758 (hereinafter referred to as: Span or the
Company) gives the following

the Corporate
Governance Code

STATEMENT OF APPLICATION OF THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

| Spanshares were listed on the regulated Zagreb Stock Exchange market on 21 September
2021, and Span applies the Corporate Governance Code of the Zagreb Stock Exchange and the
Croatian Financial Services Supervisory Agency (HANFA), whichis available online on the websites
of the Zagreb Stock Exchange (www.zse.hr) and HANFA (www.hanfa.hr).

Il By this Statement Span acknowledges that it operates in line with the good corporate
governance practice and mostly according to the recommendations in the Code, and publishes all
information whose publishing is provided for in the positive regulations.

Span will provide explanations for any derogations from certain recommendations and any
additional adjustments in the Annual Compliance Questionnaire for Issuers of Shares and the
Corporate Governance Practice Questionnaire for Issuers of Shares, which it will submit in line
with the Rules on Data Concerning Corporate Governance that issuers are obliged to submit to
the Croatian Financial Services Supervision Agency - in the form, deadlines and manner for their
submission (Official Gazette 59/2020) to HANFA for 2021, not later than by 30 June of the current
calendar year and will release it on the websites of the company and the Zagreb Stock Exchange.

1 Therisk managementandinternal control systemisimplemented by controlling and internal
audit services. The crucial goals of internal audit are provision of guarantees and information to the
high management and the Supervisory Board that will help achieve the goals of the organisation,
including evaluation of effectiveness of risk management activities. Controlling reports to the
Management Board of the company, and internal audit to the Audit Committee of the Supervisory
Board, and the Management Board.
The report of internal audit is compiled after the elapse of each audit, and it contains:
a list of audits performed
assessment of appropriateness and effectiveness of the internal controls system, and
recommendation for improvement
unlawfulness andirregularities if they are determined during the audit, and recommendations
and proposals of measures for their removal
activities taken concerning previously issued recommendations.
The reports are submitted to the Management Board and the Auditor Committee.


https://www.hanfa.hr/
https://www.hanfa.hr/media/4097/zse_kodeks_eng.pdf
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The Audit Committee is authorised to monitor the financial reporting procedure,
effectiveness of the internal control system, the internal audit system, and the risk management
system.

Span hasimplemented ISO 37001 Anti-Corruption standard that optimizes and improves
management for suppression of bribery and the risk management process.

Y, Ten significant direct and indirect holders of shares in Span on December 31st, 2021 are
as follows:

Name Number Percentage
1. NIKOLADUJMOVIC 703,000 35.87
2. MARIJAN PONGRAC 150,600 768
3. DAMIRBOCKAL 150,600 7.68
4. ZVONIMIR BANEK 147,600 7.53
5. ERSTE & STEIERMARKISCHE BANK D.D 102,438 523
6. OTPBANKAD.D. 91,315 4.66
7. JASMIN KOTUR 72,800 371
8. HRVATSKA POSTANSKA BANKA D.D 47,739 244
9. RAIFFEISENBANK AUSTRIA D.D. 41,437 211
10. SASAKRAMAR 37,080 1.89

Span does not have holders of securities with special control rights or holders of securities
with limited voting rights for a certain percentage or number of votes, time restrictions for exercising
the right to vote or cases where, in co-operation with the company, the financial rights from
securities are separated from holding those securities. Span does not have special rules on
appointing or revoking members of the Management Board, or the Supervisory Board,amendment
of the Articles of Association or special rules on authorities of the members of the Management
Boards or the Supervisory Board. Provisions of the Companies Act and the Articles of Association,
which is available on the websites of Span (www.span.eu) apply to all the stated relations.

V The manner of work of the General Assembly and issues which it decides on, as well
as exercising the rights of shareholders are specified by the Companies Act and the Articles of
Association of the Company, and a call and proposals for decisions, as well as the decisions adopted,
are published in line with the provisions of the Companies Act, provisions of the Capital Market Act,
and Rules of the Zagreb Stock Exchange. Each share entitles to one vote.

VI The Management Board consists of 5 members. The term of office of the members of
the Management Board is five years at most. After the expiry of their term, the members of the
Management Board and the President of the Management Board may be reappointed for an
unlimited number of terms. The Management Board manages the affairs of the company at its
own responsibility, with the attention of a neat and conscientious businessman, in line with the
Companies Act, the Articles of Association and Rules of Procedure of the Management board.

In 2021, the Supervisory Board acted consisting of 4 members. The members were
appointed by the General Assembly. Term of office of members of the Supervisory Board is 4 years
at most. Authorisations of the Supervisory Board are defined by provisions of the Companies Act,
the Articles of Association of the Company and the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board.
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Within its competence, the Supervisory Board adopts decisions, assessments, opinions,
gives consent for decisions of the Management Board that is provided forin the Rules of Procedure,
the law or the Articles of Association, gives orders to auditors and together with the Management
Board, decides on proposed decisions adopted by the General Assembly.

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board by rule work at sessions and by
adopting decisions without holding a session, by correspondence, in line with the provisions of the
Rules of Procedure, the law and the Articles of Association.

The Supervisory Board, acting in line with the provisions of the law, the Corporate
Governance Code and the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board, formed two committees,
the Audit Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Description of the jobs
and competences of the Audit Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is
available on the website of Span (www.span.eu)

VI Spandoes not have formally adopted Policy of Diversity, but inits executive management
and supervisory bodies, there are no restrictions concerning diversity when appointing people; the
composition of the said bodies including the executive management was diverse in terms of the
age, gender, education, and profession.

VIII Pursuant to provisions of Article 250a paragraph 4 and Article 272p paragraph 1 of the
Companies Act, this Statement is a special section and a composite part of the Annual Report on
the Status and Operation of the Company for the 2021 business year.

Spand.d.

Applying the best practices of corporate governance, we ensure unbiased, transparent and
responsible decision-making in our operations. In line with the requirements of the Corporate
Governance Code we apply, the Conflict of Interest Managing Policy, a frame for defining the
system, control and procedures that will prevent and mitigate, or identify, assess, and resolve
potential and actual conflicts of interest, has been adopted. The goal of the Policy reflects in
implementing procedures that prevent members of the Supervisory Board, the Management Board,
the management staff,and employees of the Company to take part in decision-making where they
have a conflict of interest. The Policy applies to all the members of the Supervisory Board, the
Management Board, the management staff, and any employees of the Company in order to ensure
the highest possible level of transparency in the operation. The Conflict of Interest Managing Policy
is published on our websites at the following link: Conflict of Interest Managing Policy.

Theimportance of the corporate culture and ethical operation reflects in consistent acting
in accordance with our core values, internal rules and policies and all applicable regulations. Our
Code of Cusiness Conductis an expression of our values and reflects the principles and policy that
lead our operation and give specific guidance for ethical actions of all our employees and partners
as well as the managing and supervisory bodies.


https://www.span.eu/
http://www.span.eu
https://www.span.eu/en/about-us/politika-upravljanja-sukobom-interesa/
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In line with the Article of Association of the Company and the After completing a high school specializing in mathematics

Corporate
Governance
structure

Companies Act, Span d.d.is made up of three fundamental (MIOC), Jasmin acquired the following certificates: Certified

bodies: Help Desk Manager, ITIL Foundation Certificate in IT Service

NOMINATION
AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

+ 4 year mandate
+ Each Committee has 3
members:

- President (independent
member of the
Supervisory Board)

- 2 external

1. General Assembly
2. Supervisory Board
3. Management Board

Shareholders

General Assembly

Robust corporate

governance
model enabling
the execution of
governance
responsibilities
at all levels and
ensures

Supervisory Board

« 4 year mandate

* 5members:
- 4 appointed by General Assembly
- lappointed by workers’ council

TRANSPARENCY

To ensure timely, accurate disclosure on all material
matters (financial information, ownership and
corporate governance information)

ACCOUNTABILITY

To establish effective internal control and
effective accountability system at all levels

FAIRNESS

To protect shareholders rights and treat all
shareholders equally including minorities

Management Board

+ 5year mandate INDEPENDENCE PROCEDURES

+ 1-9 members appointed by |
Supervisory Board

General Assembly Shareholders exercise their rights at the General Assembly. The
Article of Association of the Company, available on websites at

the following link Article of Association, provides for the manner of work of the General Assembly,
its authorities, shareholders’ rights, and the manner of their realisation.

Three General Assembly meetings took place in 2021.

Decisions from the meetings of the General Assembly and minutes from them are published
in line with the legal regulations and are available at our websites at the following link: General
Assembly 2021.

supervisory Board The Supervisory Board consists of four members appointed by
the General Assembly, and those are:

Jasmin Kotur, President of the Supervisory Board
Aron Pauli¢, Vice-President of the Supervisory Board?
Zvonimir Banek, Member of the Supervisory Board, and
Ante Mandi¢, Member of the Supervisory Board
Business address of the Supervisory Board members is Koturaska cesta 47, Zagreb. The
Supervisory Board has a term of office of four years.

3 After the Company shares were listed on the Official market of the Zagreb Stock Exchange, in line with the Corporate
Governance Code, anindependent member, Aron Pauli¢, was elected the Vice-President of the Supervisory Board on
October 14th 2021, replacing Zvonimir Banek

To avoid conflicts of interest of all relevant parties

Management, EuroCloud Europe Academy - ECSA-AB -
Ambassador Certification, EuroCloud Europe Academy -
ECSA-FD - Foundation Certification, and EuroCloud Europe
Academy - ECSA-PF - Professional Certification.

He started his career in September 1996 as an Executive Editor in 3 Media d.o.o. In March 1998,

he moved to ITER-MARKETING d.o.o. at the Sales Manager position, where he worked until

July 1998 when he became an Editor for book editions

at ZNAK d.o.o. From July 1999 to December

2001, he worked as the Technical Support

Manager at PERPETUUM MOBILE d.o.o.,

andin January 2002 he joined Span

where he has worked at the position of

the System Engineer, User Support

Director, IT Director, and Security

Consultant. He has been the member

of the Supervisory Board and the

President of the Supervisory Board

of Span since its formation.



https://www.span.eu/media/ko2cub3r/jb-potvrda-statuta-2021.pdf
https://www.span.eu/en/investors/corporate-documents-and-corporate-events/corporate-documents/general-assembly-2021/
https://www.span.eu/en/investors/corporate-documents-and-corporate-events/corporate-documents/general-assembly-2021/
https://www.span.eu/media/ko2cub3r/jb-potvrda-statuta-2021.pdf

Aron graduated from the Faculty of Electrical Engineering
and Computing of the University of Zagreb in 1991, acquiring
the title Master of Science in Electrical Engineering,
Automation major. He started his career at AC NOVEL d.o.o.
where he worked on development and sales of software on
Apple Macintosh platform from 1992 to 1993. Since 1993
until present, he has been

at the position of the Director of BUG d.o.0. where

he is the only member of Management

and one of the co-owners. He has
been an active creator of the
Croatian IT industry since 1992,
apublisher of IT books and
digital publications, an author

of numerous articles and
interviews, and an organizer

of fairs, conferences and
seminars.

Zvonimir completed the Ruder BosSkovi¢ Technical
School and went on to obtain a professional IT education,
acquiring numerous certificates such as Microsoft
Certified IT Professional, Microsoft Certified Systems
Engineer, Microsoft Certified Technology Specialist in
several categories, and Microsoft Certified Trainer. He also
completed the Leadership Program at the Innovation Institute. He started his career at the
Croatian Guide Dog and Mobility Association where he did IT jobs working part-time.In 1993,
he joined the the International Committee of the Red Cross as an Assistant at the Medical
Department. From January 1995 to January 1996, he worked as the System Administrator
at Helpdesk of the Croatian Academic and Research Network. He moved to the Ministry of
Science and Education in January 1996 to take the position of a System Administrator and IT
Support Manager. In January 2001, he joined Span where he has worked at
the position of the System Engineer, Lecturer in the Span Microsoft
Training Center, Head Systems Architect, Solution Architecture
Team Leader, Solution Architecture Director, only to finally
take over the Solution Consulting Services division as the
Solution Consulting Services Director, a position he still
performs. He has been the Member of the Supervisory
Board of Span since its foundation and he was the
Vice-President of the Supervisory Board until October
14th 2021, when an independent Member, Aron Pauli¢
was appointed the Vice-President of the Supervisory
Board.




He completed the Technical Military Academy in Zagreb
and started his career in the army, which he leftin 1991.
Afterwards, he was a CEO of IPR Ltd., an information
engineering company. In1992, he launched a software
company, IN2, for development and implementation of
software and related services, which he sold to Canadian

Constellation Software Inc.in 2018. Currently, he is holding the position of the Business

Development Advisor at INsig2 Ltd. He is an active

participant in the Croatian IT community and

the President of the IT Association at the

Croatian Chamber of Economy. The

President of the Republic of Croatia

decorated him the Order of Danica
Hrvatska in 2014 for his contribution

to the development of the Croatian

economy. He was also declared the
Manager of the Year (in 1999 and
2012), and the Entrepreneur of the
Year (in 2014 and 2018).
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Term of office of Members of the Supervisory Board

's\luarr:aenigd Position Startofterm | End of term
Supervisory Board

Jasmin Kotur President of the Supervisory Board 13.12.2019 13.12.2023

Aron Paulic Vice-President of the Supervisory Board | 30.09.2020 | 30.09.2024

Ante Mandic Member of the Supervisory Board 30.09.2020 | 30.09.2024

Zvonimir Banek Member of the Supervisory Board 13.12.2019 13.12.2023

Three meetings of the Supervisory Board took place in 2021, and beyond those meetings, the
Supervisory Board made decisions through correspondence, or it gave consent for five decisions
of the Management Board in line with the provisions of the positive regulations and acts of the
Company. Allmembers took part in decision-making at the meetings, in a manner specified in the
the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board.

During 2021, the Members of the Supervisory Board received remuneration in the amount
of 91.375 HRK.

The Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board are available on our website at the
following link: Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board.

Supervisory Board Committees

Two Committees operate within the Supervisory Board and help it perform its tasks:
*  Audit Committee
*  Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

The members of both Committees have four years terms each, and the Presidents of both
Committees are independent members of the Supervisory Board.

The Audit Committee is responsible for all tasks stipulated by the Audit Act and the
Corporate Governance Code of the Zagreb Stock Exchange and HANFA. The competence,
responsibility and authorities, the manner of operation and decision-making and awards and
resources for the work of the Audit Committee are provided for in the Rules of Procedure of the
Audit Committee, available on our website at the following link: Rules of Procedure of the Audit

Committee.

The Audit Committee has three members, and meetings of the Audit Committee are
convened as appropriate. The Audit Committeeis responsible for its work to the Supervisory Board,
and is obliged to report in writing on its work and results of analyses and examinations.

The Members of the Audit Committee are:
1. Ante Mandic, President

2. Natasa Zelenika

3. Tomislav Skorin


https://www.span.eu/media/mx1nx01l/poslovnik-o-radu-nadzornog-odbora.pdf
https://www.span.eu/media/pucjzghv/poslovnik-o-radu-revizijskog-odbora.pdf
https://www.span.eu/media/pucjzghv/poslovnik-o-radu-revizijskog-odbora.pdf
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The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has three members andis responsible for
supervising the process of the nomination of members in the Supervisory Board and Management
Board, giving recommendations to the Supervisory Board about remuneration of the Management
and Supervisory Boards Members, and performing other tasks in line with the Corporate Governance
Code, applicable regulations and general acts of the Company. Meetings of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee take place as appropriate. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee
isresponsible forits work to the Supervisory Board, and is obliged to report in writing on its work and
results of analyses and examinations. The Rules of Procedure of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committeeis available on the website of Span at the following link: Rules of procedure of Nomination
and Remuneration Committee.

Members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are:
1. Aron Pauli¢, President

2. HanaHorak

3. Lucia Ana Tomic

The Audit Committee has had three meetings since it was founded in May 2021, and the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee had two meetingsin 2021.

The Members of the Committees in question accomplished the right to remuneration for
its work and contribution to the functioning of the Supervisory Board of the Company in 2021 in
the amount of 72.562 HRK.
Management According to the Articles of Association of the Company, the

Management Board may have one member at least and nine
Board

members at most. The Members of the Management Board
represent the Company independently and individually. The term of office of the Members of the
Management Board and the President of the Management Board is five years at most, and after
the expiry of their term, they may be reappointed for an unlimited number of terms.

OnDecember 315t, 20214 the Management Board of the Company consisted of five members:

Nikola Dujmovic, President of the Management Board
Marijan Pongrac, Member of the Management Board
Dragan Markovi¢, Member of the Management Board
Antonija Kapovi¢, Member of the Management Board
Sasa Kramar, Member of the Management Board

Name and surname | Position Start of term End of term

Management Board

Nikola Dujmovic ‘ President of the Management Board ‘ 16.12.2019 ‘ 16.12.2024

Damir Bockal Member of the Management Board 16.12.2019 30.11.2021

AntonijaKapovic | Member of the Management Board | 16122019 | 16122024
Dragan Markovic Member of the Management Board 16.12.2019 16.12.2024

Marijan Pongrac Member of the Management Board 16.12.2019 16.12.2024
Sasa Kramar ' Member of the Management Board | 23.01.2020 | 16.12.2024

4Mr. Damir Bockal resigned from the position of the Member of the Management Board on 30 November 2021. He joined
Spanin 2002 as the Director for Technology Development, became the Member of the Management for Operationsin
2003, and has held the position of the Member of the Management for Key International Accounts since 2020.

Nikola is one of Span’s
founders and the company's
Director since the
foundation. An engineer
by trade, he sees the
possibilities for

improvement and growth in everything he does,

with a rare talent to recognize or anticipate coming

global tech trends. Nikola's business philosophy

is clear - trust in what you do and follow the social

productivity concept. Pay it forward and try to give to

the community more than you have received from it.

From the start, Nikola saw the importance of investing

in people and their skills. That is why today Span’s

employees have a chance to expand their knowledge

working with state-of-the-art tech, using that knowledge

to efficiently solve their clients’ business challenges. Nikola

is also responsible for Span’s expansion far beyond Croatian | \
borders and he was the force behind Span’s partnership with

Microsoft, making us the company’s leading partner in the region.

Area of expertise

Everything from Design and Development of strategically important

projects, Corporate security, Quality and compliance to legal matters

and Office administration falls under Nikola’s direct jurisdiction. Thanks

to his efforts and vision, Span is today one of the leading Croatian IT

companies and one of the top Croatian exporters of software and services.
Working experience: 33 years

Trilix - Member of the Management Board (2007 - onwards)

BonsAl - Member of the Management Board (2018 - onwards)

IT Association at the Croatian Chamber of Economy - President (2017 - 2020)
Croatian Independent Software Exporters CISEX - Member of the Board of Directors
(2014 - 2016)

Business Software Alliance BSA - one of its Vice-Presidents (1997 - 2004)
Education

Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Computing, University of Zagreb


https://www.span.eu/media/ko2cub3r/jb-potvrda-statuta-2021.pdf
https://www.span.eu/media/vqehfa3a/poslovnik-o-radu-odbora-za-imenovanja-i-primitke.pdf
https://www.span.eu/media/vqehfa3a/poslovnik-o-radu-odbora-za-imenovanja-i-primitke.pdf

2l yearsinSpan
Marijanis in charge of all Span’s projects, from infrastructural
to software, overseeing

every phase, from

development to

support. Marijan
started his career in Span as a System Engineer,
quickly becoming a Business Unit Manager. He
has forged his team of three into an expert crew of
100+ professionals, and that is something he cites
as one of his greatest achievements. Creating a
best-in-class team, ensuring its growth over two
decades, and spreading its influence and knowledge
is something that has cemented Span’s reputation as
a trusted and exceedingly competent company.
Area of expertise
For more than twenty years, he has
led teams who are always on top
of current trends, anticipate new
technological courses and introduce
revolutionary solutions. With Marijan
at the helm, they design diverse
technical solutions, manage software
and infrastructure projects and
organize supervision and support
services.
Working experience: 27 years
HRT - System Engineer (1996 -
2001)
Skok - Director (1992 -1996)
Education
Faculty of Transport and Traffic
Sciences, University of Zagreb
Innovation Institute - Advanced
Business Program, Zagreb
Certified Microsoft IT Expert,
System Engineer, Trainer,
Technology Expert

6 yearsin Span
As the Management Board Member in charge
of operations management, Dragan

supervises the work of the Financial,

Controlling, Accounting, Internal
IT,and Acquisition departments.
Relationships with assorted financial institutions, creditors, and
investors also fall inside his domain, as well as all the mergers or
takeovers Span is involved in.
He has initiated and actively participated in numerous internal
business improvement projects, such as establishing Span’s
office in Ukraine, restructuring the one in Slovenia, as well as
initiating a Controlling office in Span, and restructuring the Finance
department. Calm and collected in a crisis and during challenges,
Dragan managed Span’s cash flow and oversaw the company’s
financials during this and last years’ lockdowns.
Area of expertise
Dragan’s business achievements are mainly
related to launching changes in the
organizational structure of the company and
improving the management of the financial
assets.
Working experience: 26 years
Proficio - President of the Management
Board, Executive Director (2013 - 2015)
King-ICT - Member of the Management
Board, Executive Director (2009 - 2012)
Hrvatski Telekom - Director for Planning
and Network Development (2004 -
2009)
Verso Mrezne Tehnologije - Operative
Director (2002 - 2004)
Iskon Internet - Member of the
Management Board, Executive Director
(1999 -2002)
Expandia Invest - IT Manager (1996 - el ]
1999)
Education
Faculty of Electrical Engineering and
Computing, University of Zagreb




12 yearsin Span
Antonija leads Span's HR department whose main goal is
attracting, developing, engaging, and ultimately retaining
the best-in-class IT experts within Span. Her efforts
inimplementing a unique performance management
system, including feedback from management, HR, and
360 evaluations, boosted employee engagement and satisfaction. Together with her team,
she introduced Span Academy, our successful summer internship program for promising
IT students. She also drove the initiative for creating the
company’s communication strategy with considerable
internal and external results.
Area of expertise
Thanks to Antonija and her team, in 2020 Span

obtained the Excellence During Challenges
Certificate and Employer Partner Certificate which
proves the quality of Span’s HR practices. She is
focused on adding value to development through
strategic organizational development, adhering

to the highest degree of ethical and professional
standards.

Working experience: 21 years

Atento d.o.o. - HR Director (2008 - 2010)

S & T Hrvatska d.o.o. - HR Manager (2007 -
2008)

Microsoft Hrvatska d.o.o. - HR Generalist

(2005 -2007)

Belupo d.d. - Education and Development
Coordinator (2001 - 2005)

Education

MSc Organizational Behaviour, Birkbeck
University,London = = SN, 7
Faculty of Philosophy, University of
Zagreb

MBTI, Certified Practitioner
Managing Human Resources, MCE
Bruxelles

2yearsinSpan
Sasais the newest acquisition among the members of our
Management Board. As a CMO, he is responsible for Span's
international business development, managing a full portfolio
of marketing and sales activities on a global scale. Together
with his team, he is strengthening relationships with clients and

partners and also functions as Span's international business advisor. Besides

overseeing these activities in Croatia, he also supervises Slovenia, e

Ukraine, and Azerbaijan, with a constant focus on expansion to '

new international markets.

Area of expertise

During his first year in Span, we have already seen him

restructure our Sales and Marketing departments with

great success. Hisimmense experience in organizing

these corporate branches as well as managing business
development and strategic growth will help transform Span into
a truly global company. We already have strong foundations for
further international development, and Sasa has the time-tested

visionary know-how to help Span get there.
Working experience: 32 years

Hrvatski Telekom d.d. - Member of the Management Board and COO
(2016 - 2020)

Crnogorski Telekom - Member of the Management Board
(2017 - 2018)

Combis d.o.0. - President of the Supervisory
Board (2016 - 2019)

Iskon Internet d.d. - President of the
Management Board and Executive Director
(2000 - 2016)

Apple Center NOVEL - General Director
(1990 -1999)

Education

Edinburgh Business School MBA
(Heriot-Watt University)

Strategic Management - Copenhagen
Business School

Corporate Finance - Creating

Shareholders Value - IEDC Bled

Strategy Management for

Executives - St Gallen Business

School
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The table below contains data on the amounts of receipts and remuneration for the work overview Of operation

of the members of the Management Board in the year ended on December 31st, 2021:

Total earnings from work Description Of Our business modelis directed to providing full service, with
Name and surname | Position (including pays in kind/gross th t. d a possibility to adjust solutions to the business needs of an
Il salary) paid during 2021 e Operi_‘ |°|1 an individual client:
main activities
Nikola Dujmovic President of the Management Board 1,376,661 .
(bllSlneSS model) . Starting from the analysis of the operation of the
Marijan Pongrac Member of the Management Board 1,504,901 customer with the purpose of identifying the required
Dragan Markovié Member of the Management Board 1,333,682 programs and sales of appropriate program licenses,
. - - Designanddevelopment of information systems in accordance with the business needs of the
Antonija Kapovic Member of the Management Board 1,331,572 ) ) )
customer with an emphasis on Cloud&Cyber Security,
SasSa Kramar Member of the Management Board 1,347,427 - Service of complete supervision and management of the IT environment, and timely
Bl Bl Member of the Management Board 1407910 troubleshooting of incidents in the operation of the system,

- to services of development of own IT solutions: software platforms, software solutions,
*Mr. Damir Bockal resigned from the position of the Member of the Management Board on 30 November 2021. He joined
Spanin 2002 as the Director for Technology Development, became the Member of the Management for Operationsin
2003, and has held the position of the Member of the Management for Key International Accounts since 2020.

software products and Microsoft business solutions.

The denoted business activities are therefore split along four business segments through
which customers are provided individual IT services:

External auditors
External independent auditors appointed by the General Assembly of Span d.d., perform annual Software Asset

audit of financial statements and business reports in order to ensure an independent, objective Malf_‘?ge”?ent& @
icensing
opinion about the manner of compilation and presentation of the financial statements. The report

Infrastructure services,
Cloud&Cyber Security

of the independent auditor to the General Assembly is a constituent part of the Annual Report. An .
audited consolidated report of the Span Group and non-consolidated financial statements of Span 4 business
d.d.for the year ended on December 31st,2021, were audited by Deloitte Limited Liability Company segments
for Audit Services, with the registered office in Zagreb, Radnicka cesta 8068,

a
(i)

Service Center
Management &
Technical Support

Software & Business
Solutions Development

L Licence business is an entry point for providing

additional services through implementation and

support:

The analysis of the
customer’s business
operation so as to identify
the necessary programs
and the sale of appropriate
program licences

> Independent advisory attitude

> Business approach focused on the customer and
providing solutions aimed at optimizing their

business operation The design and development

of information systems in
accordance with the

business needs of the

customer, placing a
special emphasis on

BUSiness Cloud&Cyber Security
Own IT development

solutions: software g mOdeI

platforms, software e
solutions, software

products, and Microsoft
business solutions

v

Timely and quality service, 24/7x365 customer support

v

Focus on developing long-term customers

The services of complete
supervision and

management of the IT @
environment and the \/
timely elimination of

incidents in the operation
of the system
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1. software Asset The first step in the business relationship with a customer
Management is licensing®. This business segment includes the sales of

- - program licenses and assistance to customers concerning
and Llcens"'g selection of the most appropriate program licenses for
their operation, and care of timely renewal of the licenses
purchased. The overall business operation of a customeris
analysed through this phase, with the purpose of identifying actual needs for adequate software
and optimizing its operation. In this way, we strive to achieve savings for the customer and reduce
IT risks which they are exposed to as early as with the very contracting of procurement of software,
and we become a long-term consultant of the customer when management of their software
assetsisinvolved.

To provide software asset management services, we use modern technological tools
and standards, and we are a certified partner of Snow, one of the leading suppliers of IT tools for
the management of licenses and software assets. When it
comes to sales of licenses, the most important
supplier of the Group is Microsoft,
whose part of the partner network
we have been for more than 28
years. As a Microsoft Gold

Partner, we have become 278 2001.
their hub of expertise for Employees with First Croatian
o . Microsoft Microsoft
communication solutions, professional Certified Gold
solutions for security, and certification / Partner

Azure platform as well
as advanced business

2013.

2021.

applications. - 2016.
Microsoft 2020.
Partner of the L) (J Microsoft

Year in Croatia Partner of the

Year in Croatia
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2. Infrastructure Infrastructure services include design and development of

- information systems according to the business needs of a

SerVICGS, CIoud & customer with an emphasis on Cloud&Cyber Security. To

Cybel‘ security that end, we use advanced and innovative solutions and
software tools of global leaders in the IT sector.

Projects of development of information systems
can be of different duration, from one-year to multi-year projects, and we design and develop them
according to specific business needs and standards of the customer (tailor-made solutions). The
ideaistodevelop an T system adjusted to the customer, which will support their current operation
and business growth to the optimum, so this process includes detailed analysis of the existing
business processes of the customer.

When Cloud services® are involved, we have ensured complete solutions to our customers,
from the service for assessment of the preparedness of the customer, preparation and enabling
the transition of the customer to the Cloud platform, to the management of Cloud itself. Last year,
our services in the so called Multi-Cloud environment (use of several Cloud platforms of different
suppliersin the same environment) ensured monitoring of the Cloud environment to our customers,
optimization of costs and security of the IT system.

We are a certified partner of leading world’s platforms of Cloud operations - Microsoft
Azure, Amazon Web Services and Google Cloud Partner, and these companies are our most
significant suppliers in the segment of the infrastructure services and Cloud.

This segment of the operation also includes taking care of the security of the IT

systems’which we endeavour to make resilient to cyber threats or attacks for the customer, and
provide services of security service management.

2020. ) 2019.
The best LSP in UA and
Microsoft LSP 2020. AZ - Regional
partner in Obtained first Partner Status
Ukraine Advanced
e 63% 43% 19 DAYS
OF CYBERATTACKS OF COMPANIES HAVE THE AVERAGE LENGTH
ARE CAUSED BY A DEFINED STRATEGY OF BUSINESS OPERATION
COMPROMISED FORENCRYPTING DELAY CAUSED BY
PASSWORDS AND SENSITIVE DATA® RANSOMWARE ATTACK
USERNAMES

¢ https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/cloud-services/

Shttps://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/software-asset-management-sam-licensing/

" https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/security-services/

8 https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/security-services/cyber-security/



https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/software-asset-management-sam-licensing/
https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/cloud-services/
https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/security-services/
https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/security-services/cyber-security/
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3_ service center This segment of the operationinvolves services of complete
M t d supervision and management of the IT environment which
anagemen an we provide to customers depending on the contracted
TeChnical squort level of service. We ensure continuing availability of service
24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and 365 days a year®,
independent on whether the systems were designed, developed and put into operation by us or
the respective customer. Even though contracting these services usually follows after we implement
or integrate certain technological solutions for the customer in their own IT environment, we also
provide these services independent on previous integration of technology in the customer’s
environment, especially in cases when a customer has a need for specific know-how, better
availability of professional IT support or additional resources capable to perform high-risk large-
scale operating actions.

° https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/24x7-support-services/
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4. Software and This business segment includes the development of our own
Busin Solution IT solutions?®, or software platforms, software solutions,

Hsiness sofutio software products, and Microsoft business solutions. The
Development development of software platformsimplies the development

of digital platforms of high performance, ready for global
scaling that we base on solutions of Cloud operation and micro service architecture.

The development of software solutions concerns the development of specific software
solutions according to the customer’s requirements in the area of different technologies. We have
developed the so-called "Data Segregation Framework", a specific solution based on the so-called
Blockchain technology and intended for a transparent and secure monitoring of the access to
confidential data and the so-called "RAM", a comprehensive solution for the real time monitoring
of used hardware and licensed resources.

The development of software products implies the production of author software solutions
among which "Eiryn Service Management!!", a flexible solution for IT service management,
"Personal Data'? (PDP)", a comprehensive solution for collection and harmonization with GDPR
requirements, and "Domain Name system C&A!3", an intelligent security solution that protects
from cyber attacks, stand out.

10 https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/business-solutions-development/

I https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/business-solutions-development/span-products-solutions/itsm-solution-eiryn/

2 https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/business-solutions-development/span-products-solutions/personal-data-
protector-pdp/

13 https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/business-solutions-development/span-products-solutions/dns-ca/

LY —

NN e


https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/24x7-support-services/
https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/business-solutions-development/
https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/business-solutions-development/span-products-solutions/itsm-solution-eiryn/
https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/business-solutions-development/span-products-solutions/personal-data-protector-pdp/
https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/business-solutions-development/span-products-solutions/personal-data-protector-pdp/
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Main markets

We divide the main markets in:

* Key International Clients

*  Domestic markets (include markets in the Republic of Croatia and the Republic of Slovenia);
» Fast-growing markets (include markets in countries of East Europe and Central Asia).
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"In the last quarter of 2021, we were focused on the preparation
of the organisation for the incoming change and created new
departments - Ildentity, Access and CyberSecurity and Cloud
Infrastructure for the strategic segments of operation. Our aim
is to ensure the preconditions for further development and
respond to further requirements of our users in as successful as
possible manner."'®>, commented Marijan Pongrac, Member of

the Management Board, Director for Technology.

As additionto the “classical” cyber defense within Cyber Security, it will be required to invest

Key International

Domestic markets

Fast-growing markets
(East Europe and

additional effort in exercising, i.e. simulation of cyber attacks (pivotal / table-top and operative), as
well as in penetration tests and tests of vulnerability of systems. Proactive actions, simulations
of offensive activities (TTP - technique, tactics and procedure) used by attackers, exercising and
cyber defense must act in unison using all available internal resources in order to better complete
the whole system.

Clients (Croatiai Slovenia) central Asia)
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Industry Afurther trend of growth of the global IT marketis expected
overviewl“ in the future as well, and as this sector has been recognised

as necessary and important, growth of IT budgets and new
opportunities for integration of parts and products of IT to
other segments of operation of companies are expected in 2022.

Alarge number of new cyber solutions are also expected, which will lead to development of
new solutions and arange of innovative technologies in the market, and will accentuate the growth
of the Cyber Security market. Additionally, the development of even better and more sophisticated
solutions that will combine the bestamong the “old” principles of cyber security along with the new
ones that are yet to come, will be a response to new cyber threats.

Thus, Cyber Security teams will not be oriented only to defense but also to an "attack”, or to
even more detailed and agile prevention of threats, so the change of the paradigm of thought from
reactive to proactive is expected. Moreover, a zero trust mindset is increasingly prevalent because
the very paradigm of cyber attacks is changing - “defense game” is not sufficient any more (if it
has ever been) and is replaced by even more detailed and optimized test of the penetration of the
system and real-scenario exercises. This does not mean that defense will be completely replaced
by the attack, but that both parts must functionin unison, using all the available internal resources
so that the overall system is better complemented.

“https://connect.comptia.org/content/research/it-industry-trends-analysis

Increasing occurrence of granularity of software
development is expected - instead of developing the whole
software product in-house as work of one team, the job is
expected to be “granulated” to several teams that will work
in-house or will be outsourced so that every part is produced
in the fastest and most efficient manner.

Artificial intelligence (Al) will also progress even more,
and the biggest leaps are expected in the area of medicine
and treatment - models of prediction e.g. of the business of
the staff and reducing the waiting time are already in place,
and their further development and the application of similar
models are expected on an even higher level. Moreover, the
artificial intelligence is expected to automate even more
business and internal processes of companies.

Further growth of data science, data management,
as wellas IT as a profession is also likely - they are already an
integral part of each analytical strategy of IT, however given
that proportionally, they are least prevalent of all technological
occupations, a much higher demand is expected in 2022.

"We started operating in Cloud as back
as in 2006 through Microsoft hosted
services in our own Cloud.'” Soon, we
became one of the first companies on the
world’s level that worked, together with
Microsoft, on migrations to Microsoft
Online BPOS solutions (a harbinger of
Microsoft Office 365). Span has been
dealing with the implementation of
Cloud services for years, and those have
become so developed today that nobody
even consider new services in data
centers anymore. We can say that Hybrid
Cloud and Cloud Only have become a
certain standard," said Marijan Pongrac,
Member of the Management Board,
Director for Technology

Cloud, which has seen a fast growth in the past years and has become integral to an

increasing number of companies, will continue to grow given the expected continuation of the trend

where companies will continue to follow the cloud-first architecture. Cloud is not one of options

any more; rather, itis increasingly the first considered option for introducing new components and

migration of the existing systems.

The COVID-19 pandemic has moved the application of digital technologies in doing business®

forward for a few years and has led to a global growth of end users’ demand for services of operation
in Public Cloud. The expected growth of the operation in Cloud as a consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic will significantly increase the share of the cost of the operationin Cloud inthe total IT costs.

Shttps://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/security-services/cyber-security/

16 https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/strategy-and-corporate-finance/our-insights/how-covid-19-has-
pushed-companies-over-the-technology-tipping-point-and-transformed-business-forever#

7 https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/cloud-services/



https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/security-services/cyber-security/
https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/strategy-and-corporate-finance/our-insights/how-covid-19-has-pushed-companies-over-the-technology-tipping-point-and-transformed-business-forever
https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/strategy-and-corporate-finance/our-insights/how-covid-19-has-pushed-companies-over-the-technology-tipping-point-and-transformed-business-forever
https://www.span.eu/en/solutions-services/cloud-services/
https://connect.comptia.org/content/research/it-industry-trends-analysis
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Strategy and goals The operation growth strategy for the whole Group is

primarily directed to expanding the business activities with

high added value, which imply IT services from business
segments of Infrastructure services - Cloud & Cyber Security, Service Center Management and
Technical Support, Software and Business Solution Development. The expected growth is based
on the geographic expansion to new foreign markets of Eastern Europe and Central Asia for which
we have the status of a Microsoft LSP partner, as well as on further organic growth in the existing
marketsinall business segments of operation. Our strategic framework also implies more intensive
cooperation with the existing international key accounts (expansion of the number and type of
services), and development of the Span.zone digital platform that enables a completely autonomous
procurement, activation, management and maintenance of Cloud licenses and services, for small
and middle-sized companies.

Trusted consultant to customers for commercial,
technology and digital transformation challenges

sR:ha';:.: Speed and % Interdisciplinary
e quality approach

\gartner " \a\ ‘ \

Key pillars in customer relationship

Deep Focus on Anticipating
understanding of identifying the customer needs
customer needs best solution in advance

Independent consultant approach
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Public Offeri ng Atthe beginning of 2021, we actively launched preparations

for going public and listing Span’s shares on the Official

market of the Zagreb Stock Exchange. For this transaction,
we hired Zagrebacka banka as an Offering and Listing Agent, whereas the legal advisers for the
transaction were two law offices, Praljak & Svi¢ as our Legal Adviser and Mamic Peri¢ Reberski
Rimac as the Legal Adviser of the Offering and Listing Agent.

After the General Assembly of the company on May 24t 2021 adopted Decision on listing
all1,960,000 shares on the regulated market of the Zagreb Stock Exchange and the Management
Board on May 27, 2021 adopted Decision of sale of own treasury shares by Public Offering, the
Croatian Financial Services Supervisory Agency (HANFA) approved the “Prospectus regarding the
Public Offering and listing of shares on the regulated market” (“Prospectus”)!® on July 8™, 2021.

18 https://www.span.eu/hr/media/prospekt/



https://www.span.eu/hr/media/prospekt/

38 ((( SPAN ANNUAL REPORT 2021

During July and September we organized a series of presentations to investors, and the
official start of the Public Offering on September 6th, 2021 took place in two rounds, which started,
took place and ended concurrently. In the first round, shares were offered for sale only to employees
(Employee Stock Ownership Plan "ESOP")!°, and in the second round of the Public Offering, shares
were offered for sale to all other Investors, i.e. to any natural person or legal entity that was a Small
Investor or a Qualified Investor?°.

Throughthe ESOP program, employees were offered 49,000 shares, and their interest was
even 47% higher than the offered number of shares, and more than a half of the then employeesin
Croatia, actually 242, decided to buy shares. A total of 39 qualified investors took partin the Public
Offering, and great interest was also shown by Croatian citizens who account for as much as 75%
of the new shareholders of Span.

A total of 871 small investors including 861 natural persons and ten legal entities showed
interestinas many as 229,300 shares. Each individual small investor was able to buy not more than
19,600 of the shares offered, whereas a ceiling of shares to be bought through the Public Offering
was not set for qualified investors - pension funds, insurance companies, banks and investment
funds, and they expressed interest in 508,186 shares.

The Public Offering lasted until September 10th, 2021, and we sold successfully all of the
offered 578,200 of our own treasury shares (29.5%) at the highest price of HRK 175 within the
offered range (HRK 160 -175).

Interest shown by all the investors was significantly higher than the offered number of
shares:

- at the price of HRK 160, interest was higher than the offered shares by 79%

- at the price of HRK 175, interest was higher than the offered shares by 40%

Therefore, we applied the adopted Allocation Rules?, after which the structure of the sold shares
was as follows:

Smallinvestors
35,6%

- Employees
8,5%

Qualified investors
55,9%

Our ownership structure was strengthened by more than 1,000 new shareholders, which
concurrently achieved a balanced shareholding structure where in addition to qualified investors,
smallinvestors and employees had a great part. With the shareholding structure balanced in such

9 Under the conditions referred to in point 6.3.1.4. of the Prospectus (https://www.span.eu/en/media/prospekt/)

20Under the conditions referred to in point 6.3.1.4. of the Prospectus (https://www.span.eu/en/media/prospekt/)

2Lhttps://www.span.eu/en/media/pravila-alokacije/
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away, the company has entered a new developmental phase of operation, and itintends to use the
collected funds from the Public Offering in the amount of HRK 101,185,000.00 for:
- Growth on the existing markets

- Expansion of the operation with key international clients

+ Expansion to new markets

- Development of the Span.zone digital platform.

Listing of shares
on the Official
market of the
Zagreb Stock

Exchange

On September 21st, 2021 Span d.d. and the Zagreb Stock
Exchange signed an agreement on listing the shares of Span
d.d.onthe Official market of the Zagreb Stock Exchange. The
company listed all ofits 1,960,000 ordinary shares (including

the Offered Shares), of an individual nominal value of 10.00

HRK, which are registered at the Central Depository and

Clearing Company d.d. (SKDD) in a non-material form under:

- the securities symbol SPAN-R-A and
- ISIN symbol HRSPANRAOOO7

SPAN-R-A

ZAGREB, 2021.

"l can say that we have achieved
all set goals. Demand for our
shares has significantly exceeded
the offer. With more than a
thousand new Span shareholders,
including institutional investors,
many small investors, and our
employees, we've achieved a
balanced shareholder structure
with which we enter a new
development phase. Among the
new shareholders there are more
than half of our employeesin
Croatia. It's amazing and I’'m proud
to work with people who believe
so much in what we do. | would
like to thank to all shareholders for
their trust and | am happy that we
will share all the successes of the
company in the future together,”
said the founder and President of
the Management Board, Nikola
Dujmovic.
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Award for the Goling publi;: onthe Zzgreb Stohck Exchfange isan ir:por;anr’:
- - milestone that opened a new chapter of operation, for whic
contrlbutlon tO we were bestowed the Award for Contribution to the Capital
the capital Market Market Development in December 2021. The successful
Development IPO, more than 100 million HRK of the collected capital and
the new ownership structure richer by more than 1,000 new
shareholders, including employees, are a part of the mosaic
owing to which the Award Committee of the Zagreb Stock Exchange granted the said award.
The explanation by the Award Committee states that Span, or the Company Management
Board, approached the whole IPO process proactively and their intention to include employees and
smallshareholders as much as possible had been clear since the very beginning. An exceptional effort
was exerted in the whole preparation and
promotion, and advantages of the listing
and a wish for the highest possible level of
transparency were clearly communicated.
All that resulted in a successful IPO and
showed that, when there was a well-told
investment story, interest of investors
would not stay out.

"This award, but also the

entire path thatledus toit, isa
confirmation that the direction
we have decided to take,
although demanding, is correct
and meaningful. | am proud of everything we have
achieved so far, and especially of the people who,
due to their competencies and belief ina common
visioh, have contributed to our common goal”, said
Nikola Dujmo-vi_é, President of the Management
Board of Span, Ié’mphasizing that we managed to
achieve all goals whiqh we have putin front of usin
the demanding IPO process, which makes us even
happier that the result of-this process has had a
pdsitivé effect on the capifal market in Croatia.
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Business achievements

The strategy of growth of the operation in the past year was primarily directed to expanding business
activities with high added value, i.e. IT services in the business segments: Infrastructure services,
Cloud&Cyber Security, Service Center Management and Technical Support, and Software and
Business Solution Development.

Increasing recognizability of the Span brand on the regional and international markets,
positioning the Group as a technology leader in the area of Cloud & Cyber Security, and
communicating the Group as a multinational company that builds and develops long-standing
relationships with customers and employees were key strategic benchmarks of the marketing
activities during 2021.

Infrastructure 2 focus onhthe Inflradstr:cture ser\;icdes, C|IOUd & Cybedr
- ecurity that include design an evelopment, an
serVIces, CIOUd & maintenance of information systems, with emphasis on the
cyber security Cloud & Cyber Security, resulted in the highest growth of this
business segment of as many as 32% compared to 2020.
When it comes to Cloud services, we have ensured
complete solutions to our customers, from the assessment of preparedness to preparation and
enabling the transition of a customer to the Cloud platform, to the Cloud management. We have
developed and renewed competencies related to a complete Cloud journey: from preparation of
the strategy and assessment, through the business segment to migration, innovation and support.
A significant step forward in the domain of the applicative development and adjustment of
the Cloud environment in the model Paa$S (Platform as a service), where the synergy of the Span
teams with Cloud solutions and development has resulted in new projects; from assessment to
evaluation of user applications. We helped users develop, change, and upgrade applications in a
secure and scalable Cloud environment.
Among the prominent projects in this segment in 2021, we single out:
Development of the Azure Cloud environment through which a customer (an international
corporation) has introduced and made its first franchisors operate smoothly in Latin America
A few significant Governance projects (Cloud management) - we combined the
support and governance of our Cloud infrastructures (infrastructure management,
DevOps management)
By the services in the so called Multi-Cloud environment
(use of several Cloud platforms and different suppliers in the same
environment) we ensured the optimization of costs and IT
security of the Cloud environment to the customers. One
example of a Multi-Cloud project last year was “Proof of
Concept” (POC) - Data Lake for Google Cloud Platform
(GCP) and Microsoft for One User.
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Given that the Enterprise users plan to use or have already used the Multi-Cloud
environment, last year we raised the level of our competencies with Microsoft as our strategic
supplier, and additionally enhanced our partner relationship with other two largest providers of
services of operation in Public Cloud: Amazon Web Service and Google.

Since this segment of the operation also includes care of the security of the IT systems,
we endeavour to make the operating systems of customers resilient to cyber threats or attacks,
and provide them with management of security services or incidents/
events. Our users are large- and middle-sized companies
and multinational corporations, various ministries,
government agencies, local self-government units.

In the Cyber Security segment, we single out

the projectsin the area of:
Priviledge access management which enables a
secure manner of obtaining a raised level of access for

a certain task.
- Insider risk management which implies the

analysis of conduct of the users, whereby the system
detects potential threats and escalates risk and

warning against potential security breach.
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Penetration testing by which we simulated an actual cyber attack. Thus, we also assessed the
ability of the organization to recognize a cyber attack in a timely manner. Our experts played the
role of the attackers, using their comprehensive knowledge, experience, and tools for utilizing the
identified vulnerabilities.

Incident response management where we manage a response to incidents, which includes a
jointaction of the IT department, Security experts and the business section of the organization.

Security Operating Center (SOC) where we offer our users complete protection service against
awide range of cyber threats, 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.

In2021, we implemented SOAR (Security Orchestration Automation & Response) in our
SOC by which we raised the SOC service on a higher level and are able to offer our users an even
more complete service in the area of cyber security. We also implemented this solution with one
international user.

Furthermore, Span Cyber Security & Incident response management teams have
successfully responded, limited and resolved even the most challenging cyber attacks for many
domestic and international companies.

software and In the Software and Business Solutions Development
- - business segment, which includes the development of
Busmess SOIutlons proprietary IT solutions, or software platforms, software
Development solutions, software products, and Microsoft business

solutions, we have achieved a significant breakthrough in
restructuring the portfolio and organization, refocusing from the development of small applications
to the strategic partnership with the user, where we build and support the user’s platform for a
certain part of the operation.

We continued to invest in knowledge and competencies of people in order to remain the
bestand largest Microsoft Business Applications partner in the region. Amongimportant projects,
theintroduction of CRM inaninsurance company in Croatia is worth mentioning along with a project
in a Dutch pharmaceutical company that operates on more than 40 markets (Dynamics 365 and
Power apps), and a German waste management and consulting company with global operations.
The projects and cooperation with these three users are years-long, which makes us very happy.

Among projects representative for 2021, we are highlighting the implementation of Neostar
Global Platform?2 - an online platform oriented to sales, purchase and maintenance of vehicles. A
total of 25 experts from both Span and Neostar took part in the development of the platform. The
Span team mostly consisted of experts from the Software Solutions Department, such as architects,
developers, database experts, Quality Assurance and DevOps experts.

In this segment, Workplace solutions for a large international corporation are also worth
mentioning. This solution is fully customized and integrated with the Identity system. The pilot
solution was successfully implemented in the United States and Spain and is being introduced in a
multitude of subsidiaries of the customer.

22 https://www.span.eu/en/insights/azure-cloud-solution/
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software Asset In the Software Asset Management and Licensing area
of services, which is based on a set of procedures and best

Management

practices through which we optimize costs of customers
and LicenSing and manage licenses, we successfully introduced advanced
Software Asset Management (SAM) servicesin our portfolio
and delivered a complex commercial project that includes
the implementation of a native SAM tool, delivery of licenses for it and managed services.
This success was preceded by a long-term work on the introduction of the service,
acquisition of competencies and preparation of the project in the commercial, legal and technical
aspect. In implementing the above-mentioned, Span selected Snow (the leading company in the
market) as its primary supplier for SAM, and became a partner with the Certified status, and it
delivered the project to one of its largest users.

In continuation of our strategy for expansion in the Eastern European and Central-Asian
market for which we have a Microsoft LSP status, in June we opened an office in Chisinau, Moldova,
where we started the development of the operations with diverse marketing activities, and our first
contracts in the financial sector were signed by the end of the year.

In the Ukrainian market, the year saw additional investments in technical capacities, and
we won various awards among which we single out the following: AudioCodes Partner of the Year
in Ukraine, Microsoft Best LSP Partner in Ukraine, Best Microsoft Partner in nomination “Secure
Remote Work and Compliance,” and Elcore Best Infrastructure Partner.

We recorded the second pandemic year with a strong growth in the market of Azerbaijan,
where we expanded the base of the users and strengthened the local team, and we marked the end
of the year with a user event celebrating the fifth anniversary of Spanin Azerbaijan. Our focus was
on Microsoft Cloud and infrastructure solutions, and solutions in the area of information security.
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Awards, recognitions and achievements

Microsoft Partner This year, we received Microsoft Partner of the Year for
Croatia and Microsoft Best LSP Partner for Ukraine, awards
of the Year

recognizing partners that have conceived, developed and
successfully implemented solutions based on Microsoft
technologies during previous year. The awards are bestowed in several categories, and winners
are selected among more than 4,400 nominations from more than 100 countries worldwide.
Spanwas awarded for its extremely successful
implementation of solutions and superb
quality in service delivery. This recognition is @span B Microsoft
additional confirmation of our competencies
and innovative user solutions.

Winner

Microsoft Partner
"This award is also Of the Year

the result of a strong Croatia

relationship based

on mutual trust and

cooperation of more

than 500 experts with more than 1,200 clients. That is also our
greatest strength that has developed our operation and built
the digital future of Croatia for almost thirty years,” said Nikola
Dujmovi¢, President of the Management Board of Span.

Annual global This year, we won the annual global McDonald's Technology
M D ld' Partner Award, bestowed by one of the largest global fast-

cvona S food chains within the Global Supplier Summit, for 2021.
Technology Partner The latest global award is additional confirmation of the

Award for 2021 quality of the long-term cooperation that was awarded the
European version of the award with the same name as back

as in 2014. McDonald's is our long-term partner, and all the
technology-oriented support to McDonald’s involves daily engagement of a large number of our
experts of various specialties, located in offices around the world.
McDonald's Technology Partneris awarded to partners responsible for quality functioning
of allMcDonald's business processes, and we won the title of the global Technology Partner based
on the continuous support we offer to the development of their digital operation.
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Span's experts who are dedicated daily

to creating advanced and innovative IT
solutions aimed at advancing the digital
segment of McDonald's worldwide. |
believe that our achievements so far have
built a solid foundation that will open new
opportunities for further strengthening
of our cooperation,” said Marijan Pongrac,
Member of the Management Board,

Director for Technology.

Microsoft
advanced
specializations

"We are proud that McDonald's
recognized us as a reliable partner
who, through numerous technological
solutions and continuous support,
provides stable support to the
company on a global level. This
recognitionis the result of a
successful collaboration backed

by the efforts and knowledge of

2021 was the year of specializations, and we ended it with as
many as nine Microsoft advanced specializations!
Advanced specializations are an additional
guarantee of excellence and are awarded to the most
professional Microsoft partners. They are a reflection of
continuing training and top delivered projects, and include a

certain number of certified experts, meeting the demanding criteria of performance in a specific

area, effective implementation of individual services with the user, implementation of quality

projects and clearly specified procedures and methodologies for their delivery. We are the first

and only company in Croatia with nine
such specializations, which rank us
among rare Microsoft partnersin the
world holding such a high number of
specialized competencies.

"The knowledge of our employees is the
greatest value we have. The nine Microsoft
advanced specializations are the result of
many years of investing in the expertise of our
experts and a confirmation of the clear path of
the company in the future - as one of the key
Microsoft partners at the international level we
will continue to create and implement the best
business IT solutions, both in existing and new
markets”, points out Nikola Dujmovié, President
of the Management Board.
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Financial

indicators
for 2021

Operating
revenue, EBITDA
and net profit of
Span Group

Operating
revenue, EBITDA
and net profit

of Span d.d.

HRK 767.3 mil.
OPERATING REVENUE

HRK 48.6 mil.

EBITDA

before one-off items

HRK 42.5 mil.

EBITDA

after one-off items

HRK 23.8 mil.

NET PROFIT

after one-off items

HRK 542,2 mil.
OPERATING REVENUE

HRK 41,3 mil.

EBITDA

before one-off items

HRK 35,5 mil.

EBITDA

after one-off items

HRK 19,4 mil.

NET PROFIT

after one-off items
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Key features of the period - 2021

Table 1: Profit and loss account - shortened

Span Group
In thousands of HRK 2020 2021 A%
Total revenue 613.757 774.123 26%
Operating revenue 610.022 767273 26%
Otherrevenue 3.735 6.851 83%
Total costs 582.269 731.597 26%
Costs of goods and services sold 427.591 546.418 28%
Personnel expenses 118.912 138.584 17%
Other business expenses 35.766 46.595 30%
EBITDA before one-off items 31.488 48.575 54%
One-offitems - 6.048 -
EBITDA after one-off items 31.488 42.526 35%
Depreciation 14.196 15.594 10%
EBIT 17.292 26.933 56%
Net financial result (7.118) 973 114%
Profit/loss before taxation before one-off items 10.174 33.954 234%
Profit/loss before taxation after one-off items 10.174 27.906 174%
Corporate tax 2722 4.082 50%
Profit/loss after taxation before one-off items 7.452 29.872 301%
Profit/loss after taxation after one-off items 7.452 23.824 220%

Spand.d.

In thousands of HRK 2020 2021 A%
Total revenue 415.356 544.932 31%
Operating revenue 412.611 542.238 31%
Otherrevenue 2.745 2.694 2%
Total costs 388.224 | 509.390 31%
Costs of goods and services sold 271194 362.725 34%
Personnel expenses 91.649 110.055 20%
Other business expenses 25.380 36.610 44%
EBITDA before one-off items 27.132 41.343 52%
One-offitems - 5.801 -
EBITDA after one-off items 27.132 35.542 31%
Depreciation 12.706 13.029 3%
EBIT 14.426 22,513 56%
Net financial result (6.315) (92) 99%
Profit/loss before taxation before one-off items 8.111 28.222 248%
Profit/loss before taxation after one-off items 8.111 22.421 176%
Corporate tax 1.616 3.061 89%
Profit/loss after taxation before one-off items 6.496 25.161 287%
Profit/loss after taxation after one-off items 6.496 19.359 198%
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Total revenues of Span Group increased in 2021 by HRK
160,366 thousand, or 26% compared to 2020. The revenue
increase stemmed from the increase of the operating

Revenues

revenues of Span Group in all business segments. The

Ahi_gheéfébsolute rise is recorded in revenues from Software Asset Management and Licensing.
" The period also recorded an increase of revenues in all segments of IT services with high added

value, and the highest relative growth was generated in the area of professional services related
to the infrastructure services, Cloud&Cyber Security solutions. A revenue share of Span Group in
foreign markets accounted for 74% of the overall revenues.

Span d.d. recorded a growth in revenues in 2021 by HRK 129,576 thousand compared to
the same period of the prior year, or 31%.

The expenses for goods and services sold, relate to direct

Operating
expenses

costs, and they increased compared to the same period of
the prior year due to the increase of related revenues.

Personnel expenses of the Group increased by HRK
19,672 thousand, or17% in 2021. The average number of employees in the Group in 2021 was 537
as opposed to the prior year when the average number of employees in the Group was 495.

Personnel expenses of Span d.d.inthe observed period of 2021 increased by HRK 18,406
thousand, or 20%. The average number of employees in the company in the observed period of
2021 was 436 as opposed to the prior year when the average number of employees in the company
was 395. The majority of new employees are employed in the segments with high added value, that
isin IT services in the business segments: Software Asset Management, Infrastructure Services,
Cloud & Cyber Security, Service Center Management and Technical Support, as well as Software
and Business Solutions Development.

Other operating expenses for Span Group increased by HRK 10,830 thousand, or 30%.
The increase arose from Span d.d. (HRK 11,230 thousand) and is mostly related to expenses
connected to thelisting of Span d.d. on the Zagreb Stock Exchange (this includes one-offitems and
other expenses related to the process of our listing on the stock exchange), along with expenses
influenced by the increase of the number of employees.

EBITDA of Span Group before one-off items increased by
HRK 17,086 thousand, or 54%, to HRK 48,575 thousand in
the observed period.

EBITDA

In the same observed period, Span d.d. recorded an increase of EBITDA before one-off
items in the amount of HRK 14,211 thousand, or 52%, to HRK 41,343 thousand.

One-off items include expenses incurred by Span d.d. for the listing on the Zagreb Stock
Exchange regulated market and relate to all operating costs necessary forits realisation. The one-
off items of the Group additionally include value adjustments (HRK 250 thousand) of a member
of Span Group.

EBITDA of the Group after one-off items in the observed period increased by HRK 11,038
thousand, to HRK 42,526 thousand in 2021, a growth of 35% compared to prior year.

Inthe same observed period, Span d.d.recorded anincrease of EBITDA after one-offitems
by HRK 8,410 thousand in 2020, to HRK 35,542 thousand in 2021, an increase of 31%.
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The EBITDA increase follows the increase of revenues and is generated from two sources:
(1) growth of the total revenue where majority consists of the Software Asset Management and
Licensing segment and (2) growth of the revenue from IT services with high added value, primarily
in the Infrastructure Services, Cloud & Cyber Security, and Software and Business Solution
Development.

Net profit after one-off items of Span Group increased by
HRK 16,371 thousand, or 220%, to HRK 23,824 thousand.
Span d.d. increased its profit by HRK 12,864 thousand

Profit after tax

(198%) to HRK 19,359 thousand.

Theincrease of net profitis a result of the increase of EBITDA and the better net financial
result, as a result of a lower exposure to currency risks, as well as the introduction of a financial
asset management strategy a Company implemented in 2021.

Revenues by segments

Span Group generates revenues in the following segments:

1. Software Asset Management and Licensing
2. Infrastructure Services, Cloud & Cyber Security
3. Service Center Management and Technical Support
4. Software and Business Solution Development

In all stated segments, the Group and the company recorded a growth in relation
to the observed period of the prior year.

Data onrevenues from sales by segments of the Group and Span d.d. is presented
below in parallel for 2020 and 2021.

Table 2: Revenues by segments
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Graph 1: Segment revenue contribution

Span Group 2020 Span Group 2021
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Span Group

In thousands of HRK 2020 2021 A%

Total operating revenue 610.022 767.273 26%
Software Asset Management and Licensing 426.860 544843 28%
Infrastructure Services, Cloud & Cyber Security 63.044 83.162 32%
Service Center Management and Technical support 81.751 94.699 16%
Software and Business Solution Development 38.367 44,568 16%

Spand.d.

In thousands of HRK 2020 2021 A%

Total operating revenue 412.611 542.238 31%
Software Asset Management and Licensing 261.729 353.219 35%
Infrastructure Services, Cloud & Cyber Security 50.168 65.546 31%
Service Center Management and Technical support 77927 94.185 21%
Software and Business Solution Development 22.787 29.289 29%

1. Software Asset Management and Licensing: Revenues generated in this segment é}re
still the most important part in the total operating revenues of the Group and are higher by 28%
compared to 2020. The share of revenues in the total operating revenues is 71%, which is a miIA'd'
increase compared to the prior year. .
2. Infrastructure Services, Cloud & Cyber Security recorded the highest growth in the
structure of operating revenues, that is 32% as opposed to 2020. Expansion of business activities
inthe area of Cloud and security solutions is in line with the strategy of growth of the Group, which
is contributed by an increase in the number of projects with the current and new clients. In 2021, in
addition to Span d.d., Span Ukraine, Span USA, Span Slovenia, and Span Azerbaijan contributed by
expanding the operation in those markets.

3. Service Center Management and Technical Support contributes to a continuing growth
through services of supervision and management of the IT surroundings, which amounted to 16%
in 2021. Thissegment generated HRK 94,699 thousand in 2021, and stillaccounted for the highest
share in the total revenues of the Group coming from professional IT services (43%).

4. Software and Business Solution Development recorded a16% increase in the observed
period. The growth of this segment arose primarily from the focus on the expansion of platforms for
development of our own software solutions, and on development of specific business solutions for
individual key users, such as CRM, and automation and robotization of their business processes.
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Revenues by geography

The geographic market in this context denotes the place where the goods or services were invoiced.
26% of the revenue of the Group in the observed period of 2021 related to the Croatian market,
the most significant geographic market in the monitored period. The most significant growth
of revenues of the Group was noted on the UK market, totalling HRK 58,000 thousand (118%).
Revenues on the Slovenian market grew by HRK 21,240 thousand (19%), compared to 2020, and
was followed by Ukraine with a revenue growth of HRK 19.880 thousand (14%), and Croatia with a
revenue growth of HRK 18.693 thousand (10%)

35% of revenues of Spand.d.in 2021, is related to Croatian market. The company recorded
the highest increase of revenues on the markets of the United Kingdom (HRK 58,000 thousand),
Slovenia (HRK 24,253 thousand) and Croatia (HRK 21,745 thousand).

Graph 2: Revenues by geographic markets

Span Group 2020 Span Group 2021
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Balance Sheet*:
Span Group Spand.d.

In thousands of HRK 31.12.2020 | 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 | 31.12.2021
| ASSETS 229.413 351.568 204.508 317.904

Fixed assets 74.252 87.381 88.005 99.738

Deferred tax assets 8.498 7729 7902 6.952

Current assets 98.817 87.877 78.186 60.499

Cash and cash equivalents 29.585 139.791 16.032 126.920

Prepaid expenses and

accrued income 18.262 28.789 14.383 23.795

LIABILITIES 229.413 351.568 204.508 317.904

Equity and reserves 55.524 193.743 59.993 192.917

Long-term liabilities 37531 31.430 37.531 29.149

Current liabilities 122.469 106.516 99.839 79.710

Accrued expenses and

deferred revenue 13.888 19.878 7.145 16.128

23 The 2020 financial statements can be found on the following link: https://investors.span.eu/SpanKG120182020.pdf

Assets An increase of the fixed assets mostly resulted from the
assessment by an authorized appraiser dated 31 December
2021, in which the company recognizes an increase of the value of buildings and land in the amount
of HRK 9,704 thousand.

A decrease of the current assets was a result of reduction of Receivables collection days
in 2021.

The prepaid costs of future periods and calculated revenues in the most important part
consist of the calculated revenues in accordance with IFRS 15, which are recognized based on the
level of completion of a project.

25% of the total assets of the Group are comprised of fixed assetsin 2021. Within the fixed
assets, asignificant part relates to tangible assets of the Group (HRK 58,431 thousand), comprised
of buildings (HRK 32,403 thousand), land (HRK 13,049 thousand), and other tangible assets (HRK
12,978 thousand). The remaining part of the fixed assets consists of intangible assets (expenses
for development, software and intellectual property rights, goodwill), and financial assets

Investments in assets
Span Group Spand.d.

Inthousands of HRK 31.12.2020 | 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 | 31.12.2021
Computer equipment and other equipment 2.897 3.747 2.014 2.905
Development expenses 53 322 0 0
Other intangible assets 0 0 0 0
Intangible assets in preparation 1.553 2.203 1.505 2.203
Investment in assets total 4.503 6.272 3.519 5.108
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Investments of Span Group in aééets relate to expenses for procurement and repla-
cement of worn-out computer and other eq'ui,pment required for the work of our employees.
Investing in intangibles under construction relates to internally generated intangible assets that
aroée"fro_m the continuat‘i'on“ of development of software available for further sales/use.

Deferred tax asset_s represent amounts of income tax

Deferred
ta’x assets

return which are recoverable based on future taxable profit
deductions. Deferred tax assets are recognized up to the
. . amount of taxable earmngs which are likely to be achieved.
When determrnrng future taxable profits and the amount of taxable earnings which are likely to be
aohleved inthe future the Groupjudges and creates an estlmate based ontaxable profits from the
prewous years and the expected future earnings which are conS|dered tobereasonableinexisting
cwcumstances 3 '

The Group has made an estimate of the usability of tax reliefs for the estimate of the amount
of deferred tax assets, based -onthe support gained from the Ministry of Economy, Entrepreneurship
and Crafts. The sald support enables Spand.d.to be exempt from the payment of the income tax

.,»_from 2015 to 2025, to the amount of 50% of the amount of the tax base, to the maximum limitin

the amount of the total rnvestment according to the Law on Promotion of Investment (ZOPI).
“"In December 2021 Span d.d and Bonsai d.0.0. have applied for the use of a new round

of support entitled Project of investment in res“earch and development capacity and capacity of

delivery of IT Solutions. On February 25, 2022‘,’they both received a positive decision on the basis

of which they received an additional SO%Aofthe tax rate relief.

On 31 December 2020, the share capital of Span d.d.
consisted 0f 196,000 shares with the nominal value of HRK
100 per share, and the company held 67,760 of own shares.

Capital and e

Reserves amounting to HRK 28 million were created.

On May 24th, 2021, the General Assembly of Span d.d. adopted decision on splitting the
sharesinamanner that a share with the nominal value of HRK 100 was splitinto 10 shares, each with
the nominal value of HRK 10. The aforementioned decision on splitting issuer shares was registered
in the court registry of the Commercial Courtin Zagreb on May 25th, 2021.

Inaccordance with the above, on 31 December 2021 the share capital of Span d.d. consisted
0f 1,960,000 shares with the nominal value of HRK 10, and the company held 30,900 of own shares.
Reserves amounting to HRK 615 thousand were created.

Pursuant to Article 222 a, paragraph 2 of the Trading Companies Act, the company
dissolved the reserve for its own shares sold within IPO and recovered the amount to retained profit.

The capital reserves amount to HRK 79,084 thousand and are a result of the Public Offer
of Span d.d. shares, occurring as a difference between the nominal value of a share (HRK 10) and
final price in IPO (HRK 175) reduced by the dissolved reserves for its own shares sold within IPO.
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Liabilities Reducing long-term liabilities was a result of their transfer
toshort-termsection. Reducing short-term liabilities derived
from the closure of all short-term loan frameworks that the
company used in the prior period.

Long-term liabilities of the Group on 31 December 2021 consisted of the contracted
liabilities in the amount of HRK 21,033 thousand (of which HRK 10,186 thousand related to Span
d.d.that bought 27.14% of its own share from one of the members of the company in 2019, for which
periodical payment has been agreed by the end of 2024 and assets with the right to use - related
IFRS 16 partinthe amount of HRK 10,847 thousand), liabilities towards banks HRK 6,895 thousand
and deferred tax liabilities of HRK 3,502 thousand.

On 31 December 2021, 53% of short-term liabilities relate to liabilities towards suppliers
and liabilities for advance payments (HRK 56,667 thousand). On the same day, liabilities to banks
amounted to 9% (9.082 thousand HRK), and liabilities for taxes, contributions and similar levies
amounted to 11% of the total short-term liabilities (HRK 11,596 thousand). The remainder of short-
term liabilities relates to assets with a right to use (corresponding IFRS 16 part), liabilities towards
employees, and other liabilities

Current Assets, Current Liabilities and Working Capital Span Group Spand.d.

In thousands of HRK 31.12.2020 | 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 | 31.12.2021
Current assets 146.664 256.457 108.601 211.214
Current liabilities 136.358 126.395 106.984 95.838
Working capital 10.306 130.063 1.617 115.376
Current liquidity ratio 1,08 2,03 1,02 2,20

Movement of the working capital was significantly influenced by inflow of proceeds from

the Public Offering and additionally supported with the growth of business activities and the

geographic expansion of operations. The doubled coefficient of the current liquidity points to the

ability of the Group to settle its liabilities.

Net debt Span Group Spand.d.

In thousands of HRK 31.12.2020 | 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 | 31.12.2021
Short-term and long-term bank loans 46.930 15.977 45.659 14.108
Cash and cash equivalents 29.585 139.791 16.032 126.920
Net debt 17.345 (123.814) 29.627 (112.812)
Total equity 55.524 193.743 59.993 192.917
Net debt and total equity ratio 31,2% - 49,4% -

In the observed period of 2021, the indicators of indebtedness of the Group pointed to a

significant decline of indebtedness compared to 2020.
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cash flow Share and Contribution of TOV Span in Group result
Contribution of TOV Share of TOV Spanin
Span Group .
. - . o Spanin Span Gro Span Gro
In 2021, the Group and Span d.d. achieved positive cash flows from operating activities. Net cash el £l e AL
donih , itios of the G , A during the ob 4 oeriod of 2021 In thousands of HRK 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021
made in the operating activities of the roup mcrease' uring the c.> 'serve period o 21 as' a Total revenue 613.757 | 774123 | 140.935 | 161.887 23% 21%
consequence of the growth and expansion of operations. The positive cash flow from financial Operating revenue 610022 | 767273 | 140935 161887 23% 21%
activities was based on inflow of funds from the sale of the operating share through IPO. Other revenue 3735 6.851 _ _ _ R
Total costs 582.269 | 731.597 | 143.458 165.410 25% 23%
Span Group Fremll Costs of goods and services sold 427.591 546.418 133.386 155.137 31% 28%
0, 0,
In thousands of HRK 2020 2021, 2020, 2021 Personnel expenses 118.912 138.584 7.940 7.868 7% 6%
Net cash from Other business expenses 35.766 46.595 2.133 2.405 6% 5%
operating activities 47628 55.772 47726 54.909 EBITDA before one-off items 31.488 | 48.575 | (2.523) | (3.523) 8% 7%
p g
Net CfSh Ufedt‘.” " 4,504 6.272 3,550 5.482 One-offitems - 6.048 - - - -
nvestment activities EBITDA after one-off items 31.488 | 42.526 | (2.523) | (3.523) -8% -8%
Net cashusedin [ 0 _
financial activities -29.204 60.706 -30.022 61.461 Depreciation 14.196 15.594 175 72 1%
Net increase / decrease in cash EBIT 17.292 26.933 (2.698) (3.595) -16% -13%
and cash equivalents 13.921 110.206 14.154 110.888 Net financial result (7118) 973 (334) 1334 5% 137%
Profit/loss before taxation before
one-off items 10.174 33.954 (3.032) (2.262) -30% -7%
Profit/lo_ss before taxation after 10.174 27.906 (3.032) (2.262) -30% -8%
M = Uk = one-offitems
Business overview raine Corporate tax 2722 4082 271) (213) 110% 5%
. . Profitfloss after taxation before 7452 | 29872 | (2761) | (2.048) | -37% 7%
The company TOV Span from Ukraine, 100% owned by Span d.d., is a part of the Span Group. On : -
February 24,2022, the Russian invasion on Ukraine began, o aror taxationafter 7452 | 23824 | (2761) | (2.048) | -37% | 9%
For better understanding of TOV Span operations, as well as the impact on the Span Group, we are
enclosing an individual Profit and Loss Statement of the company TOV Span for 2020 and 2021,
as well as its contribution to the consolidated result.
Span Tov - Standalone
In thousands of HRK 2020 2021 A%
Total revenue 142.079 162.416 14%
Operating revenue 142.079 162.416 14%
Other revenue - - - - £ pitii bbelign ki P
Total costs 143.548 165.436 15% L :
Costs of goods and services sold 133475 | 155162 | 16% NEQETR em e i .
Personnel expenses 7.940 7.868 -1% ' i o iz e
Other business expenses 2133 2.406 13% He bty iy ‘ ‘_i(;'_ :”; —_—— .u-.'_TA\a,k'i‘I-l‘L"
EBITDA (1.469) | (3.020) | -106% bl e g p— s
Depreciation 175 72 -59% PR _,,"T;le?ff‘
EBIT (1.643) (3.092) -88% 22 S L1 W Py
SEAN - TASTD EPARITACTS.
Net financial result (321) 1334 515% (B iaaiesLie = =+
Profit/loss before taxation (1.965) (1.758) 10% T | i JM?@ .
Corporate tax (271) (213) 21% _ - s
Profit/loss after taxation (1.694) (1.545) 9% -y
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Information for the
shareholders

Share capital On December 31st, 2020, the share capital of the Company

consisted 0f 196,000 shares with the nominal value of HRK
100 per share, and the company held 67,760 of its own treasury shares. Reserves amounting to
HRK 28 million were formed for them.

OnMay 24t 2021, the General Assembly of the Company adopted a decision on the division
of shares by the principle that one share with the nominal value of HRK 100 was divided in 10 shares,
each of the nominal value of HRK 10. The said decision on the division of shares was entered in the
Court Register of the Commercial Court in Zagreb on May 251, 2021.

According to the above-mentioned, on December 31st, 2021, the share capital of the
Company consisted of 1,960,000 shares with the nominal value of HRK 10 per share, and the
Company held 30,900 of its own treasury shares. Reserves amounting to HRK 615 thousand
were formed for them. Pursuant to Article 222 a, paragraph 2 of the Trading Companies Act, the
company dissolved the reserves for treasury shares sold within IPO, and recovered the amount of
the retained profit. The capital reserves amount to HRK 79,084 thousand and are a result of the
Public Offering of shares of the Company occurring as a difference between the nominal value of
ashare (HRK 10) and the final price in IPO (HRK 175) reduced by the dissolved reserves for its own
treasury shares sold within IPO.

Ownership On December 31st, 2021, President of the Management

Board, Nikola Dujmovi¢ holds the largest individual stake
StrUCture and of 35.87% in the ownership structure. The structure of
10 |al‘geSt the 10 largest shareholders consists mostly of financial
shareholders institutions, besides members of the Management Board

and the Supervisory Board.

Ownership structure of Span d.d. on December 31st, 2021
10 largest shareholders

\

OTP Banka d.d.
4,66%

Nikola Dujmovic
35,87%

- Marijan Pongrac -

7,68%

- Damir Bockal - Hrvatska PoStanska
7,68% Bankad.d. 2,44%

Jasmin Kotur
3,71%

Zvonimir Banek

7,53% 2,11%

Sasa Kramar
1,89%

Erste & Steiermarkische
Bank d.d. 5,23%
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The following table shows data on the number of shares held by the members of the
Management Board and the Supervisory Board. The stake of treasury shares of the Company is
1.58% on December 31st, 2021.

Management Board

Name and surname | Position Ni?abrir:f Perci/:tage
Nikola Dujmovic President of the Management Board 703,000 35.87%
Marijan Pongrac Member of the Management Board 150,600 7.68%
Damir Bockal* Member of the Management Board 150,600 7.68%
Sasa Kramar Member of the Management Board 37,080 1.89%
Dragan Markovic Member of the Management Board 30,300 1.55%
Antonija Kapovic Member of the Management Board 3,941 0.20%

Raiffeisenbank Austria d.d.

*Mr. Damir Bockal resigned from the position of the Member of the Management Board on 30 November 2021. He joined
Spanin 2002 as the Director for Technology Development, became the Member of the Management for Operationsin
2003, and has held the position of the Member of the Management for Key International Accounts since 2020.

Supervisory Board

Name and surname Position Hmities of Feroeriaze
shares %

Jasmin Kotur President of the Supervisory Board 72,800 3.71%

Zvonimir Banek Member of the Supervisory Board 147,600 7.53%

We have a robust Corporate Governance model that ensures the implementation of
accountability on every level. We operate transparently and publish all material data, like financial
data, data onthe ownership structure,and data on corporate governance duly andin a timely manner.
We operate by the principle of mutual responsibility of the Management Board and the Supervisory
Board, as well as responsibility of the Supervisory Board towards shareholders. We represent the
rights of all shareholders and treat everybody justly, and work on removing conflicts of interest by
enabling independence procedures.

We continuously work on the improvement and development of relationships with
shareholders as well as with investors and analysts as important stakeholders in the operation.
We publish all information on our website https://www.span.eu/en/investors/ in order to ensure

the maximum transparency and timeliness of information publishing.


https://www.span.eu/en/investors/
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Onthe first day of share trading on September 2319, 2021, the price of HRK 218 was reached,

which was an increase of almost 25% compared to the price of a share of HRK 175 during IPO.

In the following days of the observed period, a share was traded at a price higher than HRK 200,

_________________________________________________________ _ whereas since the start of the trading by December 31st, 2021, the turnover of a share amounted
i ~toHRK 27,744,587.00.

Share movements
and trading volume

https://www.span.éﬁ/‘en/investors/share/
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Risks?*

span Group Based on the likelihood of the occurrence and a potential
reach of the negative influence on the operation, the financial

specific risks

status and the results of the operation of the Group, the
following risks have been identified:

Span Group
specific risks

Risks related to

SEHEOEE the operation

- Foreign currency risk + Risks related to the protection of + Risk of the loss of key staff and
personal data and intellectual risk of the lack of skilled labour
property

+ Interest rate risk

+ Accounts receivable risk

+ Liquidity risk

+ Risk of over-indebtedness

+ Risk of the susceptibility of the
profitability of the Group, its
operating results and working
capital to significant
fluctuations

‘R’iﬁ'sks are distributed by categories depending on their nature and can be mutually

- Risk of the change of regulation

and regulatory risk

v_,-a'r'e currently not known or are not considered crucial.

- Risk of exposure to cyber

attacks

- Maintenance of the continuity of

operation risk

» Competition risk

- Risk related to retaining the

current, and finding new clients
and risk of concentration of key
customers

« Supplier risk

+ Risk of the business

environment and political risk

conn@c‘fed. There is a possibility for the occurrence of additional risks that could influence the
opﬁer’étions, the financial status and the results of operation of the Group if they materialize but they

24Detailed description of all risks, as well as of the assessed influences on the Group, is in the Prospectus regarding the Public
Offering and listing of shares on the regulated market at the following link: https://www.span.eu/hr/media/prospekt/, page 27
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Financial risks

Foreign Span Group operates on aninternational level and is exposed
- to the foreign currency risk that arises from changes in the
currency I"ISk exchange rate of foreign currencies. The most important is
the risk that relates to the change of the exchange rate of
EURO to US dollar, given that the Group performs a significant part of its operations with customers
and suppliers in the stated currencies. Risk is mostly present in relation to costs of conversion of
USD - HRK and Ukrainian hryvnia (UAH) - USD. Changes in the exchange rate between the above
stated currencies and their relation with HRK caninfluence the results of operation and future cash
flows of the companies in the Group.

The Croatian National Bank pursues policy of the so-called managed floating exchange
rate of HRK to EUR where the domestic currency is not tied firmly to any other foreign currency
or set of currencies, but reflects movements in the foreign currency market. Thereby, the nominal
exchange rate of HRK to EUR is stable because of occasional foreign currency interventions of
CNB. Furthermore, at the beginning of 2020, the Republic of Croatiajoined the European Exchange
Rate Mechanism (ERM I1), and HRK will participate in the ERM [l mechanismin the standard span of
fluctuation £15% around central parity that is determined on the level 1 EUR=7.53450 HRK. Changes
in the exchange rate between the above stated currencies, and their relation with HRK can have a
negative impact on the results of the operation and future cash flows of the Group.

A more detailed description can be found in the Aaudit report under Note 35. Financial instruments.

Interest rate riSk The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because the

Company and its subsidiaries are debited at fixed and
variable interest rates. The Group manages the stated risk
by maintaining an appropriate borrowing ratio with the fixed and changing interest rate.
A more detailed description can be found in the Aaudit report under Note 35. Financial instruments.

Accounts f\clcounts receivat;:efrisli ((;redri]t risk)isariskofa customerr]’s
. - ailure to pay, i.e. default by the customer concerning the
recelvable I‘ISk contracted liabilities, which impacts possible financial loss
(credit I‘iSk) of Span or the Group. To reduce the accounts receivable
risk, the Group adopted a policy of operation only with
creditworthy customers, and obtaining collaterals securing the collection. The exposure of the
Group, credit worthiness of the customers, and orderliness in meeting the contracted obligations
of customers towards the Group is continuously monitored. Share of value - adjusted receivables
in total revenues for the Group in 2021 was 0,03% (0,16% in 2020).
A more detailed description can be found in the Aaudit report under Note 35. Financial instruments.
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Liquidity I"iSk Liquidity means the maintenance of sufficient quantity of
cash and working capital and ensuring adequate financial
instrumentsin form of credit lines. The liquidity risk itself relates to a case where the Group cannot
meetits due financial liabilities on time due to the lack of its own cash, shortage of available assets
on the cash market or impossibility of crediting by financial institutions. The Management Board
has responsibility for the liquidity risk management, and it has set up an appropriate framework for
the liquidity risk management by which itis guided in the management of the short-term, medium-
term, and long-term requirements of the Group for funding and liquidity. The Group manages the
liquidity risk in a manner that it maintains adequate reserves and credit lines, constantly oversees
the projected and actual cash inflows and outflows, and adjusts maturity of the financial assets
and financial liabilities.
A more detailed description can be found in the Aaudit report under Note 35. Financial instruments.

Risk Of over- The risk of over-indebtedness is expressed in the too high
- level of debt that adversely affects the financial stability.
Indebtedness The Group monitors its status of over-indebtedness and
manages the risk of over-indebtedness through the indicators of the level of indebtedness. In the
observed period of 2021, the indicators of indebtedness of the Group pointed to a significant decline
of indebtedness compared to 2020.

A more detailed description can be found in the Aaudit report under Note 35. Financial instruments.

RiSk Of the The operating results of the Group can be influenced by

g wgm the fact that the operations on which the Group makes a
Susceptlblllty Of significant part of its revenues are not contracted for the
the profitability long term and thus there is no certainty that the Company
of the Group, its will make revenues of these jobs in the long run. Customers

operating results are not obliged by volume commitment. Revenues of the
Group based on license subscription are relatively stable

and_wo_rl_“ng Capltal in the short term (excluding the effects of potential foreign
tO S|gn|flcant currency fluctuations), butin the longrun, they canvary due
ﬂuctuations tothe pace of the IT industry and market in which the Group

operates, and low marginsin relation to license subscription
reduce the effects of the concerned revenues on the profitability of the Group. With a strong focus
on the long-term growth and investments oriented to strengthening the capacities for growth of
the Group, the Group expects the profitability and the working capital to vary on quarterly and
annual levels.
The operating results of the Group can be influenced by the fact that the operations on which
the Group makes a significant part of its revenues are not contracted for along term and thus
there is no certainty that the Group will make revenues of these jobs in the long run.
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Legalrisks

RiSkS related to Within its operation, the Group gets in contact with the
- personal data of its customers and has the role of the

the protection o
personal data processor. Competent authorities stipulate
Of Pel‘sonal data the rules by which the Group must proceed in relation to
and inte“ectual personal data (e.g. General Data Protection Regulation
property (GDPR)) and Law on Implementation of the General Data

Protection Regulation). Furthermore, use of a source code

to which Spanis not entitled, use of an open source contrary
to the restrictions set forth by customers of the Group or use of IT products contrary to the
requirements in the license are some of possible breaches of the right to intellectual ownership
specific for the operation of the Group. Potential successful cyber attacks directed to personal data
of customersare also arisk. The perception that a threat or breach of personal data have occurred,
whether the danger is actual or not, can significantly damage the business reputation and make
the future operation of the Group difficult.

Risk Of the change Given that the Group operates on the global market, it is
- susceptible to the risk of the change of tax regulation in
Of regulatlon and a manner that would adversely influence the profitability
regulatory I"iSk of operation. This risk is also reflected through possible
changes of tax rates as well as the subject of taxation. The
presence of the Group in different jurisdictions means
different global and regional, economic, political and legal, regulatory and operative
risks, andinstils additional complexity in the operation due to diversity of the applicable
rules, including regulation governing access to and use of the Internet, privacy of
dataand IT security, labour-legal and other issues in each jurisdiction where the
Group operates. There is a risk that the Group will not be able to detect and/
or prevent violation of regulations, i.e. that the standards of risk control and
management applied by the Group will not be implemented efficiently in
all its subsidiaries.
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Risks related to the operation
of the Company

RiSk Of the IOSS ]'cl'he c;peration of the GSroup Ia;gely dependson retjining the

ounding company - Span, the management and experts
Of key Staff and in the area of IT technologies, and the ability of the Group
Of the IaCk Of to continue to attract and retain new professional staff
ski“ed Iabour required for asuccessful operation. Ademand for IT experts

has increased, and the labour market features a constant

lack and increased turnover of IT experts on all levels of
expertise. Therefore, there is a risk that the Group will not be able to respond adequately to the
demanding pace of the labour market and timely engage the required additional staff or retain the
existing one. The exposure to increased costs related to attempts to respond adequately to the
needs for employment of skilled labour is an additional risk. To maintain quality of IT staff it employs,
the Group organizes trainings for advancement and obtaining professional certificates required for
the performance of specific IT services, demanded by technology partners on the one hand, and
customers on the other.

RiSk Of exposure The Group, as well as the customers of the Group, are
exposed to risks of cyber attacks and security threats.
to cyber attacks

In its operations with customers, the Group is obliged to
maintain systemic security, provide security patches and
improvements, antivirus measures of protection against a
malicious code, and ensure credibility of its own employees who cooperate with the customers of
the Group. IT security breaches can lead to setbacks in the provision of services and/or functioning
of the system controlled by the Group and to potential endangering of reliable information. It is
possible that in the future, the Group will be exposed to significantly increased costs in order to
protectitself against risks of exposure to cyber attacks and security threats. One of the key services
the Group provides toits clientsis the provision of IT solutions related to cyber attacks, which means
that the Group has the required expertise to take the required precautions.

The Group implements extensive security training measures and training of IT security
experts and at the same time continuously investing in security capacity.
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Maintenance Of The total operation of the Group depends on the possibility

- - for proper functioning of its own IT infrastructure and

the contlnulty Of ability of the Group to protect it in case of unpredictable

Operation riSk events (continuity of operation). Smooth functioning of its

own IT systems is a prerequisite for regular operation and

the foundation of trust the customers have in the Group’s

services. Although by now, the Group has not had any problems in the functioning and protection

of its own infrastructure, such a possibility cannot be ruled out in the future. Technology used by

the IT infrastructure is susceptible to difficulties in functioning caused by the human factor, delays

in the supply of electricity, systemic errors, telecommunication problems, natural disasters, and

similar events that can cause significant obstructions in regular operation of the Group and cause

violations of the assumed contractual obligations, if the Group cannot eliminate them within a
reasonable time span.

The Group uses the IT infrastructure of renowned global technological companies such
as Microsoft Corporation, Cisco Systems and others and has security copies of allimportant data,
which is not stored at one location. Furthermore, the Group also uses the IT infrastructure of third
persons that it does not control, such as services of operation in Public Cloud, i.e. the operation
of the Group is largely dependent on proper functioning of the infrastructure concerned and the
connection with customers of the Group.

Competition riSk Markets in which the Group operates are highly competitive
and are characterized by fast changes in technology and

frequentintroduction of new products and services. Future
profitability of the Group significantly depends on successful improvement of its solutions and
implementation of new services, and on efficient interoperability between an increasing number
of operative systems, applications and software solutions. There is no guarantee that the future
effort of the Group to be harmonized with the current requirements of the market will be successful.
Any belatedness in adopting new technologies, which would resultin the lack of competition, would
reflect adversely on the business results of the Group. Moreover, it is possible that competitor
companies will meet the requirements for changes in the IT technologies in the future more
efficiently, and in that way jeopardize the profitability of the operation of the Group. Even though
the Company isamong the leading companiesinitsindustry, thereis arisk that some of the current
competitors could make a high financial investment and launch an attempt to take over customers
or employees of the Group. Given the trends of consolidation in markets where the Group
competes, some of the global competitors are also likely to try to access
the market.
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RiSk related tO The operation of the Group depends onits ability to keep and
_ expand the cooperation with the current customers through

retaining the

cross-selling and up-selling, and successfully attracting

current and flndlng new customers. Growth of revenues of Span depends on
new clients and risk the growth of sales to the current customers through an

Of concentration increase of the number and types of services rendered,
which makes the retaining of the existing customer base
of key customers

especiallyimportant. A significant category of customers of
the Group, as per their share in the revenues, is made up of
customers of the Microsoft licenses that are by rule renewed annually. However, customers are not
obliged to renew their subscription after the expiry of the contracted duration of alicense, therefore
we cannot be certain that after the expiry, those same customers will renew the subscription for
a license. In addition, we are exposed to the risk of the concentration of key customers. Risk is
reflected in the concentration of revenue in relation to customers that belong to one business group
giventhat a possibility cannot be ruled out that they can cease to use the services of the Group for
any reason, or to continue to use them to a lower extent.

Supplier riSk Results of the Group largely depend on a possibility of sale of
Microsoft program licenses and use of Microsoft solutions
of operationin Cloud, which the services the Group renders

to their customers are based on to a significant extent. Therefore, global acceptance of Microsoft

programs and solutions in relation to operation in Cloud is a significant factor in the business model
of the Group. Even though Microsoft IT solutions are widely prevalent, there is no guarantee that
they will keep the current market position in the future so the risk of adjustment to fast changes
intechnology on the competitive market is applicable to Microsoftitself as well. The authorization
of the Group for sales of Microsoft products to customers and the business requirements of
the cooperation are related to the status of the provider of services of licensing that is based on

a contract that is not exclusive and should be renewed on an annual basis for each geographic

area where the Group sells Microsoft products. Successful cooperation of the Group with

Microsoft also depends on a successful adjustment to business requirements of

cooperation specified by Microsoft, which include various incentives in form of

rebates, investments, marketing assets and other payments. The incentives

Microsoft offers to its Microsoft LSP (Licensing Solution Provider) partners,

including the Group, depend on whether a partner meets certain indicators of

success such as the revenue growth in certain areas of products or services,
finding new customers, acquiring certain Microsoft competencies and
specializations, etc. Business requirements for cooperation are subject to
annual changes, so if the Group is not able to adapt to those changes
on time, this can result in a significant reduction of the received
incentives and adversely affect the profit margins of the Group.

The Group, a multiyear Microsoft partner with more than 28 years

{
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of successful cooperation, enjoys business trust, but there is no guarantee that the cooperation will
continue equally successfully in the future. Finally, concerning Microsoft as a supplier, along with
other IT companies whose products are used by the Group, one cannot rule out that the mentioned
companies will offer their products and services directly at certain markets or to certain customers.
Such a change of the business model of companies that can be considered suppliers of the Group
could adversely impact the operation of the Group

RiSk Of the The risk of the business environment is determined by
- political, economic and social conditionsinacountry. Therisk
business . . . N .
. of business environment includes political, macroeconomic
enV|r°nment and and economic risks. The political risk of a country includes
political risk all the risks related to a possibility for political instability,

and in its extreme, includes the integrity and survival of
the state. Risks of this nature are not present significantly relating the Group, however, in the
market of Ukraine, where we make 21% of the Group's total revenues, a Russian invasion began
on February 24t 2022, therefore it is not possible at this point to assess the influence it will have
on the operation of TOV Span given that the situation is changing day by day. TOV Span employs
thirty-one employees. A separate statement of comprehensive income of the subsidiary for 2021
and 2020, and its contribution to the consolidated result of the Group is included in the Note 36 of
the Auditor Report.
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Employee overview through the years
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465
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Others
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Overview of employees by bﬁsiness segments

Software Asset Management & Licensing
8%

- Infrastructure services, Cloud&Cyber Security

25%..

- Serwce Center Management and Technical Support
43%

Software and Busmess Solutlon Development
15%
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Age structure
43%

31% 20%
5%
4049 508

Gender structure?®

74% 26%

e
P - 5pan GrovP

2021

2020 The number of new employees
2019 according to gender

252020 Eurostat information show that the representation of womenin the IT industry within the EU was 18.5%. In Croatia,
itamounted to 18%.

"A-t._,t,ljue Span Group level in 2021, Span
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Structure according to the level of education and certification

d.d. hé'd"'1«85 advances. Depending on
the affinitieg"an.q skills of employees,
both vertical and hié'“ri-zgntal advances are
encouraged and nurture"d’;z__u

Career movement
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Management Management Development Solutions
Solution & Consulting
Management 1 1
Board
Software Solutions 1 1
4 Corporate 13 2 3 18
Solution & Service 1 1
Management
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Business Development
Enterprise Business
Solutions 13 2 5 1 1 21
44%
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)
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Core values of Span Group

Span is largely defined by the organization culture, so at the start of 2020, based on the existing
mission and vision, we defined new core values - Competence, Excellence, Responsibility and
Trust.

Competence Exellence Responsibility Trust

The mission, vision,and our values are also the foundation of our Code of Business Conduct,
whichis released on our website at the following link Code of Business Conduct, and inter alia serves

as reference to new employees at employment because it is a part of our identity.

The mission, visionand values are a part of Span’s brand and are a reflection of our internal
culture due to which they are related to numerous processes in the area of human resources, such
as recruiting and selection, remuneration and assessment of the work performance.

F

Py S
iR
[ |
[ |

Company mission Vision

Through our expertise and experience, we deliver Together with our customers,
|T solutions that power up your business we create digital future

Preparations for AHR Department has been active within Span for more than
further development ten years taking care of the functions and areas of action of

_ Reorganization of the human resources closely related to the business goals

and strategy of the company - from selection and hiring,
departments 8y pany g

development of employees, performance management,
remuneration and motivation to taking care of the
organizational climate and employees’ satisfaction.
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By 2021, the organization of the HR Department was based on the direct advisory and
operating support of HR experts to managers and employees in organizational units concerning
all the processes related to the human resources.

A precondition for further growth and development of the company was the specialization
of individual functions within the HR Department and separation of the team with the primary focus
on operating processes from the team that has improvement of processes and implementation
of the best HR practices as its primary focus, aimed at making more intensive contribution to
accomplishing the strategic goals of the company. A separate team has thus been created, within
which specialization of experts for individual subfunctions (recruiting and selection, training and
development, performance management and remuneration, experience of employees, digitalization
and analytics) started, with the purpose of the development of innovative projects and initiatives
directed to obtaining, motivating and retaining quality IT experts.

Team
HR operations Team
Certificate Employer So as to prepare the company for listing on the stock
Partner (CEP) exchange and get objective evaluation of the quality of

internal processes of HR management, in late 2020 we
joined a Certificate Employer Partner project.

The Certificate Employer Partner project is aimed at recognizing and promoting
organizations dedicated to quality human resource management. Winners of the Certificate are
mainly successful companies that have excellent practices of management of human resources
and meet high standards of quality. Still, it seems that raising the awareness of the importance of
consistent investment in human resources in the IT sector is just beginning, as only 11%2¢ of CEP
certified companies come from the IT industry.

The Certificate Employer Partner is received based on the scoring of quality of 45 key
processes in five main areas of human resource management. The following areas are scored within
CEP: Strategy, Recruiting and Selection, Performance Management, Training and Development,
and Relation to Employees. Each area includes several basic criteria that are scored on a scale of
zero to three.

In January 2021, we acquired out first Certificate Employer Partner earning high 88% of
total scores. The best results were accomplished in the area of HR strategy and the process of
employee recruiting and selection.

26 According to CEP data.


https://www.span.eu/en/about-us/code-of-business-conduct/
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Span results on CEP audit?’
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Strong relationship with [n a series of activities aimed at obtaining and recruiting
educational institutions beginnertechnical positions, we launched the Span Academy
and the student - asummer practice programintended for students who are
. offered employment after the successful completion of the
community

Academy.

The Span Academy is intended for students who
want to acquire knowledge on the IT infrastructure and development in a practical manner. The
Academy program has been conceived attentively so that students could get an ideal proportion
of theoretic and practical knowledge, and be guided along the way by Span’s mentors. More than
100 students applied for the Span Academy in 2021, and the best 28 were selected as trainees. Of
them, as many as 17 trainees got a job in Span, which shows the high importance of the projectin
the further growth and development of Span and its employees.

Moreover, in 2021, we took partin the Job Fair Meetup, FERSEC, and Career Speed Dating
- events through which the relationships with leading educational institutions and with potential
young employees was additionally made stronger.

TEHNICK] FAKULTET

@ foi PMF [&ALGEBRA
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y  ZAGREBU ZAGREB UNIVERSITY VELEI.IC!LISTEV VELIKA GORICA
OF APPLIED SCIENCES

VAT of WPPLIED BCMNOES YILIA GORIA -

27 https://www.poslodavacpartner.org/cep-novosti-detalj/span-nagraden-certifikatom-poslodavac-partner
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Optimization of the In the context of growing plans for employment on the one
selection process and hand, and lack of candidates on the labour market on the
introduction to iob other, we saw a need for the optimization of the selection
procedure. Our selection procedure consists of a first
interview conducted by the HR Department and the Manager
of the Department where a person is to be employed, then a psychological test, technical test as
required, and a final psychological interview.

Lowering the entry criteria, resulting in compromising the quality of candidates, was not
an option. Therefore, we conducted internal research that confirmed a set of psychological tests
anticipating the best subsequent work performance at Span. Based on the results, the time for
conducting the psychological test has been reduced by three times and completely transferred
into a digital format so as to be more practical for the candidates. The use of a multilingual online
platform for psychological testing also enabled us to unify the criteria of the selection procedure
for candidates from all countries where Span does business.

Furthermore, during 2021, we started to use surveys to systematically measure the
satisfaction of candidates with the process of selection as well as the satisfaction of new employees
with the process of introduction to job and adjustment to a new working environment. Results of
the surveys are continuously monitored and based on them, possible changes in the process of
employment and introduction to job are made as appropriate.

Thus, a new program of introduction to job enriched with educations in the areas of
communication skills and team work, along with a series of professional lectures has been organized
for employees who come to the Service Desk Department since the start of 2021. All this is aimed
to facilitate their start of work and fast integration in the culture and operation.

During 2021,135 candidates were employed on the level of the Span Group, whichis up by
11% compared to the year before. Considering the fact that during the year only 1 candidate did not
meet the criteria after the trial work period, the optimizations introduced resulted not only in the
growth of capacities for selection but in more than 99% efficiency of the very selection procedure.

The organizational The organizational climate and satisfaction of employees are
climate, satisfaction tested regularly and results are analyzed and compared with
and employee welfare previous ones, and are also compared with available data of
other IT companies in the market.

Thus, in 2021 for instance, an average growth of
satisfaction of employees of the Span Group by 2.5% was visible compared to the previous survey.
We are especially happy that our employees have recognized the effort of the Management
Board to take care of the internal organization and communicate continuously and transparently
future strategic plans of the company (7.2% growth). Besides, the satisfaction of employees has
significantly improved in the area of development of software and business solutions (growth of as
much as 20%), which has also led to reducing the employee turnover, which was below the average
of the company (13%) at the end of 2021.

During 2021, Span was enlisted among 20 best employers for software engineers based
onindependent research of Netokracija and Hacking HR (a community that gathers HR experts).?®

28 Netokracija, https://www.netokracija.com/employer-branding-istrazivanje-hacking-hr-176997



https://www.poslodavacpartner.org/cep-novosti-detalj/span-nagraden-certifikatom-poslodavac-partner
https://www.netokracija.com/employer-branding-istrazivanje-hacking-hr-176997
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Awards for good As a response to the results of climate examination, we
HR practices and launched the Fit Happens Challenge in the Employee Health
experience of employees and Work-Life Balance Segment. The goal of the project
was to point out the importance of walking and reduce the
adverse impacts of COVID (like reduced movement and
high amount of time spent indoors), and by summing the steps indirectly influence their work
performance and the level of morale at work. Within one month, 130 employees of the Span Group
joined this program and ‘summed their steps’. This project was declared one of three best practices
in the area of human resources in Croatia in 2021.

As the confirmation of the success in the area of the improvement of employee welfare, it
isworth singling out the excellence award, Excellence in Employee Experience awarded to us by HR
Cloud, a US software company for development of tools in the area of human resources. Although
we got this award in late 2021, it actually awards our consistent care of our employees that has
additionally intensified at the start of the COVID pandemic. Results of internal surveys showed that
in all segments of response of human resources and managers to the COVID crisis, the employee

satisfaction was high (above 90 percent).
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Span TV & Spanoptic One of the first initiatives that emerged as response to
results of the organizational climate and needs of the

employees for more intensive and modern internal communication is the internal video channel
of Span - Span TV. Thus, employee can be informed on the latest happenings through Span TV,
through interviews with members of the Management Board, and learn what other departments and
colleagues do through video stories. The channel reports regularly
on novelties in the way of operation,important procedures and new

amenities within Span. ° spa n .tv

To additionally promote what we do and present the
employees to the public as top-level experts in their job, in March 2021 we launched a podcast
Spanoptic that deals with IT topics and is intended for the IT community. As of December 2021,

eight episodes of Spanoptic were released, with averagely 100 views per episode, which speaks
of the interest in this type of content.

Span Management We are aware that we work in the technology industry and

Academy that the technological knowledge isimportant, but along with
it, if we are supposed to grow and develop as a company, it

is important to us that our employees develop some other skills, which have

directinfluence, equally as the previous ones, on their professional and personal ° ) °

success and thus on the success of the whole company. Therefore, with

continuing investmentin the development of technical skills of the employees, ® . ®

in 2021, we launched an internal program for development of manager skills - ® [ ] ®

Span Management Academy. The program includes 28 employees in whom spa n

we have recognized the potential to take a higher level of responsibility, which
management

includes managing projects, processes, people and users.
ging proj P peop academy
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The internal program of the management academy lasts for nine months, from October
2021 to June 2022, in which trainees acquire knowledge and business and people skills through
lectures and workshops. Each trainee has their own mentor, an experienced member of the Span
Management, who uses their own experience, counselling and support to help a trainee apply the
acquired knowledge.

As many as 75% of Span’s high managers have been promoted internally, and only one
fourth have been employed externally. With the Management Academy, we want to give our
employees tools and an opportunity for development towards higher managerial positions. After
the completion of this program, the trainees will know how to adequately support the operation of
Span, how to develop themselves and others and how to promote the core organizational values.
Based on this, the Span capacities for the delivery of quality services will also grow, by which our
users as well as the market, crying out for quality digital services and solutions, will prosper.

Span Heroes Inseeking the ways to recognize and reward those employees
who really live through our values and organizational culture,
so called Span Heroes award is bestowed at the end of the

year. Allemployees take partin the nominations for Span

Heroes, and they are nominated by their directorsin four

categories of Span values - knowledge, excellence,

responsibility, and trust.

An additional category, Employees Hero,
sums the votes of employees who are also able to vote
anonymously for colleagues who they think have moved
a step further. The Span Heroes award encompasses
all our offices, and the announcement of the winner is
broadcast live for the whole Span Group.

ESOP One of the key initiatives and programs in Spanin 2021 was

certainly ESOP (Employee Stock Ownership Plan). The

— three-year ESOP program additionally encouraged

= l\/\ employees to remain in Span because with each

package of shares they retain for three years, provided

they remain at work in Span, they achieve additional
25% shares.

In addition to the expected contribution to

retaining employees as the strategic goal in the area

of human resources,animportant contribution of the

ESOP programis also reflected in strengthening the
feeling of belonging and motivation of employees for

SPAN-R-A

— furtherlearning and development of competencies,
ncrea, 202! A with the belief that Span’s growth of operation will
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mean new opportunities for vertical and horizontal development. By encouraging employees as
co-owners to contribute to creating additional values on a personal and corporate level, we have
contributed to additional strengthening of Span through growth of competencies and new expert
knowledge.

Equal opportunities of We pay special attention to diversity, and when it comes to
employees gender, an increase by 6% in women’s representation was
recorded in 2021 in comparison with 20% of women at the
start of gender diversity
monitoring in 2015. During 2021, women accounted for 34%
among newly recruited, a significant increase compared to 22%
in the previous year.

Concerning this issue, we have initiated a cooperation
with the Algebra University College through participation in the
Work in Tech project, aimed at increasing the involvement of
women inthe IT industry by offering professional training for the
IT Support Specialist position. Our involvement in this initiative
is also visible through possibilities of doing professional practice
and being mentored for a certain number of female trainees

in the program, and potentially for their employment after the
completion of the practice.

A trend of good practice when it comes to preventing discriminatory conduct and inciting
the respect of diversity is contained in Span’s internal documents, procedures and educations
(Code of Business Conduct, Rules of Procedure, Compliance Educations).

ISO certification Crucial HR processes in the domain of the human resources
are also officially defined within our quality management,
security, and IT service management systems (ISO 9001,
ISO 27001and ISO 20000, ISO 14001 and ISO 50001).

An audit is conducted at Span every year, and recertification of business processes by
accredited companies takes place every three years. The HR team s actively involved in that process
within which they assess compliance with the capacity planning procedures, resource obtaining,
employment and education of employees as well as the information security management during
employment, change of jobs, and leaving the organization.

Together with the current certificates, the acquisition of ISO 14001 and ISO 50001in 2021
formalized our long-term endeavours in monitoring and managing the influences of our products,
services and effects on the environment, and an energy management system was established.
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2005 2010 2015 2020 2022

m 1S0 9001 1S0 9001 1S0 9001 1S0 9001 1S0 9001

Information security 1SO 27001 1SO 27001 1S0 27001 IS0 27001

ervices management 1S0 20000 1S0 20000 1S0 20000 1S0 20000

m 1S0 14001
m 1SO0 50001
m 1SO 31000

1SO 37001

SOCiaI Abetter life for everybody, encouragement to those without
- .I.t perspective and help to the most vulnerable! That drives
responSIbl ! y us and it is what we strive for. We help wherever we can,
but above all, to those with the worst initial position who do
not have the required support and are often at the margins of the society. In 2021, we defined the
focuses of action so our list of priorities for our support for the community includes children, STEM

initiatives and sports.

FOCUS |o @%
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Why have we opted for them?

We believe itisimportant to support children because in that way we lay foundations fora
more progressive, smarter, more equal and responsible future. STEM is an area Span also belongs
to, and itis full of excellent initiatives that often need financial support and seek their place in the
sun. When sports are involved, we have always helped and help unselfishly those who are not under
the spotlight, who are not in trend, and thus are not so interesting to sponsors. In that regard, we
support sports that have modest or do not have any institutional funding, but on the other hand, have
a great influence on the growth and development of the youth and on amateur sports in general.
We supported a total of 30 donations and 14 sponsorships during 2021. Given the areas we focus
on, we distinguish three projects:

Krapina
One of the projects that perfectly illustrate the main courses of our socially responsible endeavours
is cooperation with RTL Helps Children, an association that was focused on the Special Hospital
for Medical Rehabilitation Krapinske Toplice in 2021. We furnished the hospital with state-of-
the-art devices for robotic neurorehabilitation of children
with traumatic brain injury, cerebral paralysis, and other
neurological disorders, which have improved the quality of
the provision of therapeutic services. Hundreds of kids from
all over Croatia come to Krapinske Toplice for treatment
and rehabilitation, and the new robotic devices significantly
improve their chances for successful recovery. Before the
office was equipped, such rehabilitation was only possible in
private-owned polyclinics, and owing to this action it is now

available through the mandatory health insurance.
LosSinj

Ofallcentresin Croatia carrying out treatment of resocialisation as well as socialisation of the youth
with behavioural disorders, the Losinj Centre is unique in the way that educational groups are divided
in small units within the town itself. Just like Span, this amiable and enthusiastic organization wishes to
encourage changesin the society so we wholeheartedly accepted the opportunity to establish long-
term cooperation with them, from education
of proteges to corporate volunteering. The
start of our partner relationship was marked
by a donation that would equip five houses
on LosSinj where proteges of the centre lived
in poor conditions, and their subsidiary on
Cres. We provided a more comfortable area
for socializing, bicycles for easier movement
on the islands, sports equipment, exercise
equipment and other contents that will make
their stay, studying and progressing in the
centre easier.
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Softball Span has had its softball club since 2015. This version of
baseballis played on a smaller diamond and with somewhat
bigger balls, it is faster, more dynamic and features more

pitches in the field. The Span Club has achieved good results since it was established, it is an

active member of the Zagreb and Croatian softball association and has been consistently at the
top of the domestic and European softball arena, which is best illustrated by the fact that they

were the winners of the Coup of Croatia in 2018, 2019,

and 2020. Last year, they won the second place, focused

on their participation in the Croatian national league at
the European Championship where they won the bronze.

They are getting ready to repeat these superb results in

2022, and train actively for the EU Championship, which

takes place biannually, within which they are travelling to

Denmarkin2023.

Processes and technology

I1SO environmental and energy certificates

1ISO 14001 By implementing the environmental management systemin
line with1SO 14001, we have demonstrated our commitment
to management and constant improvement of the way
we treat the environment. By acquiring ISO 14001 in May 2021 we formalized our long-term
endeavours in monitoring and managing the influences of our products, services and activities on
the environment. In this way, we promote a positive image of Span among our users and employees,
and we adjust ourselves to the legal requirements and commit to socially responsible operation.

ISO 50001 By the adoption of ISO 50001 in May 2021 we established
an energy management system as the best practice in
monitoring the consumption of energy and the awareness of

itsimportanceinterms of savings and influences on the environment. By doing this, we additionally
adjust ourselves to the basic postulates of socially responsible operation. By adopting the standard,
we do not only achieve significant energy savings (and its cost), but we accomplish a series of other
benefits:

We manage energy-related risks better

Increase the productivity and achieve lower maintenance costs

Demonstrate credibility, structure and awareness of sustainability to

users, suppliers, investors, and the legislator
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Anti-corruption policy

Since 2018, in cooperation with partners and customers, we have developed our own anti-corruption
management system, starting from the framework policy and the Code of Business Conduct to the
procedures of reporting irregularities, the protection of whistleblowers and receiving/giving gifts
and hospitality. These documents live through the system and we regularly adapt them to new best
practices, standards and legal requirements.

During 2021, we launched aninitiative for the preparation of certification for ISO 37001, the
international Anti-Bribery standard. Our compliance team processed the remaining requirements of
the standard and in cooperation with the management and representatives of risky working areas
created policies and procedures required to meet all the points of this complex standard. Education
of employees, creating policies, procedures, codes and a set of rules that must be complied with
by everybody, and assessment of risky jobs, users, suppliers and employees, are only some of the
ways by which Span ensures the compliance with the principles of bribery prevention.

The preparation of the system was carried out successfully by December 2021. Certification
audit for ISO 37001 was successfully conducted in January 2022.

Competencies

In 2021 we continued to undergo assessment MicrOSOﬁ Gold Cloud Productivity
and renew certificates related to technological Gold Cloud Platiorm
competencies, primarily related to strategic focuses:

Gold Security

Infrastructure services: Cloud & Cyber Security, 2% Microsoft |~ Messaging
Software Asset Management, and Development of Gold Application Integration
. . Gold DevOps
Business Solutions. Gold Data Analytics
We are proud of 18 Microsoft competencies Gold Data Platform
€ Project and Port falio Management
(16 Gold and 2 Silver ones). Whereas Microsoft Gold Communications
i . Gold Application Development
competencies acknowledge knowledge of a Microsoft Gold Collaboration and Content
partner in the application of a certain technology or Gold Datacenter
Gold Windows and Devices
product, advanced specializations focus on a specific Silver Enterprise Resource Planning
Silver Cloud Business Applications

niche within a competency and possessing in-depth,
detailed skills and knowledge in the area of certain
solutions.

Along with the achieved certificates that testify to our excellence (341 certified Span
employees hold an MCS certificate), the quality of our work, high levels of trust and strong
relationships with our customers are mostly credited to our Span employees who averagely spend
more than 100 hours a year in trainings and improvement and hold on average more than four
certificates each (by December 2021, a total of 2349 certificates were obtained).

Pa rtner Gold Enterprise Mobility Management

all and Midmarket Cloud Solutions
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Partnerships

Microsoft, Hewlett Packard Enterprise (HEP) and
Dynatrace lead a wide range of our technological
partnerships.

We are a Microsoft Gold Partner and
Licensing Solution Provider with 16 Gold and two
Silver competencies. We have worked on planning,
implementation and provision of support for Microsoft
solutions for cooperation and communication, security,
Azure platform, as well as intelligent business applications
for more than 1,200 clients worldwide.

We are proud of the renewed status of HPE
Certified Gold Hybrid IT, Certified Gold Aruba and
Certified Gold Partner, which guarantees the best level
of quality in most demanding implementations of the HPE
server and storage infrastructure and the Aruba network
infrastructure and services to our users.

The world’s leading solution for the supervision
and management of change of applications, Dynatrace -
is a supplier with which we also develop our competencies.

Public cloud Security
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code Of Business The Cche odeus:ness Eonlduzt sustains our vaIt:jes a:d
principles and politics that lead our operation, and at the
Conduct

same time gives specific guidance for action of employees

and partners. The code provides a summary of guidance,
rules, procedures and politics that relate to us and the job we do, defines principles and rules of
ethical conduct and good business practices. The code also specifies persons that might respond
to questions related to lawfulness and compliance, if they are not covered by guidelines which the
code refers to. Although the code offers guidelines for numerous issues related to acceptable
standards of integrity and appropriate business conduct, it is impossible to anticipate each situation
that can occur in daily operations due to which, when it comes to complying with the rules of the
code as well as its contents, we emphasise the importance of a common-sense approach of our
employees and our partners.

Our code applies to all companies within the Span Group and to all our employees and
business partners, which includes users, suppliers, consultants, external associates, shareholders
and other business partners related to the Span Group, in line with the local legal requirements and
rules. All our related companies and employees must comply with the relevant laws, regulations and
standards in all the countries where we do business, and must actin line with the Code of Business
Conduct, even if it provides for higher standards than those stipulated by laws or regulations of a
country.

We believe that strong management of the company requires transparency and trust of
all involved parties so our principles of management, except for compliance with the rules and
regulations, emphasise a need for socially responsible business conduct and application of our
core values in relations with partners, employees and customers.

We have built our market position on strong professional and ethical foundations, therefore
we plan to adopt all our future business decisions in line with legal requirements and moral values.
We expect from our employees and partners to display commitment to decent business practices
and conduct in line with our core values.


https://www.span.eu/en/about-us/code-of-business-conduct/
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Statement on responsibility for compilation
of reports in the observed period

Statement

The financial statements of Span d.d. and the Span Group compiled for the year that ended
December 31st, 2021, are shown in a fair and true manner in line with the International Financial
Reporting Standards that are consistently applied in relation to previous years.

Any materially significant transactions are recorded adequately in the accounting records
which the financial statements are based on. They provide a true and complete overview of assets
and liabilities, the financial position and operation of the Span d.d. and the Span Group.
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President of the Management Board, Span d.d.

Audited
results of
operation

of the Span
Group and
Span d.d.

2021
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This version of annual report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in the Croatian language. All possible care
has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of

interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of the annual report takes precedence over this
translation.
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Annual Management Report

Annual Management Report

The Management Board of Span d.d. Zagreb (“Company” or “parent company”) presents separate and
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021. Consolidated financial
statements include financial data of the Company and its subsidiaries that make up the Span Group (“Group”).

The Management Board of the Company believes that the consolidated financial statements for the period from 1
January to 31 December 2021 have been prepared based on applicable standards and thus provide a
comprehensive and truthful overview of assets and liabilities and the financial position and business operations of
the Group and Company. The Annual Management Report contains a truthful overview of the development,
business results, and financial position of the Group and Company, with a description of the most significant risks
to which the Group and Company are exposed.

Principal activity

The principal activity of the Group and Company is to provide professional services of design, construction, and
maintenance of information systems to medium and large users. In its 29 years of operation, the Company
developed from a Croatian IT system integrator into a Group that today, together with its 40 international partners,
operates with more than 1200 clients on 100 markets on six continents.

In 1996 the Company became the first Croatian certified Microsoft solutions provider and in 2001 the Group and
Company became a Microsoft Gold Certified Partner and the leading Microsoft partner on the Croatian market. In
addition to Microsoft's technology, the Group and Company base their solutions on technologies of other first-class
producers, and own the following accreditations and certificates:

HPE Certified Gold Partner
HPE Aruba Gold partner

Cisco Premier Integrator
Dynatrace Master Partner
Symantec Silver Partner
Veeam Silver Pro Partner

Palo Alto Partner

Fortinet Select Partner

IBM Registered Business Partner
HP Gold Partner

Sophos Gold Partner

Kemp Authorized Partner

Poly Partner

AWS Select Consulting Partner
Google Cloud Partner

Key events in 2021

In 2021 the Company started actively preparing for its stock market launch and listing Company shares on the
official market of the Zagreb Stock Exchange. On 24 May 2021, the Company’s General Assembly adopted the
Decision on listing all of its 1,960,000 shares on the regulated market of Zagrebacka burza d.d., and the
Management Board of the Company adopted the Decision on the sale of 578,200 own shares in a public offering.
The Public Offering took place from 6 to 10 September 2021 and all of the 578,200 own shares offered were sold
(29.5%) at the maximum price of HRK 175 of the range offered (HRK 160 — HRK 175).

On 21 September 2021, Zagrebacka burza d.d. and the Company signed a contract on listing Company shares on
the Official market of Zagrebacka burza d.d. All of the 1,960,000 regular shares were listed, with individual nominal
value of HRK 10.00, registered with CDCC in book-entry form under:

» security identifier code SPAN-R-A; and
« ISIN code HRSPANRAOQQOQ7.
The first day of trading SPAN shares was 23 September 2021.

SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries 1



Annual Management Report (continued)

Key events in 2021 (continued)

After a successful Public Offering and the beginning of trading on the Zagreb Stock Exchange, in line with the
expansion strategy for Eastern European and Central Asian markets, another group member — Span-IT s.r.l.,
registered office in Chisindu, Moldova — was established in June, and officially registered in July 2021.

Span LLC Ukraine received the “Microsoft Best LSP partner for Ukraine” award, for partners delivering state-of-
the-art solutions using Microsoft technologies, which reconfirmed the Group's competences -and innovative user
solutions.

Proof of excellence of both the Group and Company is another (ninth) Microsoft advanced specialisation — SAP on
the Microsoft Azure platform, achieved by the Group and Company based on their advanced knowledge,
comprehensive experience and proved success in implementing SAP solutions in the Azure Cloud environment.

2021 strategy

The business growth strategy of the entire Group and Company is primarily focused on expanding business
activities with high added value, including IT services from the following business segments:

e Infrastructure services — Cloud & Cyber Security
e Services management and customer support; and
e Software and business solutions development.

The expected growth is based on the geographic expansion to new foreign markets of Eastern Europe and Central
Asia for which the Group has a Microsoft LSP partner status, but also on further organic growth in existing markets
in all business segments.

2022 strategy

In line with the strategy detailed above, in 2022 the Group and Company also expect to further increase their
revenue by introducing new products and services to the domestic market, increase their export of services to the
global market, and increase their revenue by expanding to markets in which they operate. The strategic framework
also entails a closer cooperation with existing key international clients (increasing the number and types of
services), as well as developing a Span.zone digital platform enabling a completely autonomous purchase,
activation, management, and maintenance of Cloud licences and services.

Research and development activities

Development expenditure generally refers to own developed intangible assets with the cooperation of several
members of the Group. The total worth of intangible assets of the Group referring to development expenditure
amounts to HRK 7,543 thousand (HRK 6,908 thousand for the Company). In 2021, on the level of the Group, a
total of HRK 43 thousand was activated in the ‘Software development’ item (Company: -) (note 18).

Financial instruments

The Group and Company do not use financial instruments that affect the assessment of financial position and
performance. The Company and Group are primarily exposed to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates, as further described in the note Financial instruments (note 35).

The Company and Group'’s Corporate Treasury function supports operations, co-ordinates access to domestic and
international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Company
and Group.

Financial assets of the Group and Company mainly consist of receivables and cash assets in accounts, while
financial liabilities predominantly refer to short-term and long-term borrowings from banks, short-term and long-
term lease liabilities, and trade payables.

SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries 2



Annual Management Report (continued)

Purchases of own shares

In 2019, the Company purchased 27.14% of own shares from a single owner and provisions of HRK 25,000 were
made. As at 31 December 2020, the Company owned a total of 34.57% of own shares.

In April 2021, the Company allocated 6,850 of own shares to employees.

The Company sold all of the 578,200 offered own shares (29.5%) at the price of HRK 175 in the Public Offering in
September 2021. In line with Article 222.a (2) of the Companies Act, the Company cancelled the reserves for own
shares sold in the IPO and recorded the amount in retained earnings.

Company and Group branches

The Company and Group have no branches.

Group companies

SPAN d.o.o. Ljubljana began operations in 2014, offering a wide range of products, services, and solutions on the
Slovene market. The company SPAN d.o.0. Ljubljana expanded to providing services in the IT solution segment,
having formed a specialised team dedicated precisely to that area. This company is expected to further grow in the
following period and enjoys strong support and know-how of the parent company.

Span IT Ltd. London began operations in 2010 as a sales representative of the Company and significantly
contributed to the growth in export of services and solutions to the market in Great Britain. In 2022, the export of
professional services to the market in Great Britain is expected to further increase.

SPAN USA, Inc., began operations in 2014 as a sales representative and local technical support centre for USA
customers. Further increase in revenue in the USA is expected in 2022 as a direct result of the operations of this
office.

Digitalni ured d.0.0. began operations in 2011 and was merged with the Company Span on 30/12/2020.

Trilix d.o.0. maintained its position of electronic goods processor. The consulting department provides advisory
services in managing the organisation and risks, and reconciling business processes with rules and regulations in
the IT area.

InfoCumulus d.o.0. is wholly owned by the Company since 2017, it achieved positive business results in 2021, and
was merged with the Company on 17 February 2022 (note 36).

BonsAl d.o.o., a company specialised in developing Al software solutions, began operations in 2017, achieved
positive results in 2021, and is 70%-owned by the Company. Further expansion of operations, combined with an
increase in income and profitability, is expected in 2022.

Furthermore, in 2016, the Company established the subsidiary Span Azerbaijan LLC in Azerbaijan, through which
it plans to expand its offer of services and know-how to that market as well.

In 2018 the company MMC d.o.o. was recapitalised and the Company acquired 40% business shares, while the
2020 recapitalisation resulted in the Company acquiring 70% business shares. On 30 April 2021, the Company
sold its business shares to a third party, thus making MMC d.o.0. no longer a member of the Group.

In 2018 the Company established two subsidiaries that it wholly owns: LLC Span, Kiev, Ukraine and Span GmbH,
Munich, Germany, in order to expand the markets in which it plans to offer its services and know-how.

In 2019 the Company established the subsidiary SPAN SWISS AG, Switzerland, through which it plans to expand
its offer of services and know-how to that market as well.

in July 2021, the Company officially established another Group member — Span-IT s.r.l., with its registered office
in Chisindu, the capital of Moldova. Moldova has a slightly smaller market than Croatia, but with a strategy for
stronger inclusion in Western and European integration processes and an advanced digitalisation level.

SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries 3



Responsibility for the Annual Report

Supervisory Board

1. Jasmin Kotur, Chairmman of the Supervisory Board since 16 December 2019
2 Aron Pauli¢, Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 5 November 2021
3. Ante Mandi¢, member of the Supervisory Board since 30 September 2020

4 Zvonimir Banek, member of the Supervisory Board sinoeA 13 December 2019

Management Board:

Members of the Management Board since 1 January 2021 until the date of signature of these financial
statements were:

Nikola Dujmovi¢, President of the Management Board

Marijan Pongrac, member of the Management Board

Dragan Markovi¢, member of the Management Board

Antonija Kapovi¢, member of the Management Board

o s~ 0N =

Sa$a Kramar, member of the Management Board

Damir Bo&kal ceased to be a member of the Management Board on 23 December 2021.

In Zagreb, 29 April 2022, signed by the Management Board:

Nikola Dujmovic Marijan Pongrac Dragan Markovié
President of the Member of the Management Member of the Management
Management \Board Board Board

Lopms

Antonija Kapovié Sasa Krt:?
Member of the Management Member of the Management
Board Board

SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries 4



Responsibility for the Annual Report

The Management Board is responsible for ensuring that financial statements are prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS") to give a truthful and
objective review of the financial position and the results of the business operations of SPAN d.d. (‘the Company”)
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for that period.

After making enquiries, the Management Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the
Management Board continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the Group
and Company.

When preparing the financial statements, the Management Board is responsible for:

= selecting and then consistently applying suitable accounting policies;
= making reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates;

= following applicable accounting standards, disclose and explain any material departures in the financial
statements; and

= preparing the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Group and Company will continue in business.

The Management Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which shall at any time reflect with
reasonable accuracy the financial position and the results of operations of the Group and Company and their
compliance with the Accounting Act. The Management Board is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities. In line with Article 21 and 24 of the Accounting Act, the preparation of the Management Report is the
responsibility of the Management Board.

Signed by the members of the Management Board:

For SPAN d.d.:
President of the Member of the Member of the
Management Board Management Board Management Board
Niko, Dujmovi{ Mari}'T Ponga Dragan Markoyi¢
e R

Member af the Member of the
Management Board Management Board
Antonjja Kapovi¢ Sasa Kramar

7%"!
SPAN d 4. '

Koturaska cesta 47
Zagreb

Republic of Croatia

29 April 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the shareholders of SPAN d.d., Zagreb
Statement of Audit of the Financial Statements
Qualified Opinion

We have audited the separate and consolidated financial statements of the company SPAN d.d., Zagreb (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the separate and consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, separate and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, separate and
consolidated statement of changes in equity and separate and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies (“financial statements”).

In our opinion, other than in case of matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, the accompanying
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the separate and consolidated financial position of the
Group and Company as at 31 December 2021, their separate and consolidated financial performance, and their
separate and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRSs”).

Basis for Qualified Opinion
Group
Investment in net assets of the subsidiary SPAN LLC, Kiev, Ukraine

We draw attention to note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group consolidates net assets of the
subsidiary SPAN LLC, Kiev, Ukraine (“SPAN Ukraine”). On account of ongoing military operations in Ukraine, we
were not able to conduct audit procedures in compliance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), in
particular ISA 600: Special Considerations — Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of
Component Auditors) for the financial information of SPAN Ukraine for the year ended 31 December 2021. With
reference to this matter, we were not able to determine the existence of necessary adjustments to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group that refer to SPAN Ukraine and their impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Emphasis of Matter
Group and Company
Military operations in Ukraine

We draw attention to note 36 to the financial statements detailing the assessment of the Management Board of
the real or potential impacts of the military confrontation between Ukraine and Russia on the Group and Company.
Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Audit Act and International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and Company in accordance with
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) and have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

The Company is registered at the Commercial Court in Zagreb under the registration number (MBS): 030022053; paid-in share capital: HRK 44,900.00 kuna; Company
directors: Marina TonZeti¢, Draien Nim&evi¢, Katarina Kadunc, bank: Privredna banka Zagreb d.d., Radnicka cesta 50, 10 000 Zagreb, bank account no. 2340009—
1110098294; SWIFT Code: PBZGHR2X IBAN: HR3823400091110098294.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited ("DTTL"), its global network of member firms, and their related entities (collectively, the “Deloitte
organization”). DTTL (also referred to as “Deloitte Global”) and each of its member firms and related entities are legally separate and independent entities, which cannot
obligate or bind each other in respect of third parties. DTTL and each DTTL member firm and related entity is liable only for its own acts and omissions, and not those of
each other. DTTL does not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/about for a detailed description of DTTL and its member firms.

© 2022 For more information, please contact Deloitte Croatia.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)
Statement of Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
Other Matters

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 were audited by another
auditor, who gave an unmodified opinion on 31 March 2021.

Key Audit Matters

Other than matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we determined that there were no other
key audit matters to be disclosed in our report.

Other Information

The Management Board is responsible for other information. Other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report but does not include the financial statements and our Independent Auditor's
Report.

Our opinion on the annual financial statements does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. With respect to the
Management Report and the Corporate Governance Statement, which are included in the Annual Report, we
have also performed the procedures prescribed by the Accounting Act. These procedures include the
examination of whether the Management Report and Corporate Governance Statement include required
disclosures as set out in the Articles 21 and 22 and 24 of the Accounting Act and whether the Corporate
Governance Statement includes the information specified in the Articles 22 and 24 of the Accounting Act.

Based on the procedures performed during our audit, to the extent we are able to assess it, we report that:

1. Information included in the other information is, in all material respects, consistent with the
accompanying financial statements;

2. Management Report has been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with Article 21 and 24
of the Accounting Act;

3. Corporate Governance Statement has been prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance with
Article 22, paragraph 1, points 3 and 4 of the Accounting Act, and also includes the information from
Article 22, paragraph 1, points 2, 5, 6 and 7 and Article 24, paragraph 2 of the same Act.

If we, based on our work done on the other information, conclude that there were material misstatements in
the other information, we are required to report this fact. In line with the impacts detailed in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion section, we were not able to conclude whether the other information was materially misstated
or not with regard to these matters.

Except for the effects and potential effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of
our report and based on the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment,
which we gained during our audit of the financial statements, we have not identified material misstatements in
the other information.

Responsibilities of the Management Board and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

The Management Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS and for such internal controls as the Management Board determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management Board is responsible for assessing the Group and
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Management Board either intends to liquidate the Group
and Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

This version of our audit report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in the Croatian language. All possible care has been taken to ensure
that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original
language version of the report takes precedence over this translation
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of an audit
in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group and the Company's internal control;

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by Management;

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management Board's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group and Company's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
the auditor’s report to the disclosures in the financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the financial statements. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group and the Company to cease to continue as a going concern;

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation;

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the Group audit. We are solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we are required to determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless a law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

This version of our audit report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in the Croatian language. All possible care has been taken to ensure
that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original
language version of the report takes precedence over this translation 5
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)

Reporting in line with Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Reporting based on the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2018/815 supplementing Directive
2004/109/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to regulatory technical standards on
the specification of a single electronic reporting format (“ESEF”)

Auditor’s reasonable assurance report on the compliance of financial statements, prepared in line with the
provision of Article 462 (5) of the Capital Market Act by applying the requirements of the Delegated regulation
(EU) 2018/815 prescribing the single electronic reporting format for issuers (“ESEF Regulation”) We undertook
a reasonable assurance engagement on whether the financial statements of SPAN d.d. for the financial year
ended 31 December 2021, prepared for publication in line with Article 462 (5) of the Capital Market Act, in the
electronic file 747800LOD5F39CX8NA43-2021-12-31-en, have been prepared in all material aspects in
compliance with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation.

Responsibilities of the Management Board and Those Charged with Governance

The Management Board is responsible for the preparation and content of financial statements prepared in line
with the ESEF Regulation.

In addition, the Management Board is responsible for maintaining an internal control system enabling the
preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Management Board of the Company are also responsible for:

e preparing financial statements contained in the annual report in a valid XHTML format
e selecting and using XBRL markups in line with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements in ESEF
format as part of the financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to carry out a reasonable assurance engagement and to express a conclusion, based on
audit evidence collected, on whether the financial statements have been prepared without material departures
from the requirements of the ESEF Regulation. We conducted our limited assurance engagement in line with the
International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised) — Assurance Engagements Other than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information. This standard requires that we plan and perform the
engagement to obtain reasonable assurance for providing a conclusion.

Quality assurance

We have conducted the engagement in compliance with independence and ethical requirements as provided
by the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants. The code is based on the principles of integrity,
objectivity, professional competence and due diligence; confidentiality, and professional conduct. We are in
compliance with the International Standard on Quality Control (1ISQC 1) for audits and reviews of financial
statements, and other assurance and related services engagements and accordingly maintain an overall
management control system, including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and statutory requirements.

This version of our audit report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in the Croatian language. All possible care has been taken to ensure
that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original
language version of the report takes precedence over this translation
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)

Reporting in line with Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued)

Reporting based on the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2018/815 supplementing Directive
2004/109/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to regulatory technical standards on
the specification of a single electronic reporting format (“ESEF”) (continued)

Procedures carried out

We carried out the following procedures:

e We have read the requirements of the ESEF Regulation;

We have gained an understanding of the internal controls of the Company relevant for the application

of the ESEF Regulation;

We have identified and assessed the risks of material non-compliance with the ESEF Regulation, due to

fraud or error;

e As a result, we designed appropriate procedures as a response to risks identified and for obtaining
reasonable assurance for the purpose of expressing our opinion.

The aim of our procedures was to assess whether:

e The financial statements, included in the annual reports, were prepared in a valid XHTML format;
e The data contained in the financial statements, as defined in the ESEF Regulation, were marked up and
all of the markups meet the following requirements;
e  XBRL language was used for markups:
o Elements of core taxonomy provided in the ESEF Regulation were used, unless an extended
taxonomy element was used in line with Annex IV to the ESEF Regulation;
o  Markups comply with the Common rules on markups from the ESEF Regulation.

We believe the audit evidence we obtained to be sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion.

Conclusion

Based on the procedures carried out and evidence obtained, we believe that the Company and Group’s financial
statements in ESEF format, provided in the file cited above, and in line with the provision of Article 462 (5) of
the Capital Market Act, have been prepared in all material aspects in compliance with the requirements of Article
3, 4, and 6 of the ESEF Regulation for the year ended 31 December 2021.

In addition to this conclusion and the opinion provided in this Independent Auditor's Report on the
accompanying financial statements and annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021, we shall not
express an opinion on the information contained therein or other information contained in the previously cited
file.

This version of our audit report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in the Croatian language. All possible care has been taken to ensure
that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original
language version of the report takes precedence over this translation



Deloitte.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)
Reporting in line with Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued)

Other Regulatory Requirements of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council
and Audit Act

We were appointed as the statutory auditor of the Group and Company by the shareholders on 18 June 2021 to
perform the audit of accompanying financial statements. Our total uninterrupted Group engagement has lasted
4 years and covers the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2021. Our total uninterrupted Company
engagement has lasted for a year and covers the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021.

We confirm that:

e Our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements is consistent with the additional report
issued to the Audit Committee of the Company on 29 April 2022 in accordance with the Article 11 of
Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council;

e No prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5 paragraph 1 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014
of the European Parliament and the Council were provided.

In addition to the statutory audit services, we provided the following service to the Company and its controlled
undertakings:

e Independent limited assurance report on the 2021 remuneration report, based on the provisions of
Article 272.r (3) of the Companies Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Marina TonZeti¢.

Marina TonZetié

Director and Certified Auditor

For signatures, please refer to the
original Croatian auditor’ s report,
which prevails.

Deloitte d.o.o.

29 April 2022

Radnicka cesta 80
10 000 Zagreb

Republic of Croatia

This version of our audit report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in the Croatian language. All possible care has been taken to ensure
that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original
language version of the report takes precedence over this translation



Statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2021

Revenue from contracts with customers
Other operating income

Costs of goods sold

Raw materials and supplies
Services costs

Staff costs

Amortisation expense

Impairment losses (including reversals of impairment
losses) on financial assets and contract assets

Other expenses

Finance costs

Finance income — interest income
Finance income -~ other

Profit before tax

Income tax
Profit for the year
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Other comprehensive income for the year
Gain/(loss) on property and land revaluation

Income tax on property and land revaluation

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss:

Foreign exchange differences on transiation of foreign
operations

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Eamings/loss per share (HRK)
Basic (HRK and Ip)
Diluted (HRK and Ip)

Notes

10
1"

23
12
13
14

19
25

16
16

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
767.273 610.02_2 542.238 412.611
6.851 3.735 2.694 2.745
(507.619) (397.504) (328.938) (246.356)
(3.147) (3.042) (2.620) (2.440)
(71.496) (51.361) (58.814) (38.997)
(138.584) (118.912) (110.055) (91.649)
(15.594) (14.196) (13.029) (12.706)
(333) (967) (85) (947)
(10.419) (10.482) (8.877) (7.834)
(5.141) (11.455) (4.140) (9.061)
506 481 264 12
5.608 3.855 3.784 2734
27.906 10.174 22.421 8.111
(4.082) (2.722) (3.061) (1.616)
23.824 7.452 19.359 6.496
23.719 7.798 - -
105 (346) - -
23.824 7.452 19.359 6.496
9.705 - 9.705 -
(1.747) - (1.747) -
832 (766) - .
32.509 7.032 27.317 - 6.496
105 (346) - .
15.54 60.81 12.68 50.65
15.54 60.81 12.68 50.65

SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries
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Statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021

Assets
Non-current assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investments in financial assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Long-term trade receivables
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Investments in financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

Total assets

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves

Share capital

Legal reserves

Profit reserves

Revaluation reserves — Property
Translation reserve of foreign operations
Other capital items

Retained earnings

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests
Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Deferred tax liability

Lease liabilities

Contractual liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Borrowings

Contractual liabilities
Deferred income

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

18
19
20
21
211

25

22
21
23
32

28

28

31

24
25

Y

27
26

8RR

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31112/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
19,466 19,758 10,781 10,781
8,614 9,691 7,706 8,514
41,416 32,749 39,666 31,156
17,015 10,126 13,456 10,126
866 1,914 356 428
- - 27,769 26,986
4 14 4 14
7,729 8,498 6,952 7,902
95,110 82,749 106,690 95,907
2,026 520 1,972 127
879 57 - -
113,760 116,501 82,322 92,442
139,791 29,585 126,920 16,032
256,457 146,664 211,214 108,601
351,568 229,413 317,904 204,508
19,600 19,600 19,600 19,600
79,084 - 79,084 -
8,252 8,477 7413 8,072
15,954 8,451 15,954 8,451
267 (565) - -
(6,477) (6,477) - -
75,909 24,989 70,866 23,870
192,590 54,475 192,917 59,993
1,153 1,049 - -
193,743 55,524 192,917 59,993
6,895 14,113 6,895 14,113
3,502 1,855 3,502 1,855
10,847 6,285 8,566 6,285
10,186 15,277 10,186 15,277
31,430 37,531 29,149 37,531
96,478 90,416 69,511 65,258
7,140 4,409 5,957 4,409
9,082 32,817 7,213 31,546
5,052 4,070 5,052 4,070
8,643 4,646 8,107 1,701
126,395 136,358 95,838 106,984
157,825 173,889 124,987 144,515
351,568 229,413 317,904 204,508

SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries
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Cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Group C
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 3112/2021 31/12/2020
Note HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Profit for the year before tax 27.906 10.174 22421 8111
Adjusted by:
Finance income 14 (506) (481) (264) (12)
Finance costs 13 1.744 2.501 1.497 2319
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment " 4.806 4.880 4.038 3.939
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1 7229 6.050 5.980 6.049
Amortisation of intangible assets 1 3.559 3.267 3.011 2718
Impairment losses, net of reversals, on financial assets 23 333 967 85 947
Gains and losses on sales and value adjustments of tangible and
intangible assets (208) N (163) °
Net carrying value of disposed property, plant and equipment 19 64 548 62 809
Net carrying value of intangible assets 18 330 1.425 - 214
Net carrying value of right-of-use assets 20 - 275 - -
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 19 - 119 - -
Decrease in non-controlling interests 31 - (30) - -
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 45.257 29.695 36.667 25.095
Decrease/(increase) in inventories (1.508) 969 (1.846) 1.277
Decreasel(increase) in trade and other receivables 14.015 (11.426) 20.269 (9.802)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 7.972 35958 5.295 29.088
Increase/(decrease) in contractual liabilities (4.110) (3.828) (4.110) (2.869)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income (4.537) (3.740) (837) 6.712
Cash generated from operations 57.091 47.628 55.438 49.502
Income tax paid (1.319) - - (529) (1.776)
Net cash from operating activities 55772 - 47.628 54.909 47.726
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 19 (3.747) (2.897) (2.906) (2.014)
Purchases of intangible assets 18 (2.525) (1.607) (2.203) (1.505)
Establishment of a subsidiary - - (374) -
Increasing share in subsidiaries - - - (30)
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (6.272) (4.504) (5.482) (3.550)
Financing activities
Dividends paid (1.539) - (1.539) -
Interest paid (873) (2.379) (868) (2.379)
Transaction costs associated with loans and borrowings - - - (678)
Repayments of loans and borrowings 24 (84.130) (124.383) (80.841) (124.353)
Cash receipts from loans and borrowings 24 53.060 103.765 49.175 103.594
Repayment of lease liabilities (6.928) (6.207) (5.583) (6.207)
Cash receipts from sale of own shares 101.116 - 101.116 -
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities 60.706 (29.204) 61.461 30.022
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 110.206 13.921 110.888 14.154
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 29.585 15.664 16.032 1.878
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 32 139.791 29.585 126.920 16.032
SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries 16



Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021

1. General information

The company SPAN d.d. (“the Company”) is a joint stock company incorporated in the Republic of Croatia. The
ultimate controlling parties of the company are Nikola Dujmovi¢, President of the Management Board, and
members of the Management Board: Marijan Pongrac, Dragan Markovi¢, Antonija Kapovi¢ and Sasa Kramar.

These financial statements are presented in the Croatian kuna (HRK) and are rounded to the nearest thousand.
Foreign operations have been included in line with the policies detailed in note 3.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) and the nature of the Group's operations
are provided below.

a. SPANd.d.
The company SPAN d.d., company registration number. 080192242, was established in line with laws and
regulations of the Republic of Croatia as a limited liability company on 23 March 1993. On 13 December 2019, the
General Assembly adopted the Decision on transforming the company into a joint stock company.

Registered office: Zagreb, Koturaska cesta 47

Management Board: Nikola Dujmovi¢, President of the Management Board, and the members Marijan Pongrac,
Dragan Markovié, Antonija Kapovi¢ and Sasa Kramar

The Company’s core activities are the following: Publishing and printing; Manufacture of office machinery and
computers; Renting of office machinery and equipment, including computers; Computing and related activities;
Business and other management consuiting services.

b. Trilix d.o.o.
The company Trilix d.0.0., Zagreb, company registration number: 080621127, was established in line with laws
and regulations of the Republic of Croatia as a limited liability company on 8 August 2007.

Registered office: Ulica grada Vukovara 269F

Management Board: Mladen Amidzi¢, President of the Management Board, and Nikola Dujmovié, member

The company’s core activities are the following: IT security consultancy; Business and other management
consulting services; and Computing and related activities.

Trilix d.o.0. maintained its position of a leading electronic goods processor. The consulting department provides
advisory services in managing the organisation and risks, and reconciling business processes with rules and
regulations in the IT area.

c¢. INFOCUMULUS d.o.o.
The company INFOCUMULUS d.o.0., Zagreb, company registration number: 080737093, was established in line
with laws and regulations of the Republic of Croatia as a limited liability company on 22 July 2010.

Registered office: Zagreb, Koturaska cesta 47

Company directors: Marjan Pongrac, Director, Mihaela Trbojevié, Director, Dragan Markovié, procurator

The Company’s core activities are the following: Research of new IT technologies; Market research and public
opinion polling; Business and other management consulting services.

InfoCumulus d.o.o0. was wholly owned by the Company since 2017 and was merged with the Company on 17
February 2022.

d. BONSAI d.o.o.
The company BONSAI d.o.0., Zagreb, company registration number: 081100130, was established in line with laws
and regulations of the Republic of Croatia as a limited liability company on 12 May 2017.

Registered office: Zagreb, Koturaska cesta 47
Company directors: Slaven MiSak, Director, and Nikola Dujmovi¢, Director

SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries 17



Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2021

1. General data (continued)
The Company's core activities are the following: New media design (multimedia); and Computer and related
activities.

e. MMC d.o.o.
The company MMC d.o.o., Zagreb, company registration number: 080186176, was established in line with laws
and regulations of the Republic of Croatia as a limited liability company on 07 October 1994. On 1 February 2017,
the company Span d.d. acquired a 40% share in the company MMC d.0.0., and on 21 February 2020 an additional
30% share. On 26 April 2021, the Company sold all of its shares in MMC d.o.o.

Registered office: Zagreb, Koturaska cesta 47
Company directors: Branka Czukor, Director, and Stjepko Varga, Director
The Company'’s core activity is Business and other management consulting services.

f. SPAN d.o.0., Ljubljana
The company SPAN d.o.o., Ljubljana, company registration number: 359638900, was established in line with laws
and regulations of the Republic of Slovenia as a limited liability company on 18 August 2009.
Registered office: Ljubljana, Republic of Slovenia
Company director: Ilvan Rojec, Director
The Company’s core activities are the following: Design of information systems; and Provision of IT solutions on
the Slovenian market.
SPAN d.o.o. Ljubljana began operations in 2014, offering a wide range of products, services, and solutions on the
Slovene market. The company SPAN d.o.o. Ljubljana expanded to providing services in the IT solution segment,
having formed a specialised team dedicated precisely to that area. This company is expected to further grow in the
following period and enjoys strong support and know-how of the parent company.

g. SPANIT Ltd., London
The company SPAN IT Ltd., London, company registration number: 06810505, was established in line with laws
and regulations of the United Kingdom as a limited liability company on 05 February 2009.
Registered office: London, United Kingdom
Company directors: Marijan Pongrac, Director, and Dragan Markovi¢, Director
The Company's core activity is Provision of IT solutions on the market of Great Britain.
Span IT Litd. London began operations in 2010 as a sales representative of the Company and significantly
contributed to the growth in export of services and solutions to the market in Great Britain. In 2022, the export of
professional services to the market in Great Britain is expected to further increase.

SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries 18



Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2021

1. General data (continued)

h. SPAN USA, Inc.

The company SPAN USA, Inc., company registration number: 68-0682850, was established in line with laws and
regulations of the United States of America as a limited liability company on 10 October 2012.

Registered office: Oak Brook, United States of America

Company directors: Marijan Pongrac, Director

The Company'’s core activity is Provision of IT services and customer support in the USA.

SPAN USA, Inc., began operations in 2014 as a sales representative and local technical support centre for USA
customers. Further increase in revenue in the USA is expected in 2022 as a direct result of the operations of this
office.

i. Span Azerbaijan LLC, Baku

The company Span Azerbaijan LLC, company registration number: 1701936521, was established in line with laws
and regulations of Azerbaijan as a limited liability company on 15 April 2016.

Registered office: Baku, Azerbaijan
Company Director: Eldar Jahangirov, Director
The Company'’s core activity is IT consulting and services.

j- Span LLC, Kiev
The company Span LLC, company registration number: 42424948, was established in line with laws and
regulations of Ukraine as a limited liability company on 30 August 2018.
Registered office: Kiev, Ukraine
Company Director: Oleg Avilov, Director
The Company'’s core activity is IT consulting and services.

k. SPAN GmbH, Munchen
The company Span GmbH, company registration number: 242618, was established in line with laws and
regulations of Germany as a limited liability company on 31 May 2018.
Registered office: Munich, Germany
Company directors: Dragan Markovi¢, Director, and Sasa Kramar, Director
The Company's core activity is IT consulting and services.

. SPAN Swiss AG

The company SPAN Swiss AG, company registration number: 22966934000, was established in line with laws and
regulations of Switzerland as a limited liability company on 18 February 2019.

Registered office: Zug, Switzerland
Company directors: Dragan Markovi¢, Director, and Nikola Dujmovi¢, Director
The Company’s core activity is IT consulting and services.

m. Span-T s.r.l., Chiginau

The company Span IT s.r.l., company registration number: 1021600030638, was established in line with laws and
regulations of Moldova as a limited liability company on 19 July 2021.

Registered office: Chisindu, Moldova
Company directors: Sasa Kramar, Director, Zeljko Gali¢, Director, and Smigaliov Serghei, Director
The company’s core activity is IT consulting.

SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries 19



Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021

2. Adoption of new and revised standards

Initial application of new amendments to the existing standards effective for the current reporting period

The following new standards, amendments to the existing standards and new interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the EU are effective for the current reporting
period and have been adopted by the Group and Company:

Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”, IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” and
IFRS 16 “Leases” - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 (effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2021),

Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” — Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
(effective from 1 April 2021 for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021),

Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts — “Extension of the Temporary Exemption from
Applying IFRS 9”, adopted by the EU on 16 December 2020 (the expiry date for the temporary exemption
from IFRS 9 was extended to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

Adoption of amendments to the existing standards and interpretations are not relevant for the Group and
Company'’s operations and do not materially impact the financial statements.

Standards and amendments to the existing standards issued by IASB and adopted by the EU but not yet
effective

The following standards, amendments to the existing standards and interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the EU are not yet effective for the current reporting period:

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023),

Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” -
Definition of Accounting Estimates (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023),

Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” - Proceeds before Intended Use (effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022),

Amendments to IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” - Onerous
Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022),

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” - Reference to the Conceptual Framework with
amendments to IFRS 3 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022),

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”, including amendments to IFRS 17 issued by IASB on 25 June 2020 -
adopted by the EU on 19 November 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023),

Amendments to various standards due to “Improvements to IFRSs (cycle 2018 -2020)” resulting
from the annual improvement project of IFRS (IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41) primarily with a view
to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording — adopted by the EU on 28 June 2021 (The
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9 and IAS 41 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022. The amendment to IFRS 16 only regards an illustrative example, so no effective date is stated.)
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Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2021

2. Adoption of new and revised standards (continued)

New standards and amendments to the existing standards issued by IASB but not yet adopted by the EU

At present, IFRS as adopted by the EU do not significantly differ from regulations adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) except for the following new standards and amendments to the existing
standards, which were not endorsed for use in EU as at date of publication of financial statements (the effective
dates stated below is for IFRS as issued by IASB):

IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016) - the European Commission decided to delay the adoption of this transitional standard until the
issue of its final version,

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-Current (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023),

Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023),

Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and IAS 28 “Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures” - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture and further amendments (effective date deferred indefinitely until the research project on
the equity method has been concluded),

Amendments to IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts” - Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 —
Comparative Information (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

The Group and Company anticipate that the adoption of these new standards and amendments to the existing
standards will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Company in the period of initial application.
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3. Significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting

The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with IFRS Standards adopted by the European
Union (IFRS EU) and therefore the Group and Company'’s financial statements comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS
Regulation.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain
properties that are measured at revalued amounts, as explained-in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability item, the Group
and Company consider the characteristics market participants would consider when defining the price of assets or
liabilites as at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.
Going concern

The Management Board has, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group and Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus,
they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company made up to 31 December 2021. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee
e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
e is capable of using its power to affect its returns.

The Company shall reassess whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

The Company with less than a majority of the voting rights in an entity has rights that are sufficient to give it
power when the Company has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities unilaterally. When assessing
whether its voting rights are sufficient to give it power, the Company considers all facts and circumstances,
including:

o the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in profit or loss from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary. Where appropriate, adjustments were made in the subsidiaries’ financial
statements in order to align their accounting policies with those of other Group members. The consolidation
eliminates in full intra-Group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses, and cash flows relating to
transactions between entities of the Group.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis for consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are accounted for separately from the Group’s ownership interest. Those
interests of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Valuation method is selected
separately for each acquisition. Remaining non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. After
acquisition, the carrying value of non-controlling interests is the amount of shares at initial recognition increased
by the share of non-controlling interest in subsequent changes to the equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income shall be attributed to the owners of the Company
and non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and non-controlling interests shall be adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. The entity shall recognise directly in equity any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received, and attribute it to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), less liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts that were previously recognised in other comprehensive
income of the subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the assets or liabilities of the
Company, i.e., transferred to profit and loss or some of the equity items in line with the IFRSs in force. The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 when applicable, or the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised
in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value
at the acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets and liabilities and assets and liabilities from agreements on employee benefits,
recognised and measured in line with IAS 12 or IAS 19;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale and measured in line with IFRS 5.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If the
reassessment finds that the share of the Group in the fair value of the identifiable amount of the acquiree’s net
assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of non-controlling interest, if any, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree, the surplus shall be recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a gain from a bargain purchase.

The consideration the Group transfers in a business combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement.
The Group shall recognise the acquisition-date fair value of contingent consideration as part of the consideration
transferred in exchange for the acquiree. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwiill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the
‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that are not measurement period adjustments are accounted
for depending on the contingent consideration classification. Contingent consideration classified as equity shall not
be remeasured and its subsequent settlement shall be accounted for within equity. Other contingent consideration
is subsequently measured at fair value, at a later reporting date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit and
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests (including joint
operations) in the acquired entity are remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss. The amount of the interest in the acquiree before acquisition, that was previously
recognised in other comprehensive income, shall be transferred to profit and loss as would be required if the interest
had been disposed.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.
The provisional amounts shall be adjusted during the measurement period (see above) or additional assets or
liabilities shall be recognised to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of
the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognised as of that
date.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out above.

Goodwill is not depreciated but is tested for impairment at least once a year. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-
rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Such impairment loss for goodwill will not be
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
profit or loss on disposal.

The policy the Group uses for calculating goodwill resulting from acquisition of associates is described in note 17.
Revenue recognition

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”) is an accounting standard stipulating the
approach for recognising revenue from contracts with customers based on certain principles. IFRS 15 entails a
5-step approach requiring revenue recognition when control over the licences, goods and services is transferred
to the customer. The material principle of IFRS 15 refers to the transfer of control described in more detail below
with reference to individual revenue groups.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group and Company expect to be entitled
according to the customer contract, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group and
Company recognise revenue when they transfer control of a licence, product or service to a customer. The
paragraphs below describe types of contracts, timing of meeting delivery commitments, and timing of recognition
of revenue.

The Group and Company recognise revenue from the following major sources:

sale of licences;
= sale of hardware; and
= sale of services.

Sale of licences

With reference to the sale of different types of licences, revenue is primarily realised from the sale of Microsoft
licences. The Group and Company are primarily responsible for delivering specific characteristics of licences to
customers, they are exposed to the potential risk of rejection of licences by the customer and have the discretion
to define prices and benefits from licences to the moment of transfer of control.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Sale of licences (continued)

Licences are prepared for activation for a specific customer and are granted at a particular point in time. The
Group and Company determine that the license agreement does not require, and the customer does not
reasonably expect, that the Group and Company shall undertake activities that significantly affect the software.
Since the licensor shall not undertake activities that significantly affect the intellectual property for which the users
have rights and benefits, be they positive or negative activities that do not affect the licensor; and that the
activities that might affect the intellectual property do not constitute additional performance actions in the
contract, the licences thus represent the right-of-use and the Group, therefore, recognises revenue at a particular
point in time. Revenue is recognised when control of the licence has been transferred, that is at the point the
licences become available to the customer and the customer has gained the control over a licence. The value of
transactions from these contracts have been defined in framework contracts with customers (usually on an
annual basis), determined based on price lists, and charged within 45 days. Based on the framework contract,
the customers use order requests for purchasing licences to commit to the purchase during the life of the
contract.

The Group and Company use a practical exception for disclosing the transaction price allocated to outstanding
performance obligations since they have the right to the consideration paid by the customer in the amount
equivalent to the value of the performance obligation by the reporting date, thus the Group and Company
recognises revenue in the amount that they may invoice. The Group and Company do not expect variable
consideration with reference to the relevant contracts.

In case the contract at the same time includes the delivery of licences and provision of advisory services as part
of the solutions requested by the customer, advisory services, as well as licences, are considered individual
distinct delivery obligations. Transaction price is distinct in contracts per type of licence and advisory service,
thus is determined based on an individual sales price of a licence or service.

Sale of hardware

The Group and Company sell hardware directly to customers in line with the contract on the sale of hardware and
provision of services or individual contracts on the sale of hardware. Revenue is recognised at the point in time
when the control over the equipment has been transferred to the customers, and the sale of equipment is
considered a distinct delivery obligation. Transferring control to the customer entails physical ownership and use
of hardware by the customer, transfer of all rights to use and risks of use of hardware to the customer, as well as
the Group and Company'’s right to collect. The process of sale of hardware in most cases meets the condition to
transfer control after the goods have been delivered to the customer's specific location. Transaction prices
stipulated in these contracts are usually fixed and are collected after the delivery of the hardware and installation
services provided.

Sale of services

Advisory services the Group provides may be divided in two main service groups: services related to contracted
projects with customers, and advisory services which refer to customer support based on contracted price lists.
Advisory services related to contracted projects (e.g., installation and/or development of different software
products for specialised business operations) are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time.
Revenue is recognised in the financial statements based on the stage of completion of the contract. The
management and competent bodies have assessed that the stage of completion determined as the proportion of
the expected project duration, i.e., time that has elapsed at the end of the reporting period is an appropriate
measure of progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under IFRS 15. Considering
the fact that the projects are related to the time cost of each developer, the time spent on the project reflects the
work performed, i.e., delivered.

Advisory support services include hourly based standard services recognised at a certain time of delivery of
services based on contracted price lists.

Support advisory service is considered to be a distinct service as it is both regularly supplied by the Group and
Company to other customers on a stand-alone basis and is available for customers from other providers in the
market. Discounts are not considered as they are only given in rare circumstances and are not material.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
Leases

The Group and Company as lessors

The Group and Company act only as lessees. The Group and Company assess whether a contract is or contains
a lease, at the beginning of the contract. The Group and Company recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which they are the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as
tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Group and
Company recognise the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that have not been settled at the
beginning of the lease term, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined,
the Group and Company use their incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability entail the following:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the lessee's exercise of the option
to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The right-of-use assets entail the initial measurement of the relevant lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date of the lease, less any lease incentive received for concluding the operating lease
and all initial direct costs. These are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

The Group and Company apply IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and account for any
identified impairment loss as described in the ‘Property and Equipment’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and
the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in ‘Other expenses’ in profit or loss.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term and the useful life of the underlying
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the
Group and Company expect to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
useful life of the underlying asset.
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Leases (continued)

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 allows the lessee to elect not to separate non-lease components from lease
components, and instead account for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single
lease component. The Group and Company have used this practical expedient. For a contract that contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the Group entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity's
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets at fair value, denominated in
foreign currencies, are retranslated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates the fair values were determined. Non-
monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, unless:

o exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment
to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

e exchange differences on cash receivables or payables from foreign operations the settlement of which is
not planned nor probable in the nearby future, that thus constitute a portion of the net investment in foreign
operations, initially recognised in other comprehensive income and on the (partial) disposal of the net
investment transferred from equity to profit and loss.

In the financial statements, assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations have been calculated using the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which
case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Potential exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in a foreign exchange translation reserve (and added to non-
controlling interests, if any).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign exchange translation reserve
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.,
partial disposals of associates that do not result in the Group losing significant influence), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attaching to them
will be met and that the grants will be received. Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group and Company recognise as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group and
Company should purchase, construct, or otherwise acquire non-current assets (including property and equipment)
are recognised as deferred income in the statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group and Company with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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Retirement and termination benefits

Payments made to a defined contribution retirement benefit plan are recognised as expenses once the employees
have finished working on the position resulting in their right to contributions. Payments made to state-managed
retirement benefit plans are accounted for as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group and
Company'’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange
for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation
The corporate income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from the net profit reported
in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are not taxable or deductible. The Group and Company’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Provisions are recognised for matters with uncertain tax charge when an outflow of funds to the tax authority is
highly probable. Provisions are measured by using the best estimate of likely tax values. The estimate is based on
the judgement of tax experts within the Company in line with prior experience in such activities and, in certain
cases, based on tax advice of independent experts.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised based on
temporary differences at the initial recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group and Company are able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from investment- and interest-related deductible temporary differences are accounted for and reported only to the
extent of the probable amount of taxable profit that will allow the use of relief on the basis of deductible temporary
differences and if their reversal is expected in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or a part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group and Company expect, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amounts of their assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group and Company intend to settle their current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. In case of current and deferred taxes resulting
from the initial measurement of a business combination, the tax effect is included in the initial accounting for the
business combination.

Property, plant, and equipment

Buildings and land used in the supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the
statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are
performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that would be
determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period. As of 31 December 2019, the Group and Company
amended the accounting policy, by which date they had recognised buildings and land at purchase cost, less
accumulated amortisation, and accumulated impairment losses. In order to present the fair value of buildings and
land more accurately, the Group and Company selected the revaluation model. Thus, based on the assessment of
an authorised assessor, as of 31 December 2021, the Group and Company recognised an increase in value of
buildings and land, and the relevant deferred tax liability.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of buildings is credited to the properties revaluation reserve,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised as an
expense, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed.
A decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of buildings is charged as an expense to the extent that
it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that
asset.

Depreciation on revalued buildings is recognised in profit or loss. When selling or retiring items of non-current
assets recorded at the revalued amount, every surplus recognised in the revaluation reserve is directly transferred
to retained eamings

Depreciation of non-current tangible assets, determined on the same basis as other property, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.

Owned land is not depreciated.

Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Property, plant, and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than owned land and non-current
tangible assets under construction, over their useful lives, by using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Buildings 5% p.a.
IT equipment 15-50% p. a.
Office equipment 16-25% p. a.

Estimated useful life, residual value, and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with impacts of potential changes in estimated accounted for prospectively.

Buildings and equipment are no longer accounted for or recognised after they have been sold or when future
economic benefits associated with their use are no longer expected. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives which are disclosed in note 18. Estimated useful life and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with impacts of potential changes in estimated accounted for prospectively.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their
useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Software and other rights 25%p.a.

Estimated useful life, residual value, and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with impacts of potential changes in estimated accounted for prospectively. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives that are acquired separately include Software and other rights, and Intangible assets under
construction.

Internally developed intangible assets
Expenses resulting from research activities are recognised as expenses for the period in which they arise.

Internally developed intangible assets that are a result of development (or a development stage of an internal
project) shall only be recognised if the entity can demonstrate all of the following:

o the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
o the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

s the availability of adequate technical, financial, and other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of expenditures incurred as
of the date when the assets initially met the previously cited recognition criteria. If internally developed intangible
assets cannot be recognised, expenditures from development are recognised in profit and loss for the period in
which they incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, internally developed intangible assets are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Internally developed intangible assets are sold to third parties once the licence is
activated.

Internally developed intangible assets entail Software development and Intangible assets under construction.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill is initially
recognised at fair value as at the acquisition date (considered a cost, i.e., assets purchase cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets

Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when future economic benefits associated with the use or sale
of the item are no longer expected. The gain or loss arising on the derecognition of an intangible asset item is
determined as the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and is
recognised in profit or loss for the period of derecognition.

Impairment of buildings and equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group and Company review the carrying amounts of their property and equipment,
and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. For assets not generating cash flows independent from other assets, the Group and Company
estimate the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are subject to impairment tests on an annual basis and if there is an
indication of potential impairment at the end of the reporting period.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generated unit) is estimated to be less that its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant assets have been recognised in their revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase and if the impairment loss
exceeds the related revalued amount surplus, impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss if it eliminates the impairment loss recognised for assets in previous years. All increases in the surplus of
this amount are considered revaluation increases.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of the cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and,
where appropriate, direct labour costs and surplus incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated by using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred for marketing, selling and
distribution.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position of the Group and
Company when the Group and Company become a party to the contractual provision of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, unless the trade receivable has no
significant financial component initially measured at transaction cost. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The regular purchase and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised at the trading date. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at amortised cost.
Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments meeting the following conditions are subsequently measured at depreciated cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual
cash flows;

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Depreciated cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-
impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of
the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument
on initial recognition. For purchased or incurred credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate adjusted
to the loan is calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the
depreciated cost of the debt instrument at initial measurement.

The depreciated cost of financial assets is the amount at which the financial instrument is measured at initial
recognition, less payments of principal and plus accumulated depreciation, using the effective interest rate method
for any difference between the opening amount and amount at maturity, adjusted for any loss. Gross carrying
amount of financial assets is the depreciated cost of financial assets before adjustments for impairment provisions.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate for debt instruments, which are subsequently
measured at depreciated cost. For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
which subsequently became credit-impaired, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the depreciated cost of financial assets. If, in the following reporting periods, the credit risk for the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves in the way that the financial instrument is no longer credit-impaired, the interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial assets.
For the purchased credit-impaired financial assets or liabilities, the Group and Company recognise interest income
by using the effective interest rate adjusted by the credit risk to the depreciated cost of financial assets at initial
recognition. The calculation is not returned to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the financial assets
subsequently improves so that the financial assets are no longer credit-impaired. Interest income is recognised in
profit or loss and is included in the ‘Financial income — interest income’ line item (note 14).
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification of financial assets (continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences are recognised in profit
or loss in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group and Company recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
contractual assets. The amount of expected credit losses is calculated at every reporting date in order to reflect
the changes in the credit risk since initial recognition of an individual financial instrument.

The Group and Company always recognise lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receivables, and contract
assets. The expected credit losses on those financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix by reference
to past credit loss experience of the Group and Company, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions, and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
as at the reporting date, including, where appropriate, the time value of money.

Lifetime ECL represents expected credit losses resulting from all potential cases of default during the expected
lifetime of the financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents a portion of lifetime ECL resulting from
potential default of the financial instrument liabilities within 12 months from the reporting date.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

When assessing whether the credit risk for the financial instrument significantly increased since the initial
recognition, the Group and Company compare the risk of default on the reporting date to the risk of default of the
financial instrument on the date of initial recognition. During the assessment, the Group and Company consider
both quantitative and qualitative information which are reasonable and available, including the historical experience
and forward-looking information, which can be accessed without unnecessary costs or engagements. Forward-
looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group and Company's
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-
tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various extemal sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group and Company’s core operations. In particular, the following
information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

e anactual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument's external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

¢ significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the length of
time or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
e significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group and Company presume that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group and Company have a reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the aforementioned, the Group and Company assume that the credit risk for the financial instrument has
not significantly increased since the initial recognition if we determine that the financial instrument has a low credit
risk at the reporting date. We believe that the financial instrument has a low credit risk if:

(1) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(2) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(3) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the long term may, but do not necessarily have
to, decrease the lessee’s ability to meet their contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group and Company consider a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not available,
the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. ‘Performing’ means that the counterparty has a strong financial
position and there is no past due amounts. For financial guarantee contracts, the date on which the Group and
Company become a party to irrevocable commitment is considered the date of initial recognition for the purposes
of estimating the impairment of a financial instrument. When judging if the credit risk significantly increased since
initial recognition of the financial guarantee contract, the Group and Company examine the changes in the risk of
a debtor’s default. The Company regularly monitors the efficiency of criteria used to determine whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and reviews them so that the criteria may identify a significant increase in
credit risk before any default occurs.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(ii) Definition of default

The Group and Company consider the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following
criteria are generally not recoverable:

« when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

¢ information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by the Group
and Company).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group and Company consider that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group and Company have reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

Financial assets are credit-impaired when one or more events with an adverse effect on estimated future cash
flows and financial assets occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past-due event (see item above);

(c) the lenders for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty granted the
borrower a concession that would not otherwise be considered;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or another financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for the financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group and Company write off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g., when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group and Company’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

Measurement of expected credit losses is the function of Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD),
i.e., size of loss in case of default, and Exposure at Default (EAD). Probability of Default and Loss Given Default is
based on historical data adjusted for forward-looking information. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the
exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on historical trend, the understanding of the
specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information. For financial assets,
the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
and Company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group and Company expect to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For lease receivables, cash flows used to determine expected
credit losses correspond to the cash flows used for measuring lease receivables in line with IFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group and Company are required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group and Company expect to receive from the holder, the debtor, or any other party.

(v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses (continued)

If the Group and Company have measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period but determine at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group and Company measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-
month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which the simplified approach was used.

The Group and Company recognise an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all trade receivables with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group and Company derecognise a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group and Company do not transfer or retain almost all risks and rewards associated
with ownership and, if it still has control over the transferred asset, it recognizes its retained interest in the asset
and the related liability in the amounts it may have to pay. If the Group and Company retain substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group and Company continue to recognize the
financial asset and also recognize a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’'s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit and loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as liabilities or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group and Company are recognised in realised inflows, net of
direct issuance costs. Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly
in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue, or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method at the end
of each reporting period.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held-for-
trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments, including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts, through the expected life of the financial asset or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost (continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

For foreign-currency financial liabilities measured at amortised cost at the end of each reporting period, foreign
exchange gains and losses are determined using the amortised cost of the instrument.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group and Company derecognise financial liabilities when, and only when, the obligations are discharged,
cancelled, or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Where there has been an exchange between the Group and Company and existing creditor with substantially
different terms, this transaction is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group and Company account for a substantial change in the
terms of an existing liability or a portion thereof as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and recognition
of a new financial liability. The terms are considered substantially different if the discounted current value of cash
flows, in line with the new terms, including consideration paid, net of fees received and impaired by using the
effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted current value of remaining cash flows of the
original financial liability. If the change is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the carrying value before the
change; and (2) the current value of cash flows after the change is recognised in profit and loss as a gain or loss
from the change in other gains and losses.

Treasury shares

Treasury shares are held with CDCC (Central Depositary and Clearing Company). Treasury shares are recognised
at cost and deducted from equity.
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4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In applying the Group and Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the Management Board
is required to make judgements (other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the
amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Assessing whether the Group and Company are a principal or agent in the sale of licences

IFRS 15 provides guidance for determining whether an entity is the principal or an agent. The Group and Company
act as a principal in a transaction if they obtain control of the specified goods or services before they are transferred
to the customer. On the contrary, the Group and Company are an agent if they do not control the specified goods
or services before they are transferred to the customer.

Determining that the Group and Company are a principal is based on the assessment of whether the Group and
Company obtain control of the goods and services based on the facts and circumstances stipulated in the contracts
with customers.

In this assessment, the Group and Company have used the judgement using the main indicators of their business
model, business practice, processes, rights and responsibilities that Group and Company have and can be
summarized as follows:

identifying a selling opportunity with a customer;
direct contacts with customers to determine their need and demands as well consultation for determining
adequate license program;
e sharing opportunity details with license providers;
o revealing customers identity is the standard rule with vendors in the industry,
o industry standard is that licenses cannot be sold to customers without sharing data with the
license vendors
discretion with respect to accept or reject orders from customers;
responsibility related to the sales strategy;
responsibility for ensuring that delivered goods and services are in accordance with the customer
demands/infrastructure;
responsibility for ensuring the validity of goods and services;
directing license vendors over which licensing program and product to place and to which customer to
place it to;
full discretion over establishing a final price for goods and services;
before license activation, full discretion to change the scope, program, withdraw from the deal as well as
to change the supplier and choose another supplier on the market (“non-exclusive rights”);
o  existing commercial agreement with customer by which the Group and Company are primarily responsible
for fulfilling the promise to provide goods and services;
o customer cannot prove their right to use goods and services without formal order confirmation to the Group
and Company, invoice from the Group and Company and payment confirmation;
o discretion to re-direct the use of goods and services in the case if customer breach the contract.

Determining whether an entity is the principal or an agent in an arrangement require review of indicators relating
to principle/agent status. As stated above, the Group and Company continuously review the relationships and
contractual arrangements between the Group and the Company and their customers. This includes identifying the
specified good and/or services being provided to the customers and the nature of the Group and Company's
promise in the assessment of the agent vs principal status.

Assessing whether the Group and Company recognize revenue as point in time or over time

The Group and Company determine that the license agreement does not require, and the customer does not
reasonably expect, that the Group and Company shall undertake activities that significantly affect the software.
Since the licensor shall not undertake activities that significantly affect the intellectual property for which the users
have rights and benefits, be they positive or negative activities that do not affect the licensor; and that the activities
that might affect the intellectual property do not constitute additional performance actions in the contract, the
licences thus represent the right-of-use and the Group, therefore, recognises revenue at a particular point in time.
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4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of trade receivables

Trade receivables are reviewed at each reporting date and their value is impaired based on the assessment of
probability that the reported amount will be recovered. Each customer is considered individually based on the
expected date of collection of the receivable and the estimated probability to collect amounts due. The management
believes that the trade receivables have been recognised in line with their recoverable amount as at the reporting
date.

Goodwill impairment

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any gain or loss on remeasurement at fair value is included directly in profit or loss. Such
impairment loss for goodwill will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The Group and Company use the smallest cash-generating unit for their goodwill impairment tests. The Group and
Company defined every individual subsidiary as the smallest cash-generating unit, having in mind the diversity of
sources of income and business models of individual subsidiaries. For goodwill impairment tests, they used the
income method based on discounted cash flows.

The discounted cash flow method comprised the assessment of future cash flows for a 5-year period, discounting
the relevant cash flows, applying a discount rate reflecting the cash flow risk and time value of money, assessing
the residual value and terminal value. In the free cash flow forecasts, the compound annual growth rate (CAGR)
for the period from 2021 to 2025 amounts to 16.5%.

The Group and Company test goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that
goodwill might be impaired.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group and Company have conducted a sensitivity analysis for changes in key assumptions used for
determining the recoverable amount of each group of cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated.
The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the Management Board covering a five-year period.
The impairment test established that there were no indications of goodwill impairment. The sensitivity analysis
considered the change in terminal growth of the Group and Company ranging from -0.5% to 1.50% and the WACC
ranging from 10.23% to 12.23%. The sensitivity analysis within the impairment test did not determine an
impairment.
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4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Useful life of property, plant, and equipment

The Group and Company review the estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
at the end of each annual reporting period. Property, plant and equipment are reported at purchase cost less the
accumulated value adjustment.

Leases — Assessing the incremental borrowing rate

The Group and Company are not able to easily determine the lease interest rate, thus they use an incremental
borrowing rate for calculating lease liabilities. Incremental borrowing rate is the rate the Group and Company would
pay if they, in a similar period and with similar collateral, borrowed funds necessary for purchasing property of
similar value as right-of-use assets in a similar economic surrounding. Calculating the incremental borrowing rate
requires assessing when such rates are not available or need to be adjusted to reflect the lease terms. The Group
and Company use different inputs to calculate the incremental borrowing rate. The interest rate calculated by the
Group and Company for contracts represents the lessee’s credit risk, lease period, safety, and economic
surrounding. It is determined based on comparable transactions. The data the Company uses for determining the
incremental borrowing rate are renewed at least once a year or in case of a significant change in the Group and
Company’s credit rating.

Income tax

The Company is liable for income tax under the laws and regulations of the Republic of Croatia. Tax returns are
subject to examination by the tax authorities, which have the right to subsequently review business books of the
taxpayer. There are different possible interpretations of tax laws; therefore, the amounts in the consolidated
financial statements may be amended subsequently, based on the decision of tax authorities.
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Revenue from contracts wirh

5. customers
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Sales of software licences 506,893 411,962 317,217 248,670
Sales of goods and services — foreign 151,338 127,303 155,882 125,719
Sales of goods and services — domestic 71,092 57,698 33,137 25,163
Sales of hardware 37,951 13,059 36,002 13,059
Total 767,273 610,022 542,238 412,611
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
External revenue by service provided
Services revenue 222 429 185,001 189,019 150,882
Total 222,429 185,001 189,019 150,882
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
External revenue by products sold
Sales of software licences 506,893 411,962 317,217 248,670
Sales of hardware 37,951 13,059 36,002 13,059
Ukupno 544,843 425,021 353,219 261,729
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
External revenue by timing of revenue
Goods transferred at a point in time 544,843 425,021 353,219 261,729
Services transferred at a point in time 145,045 98,343 135,549 85,171
Services transferred over time 77,385 86,658 53,470 65,711
Total 767,273 610,022 542,238 412,611
6. Other operating income
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Government grants 211 1,098 211 138
Other operating income 6,640 2,638 2483 2,607
Total 6,851 3,735 2,694 2,745

Other operating income predominantly includes income from reversal of provisions, income from collection of
damages, and income from collection of adjusted receivables.
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6.1. Operating segments

Products and services resulting in revenue for reportable segments

Information reported to the President of the Management Board for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance is focused on every type of product/service. In line with IFRS 8, the separate
reporting segments of the Group and Company include Software asset and license management, Infrastructure
services, Cloud and Cyber Security, Services management and customer support, and Software and business

solutions development.

Group
Infrastructure Service Software
Software asset N
management Services, Cloud n-n:gen.nm developvmn.t and Other Eliminations  Consolidated
and licensin. and Cyber and technical business
9 Security support solutions
2021 2021 2021 2021 201 2021 2021
HRK ‘000 HRK "000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK '000
Revenues
External sales 650410 85715 102713 55,768 7,353 (127,835) 774123
Total revenue 650,410 85,715 102,713 55,768 7,353 (127,835) 774,123
Result
Segment profit 19.219 19.608 46,635 10,839 (69,343) 24 26,933
Finance income - - - - 6,366 (253) 6,114
Finance costs - - - - 5,418 @77 5,141
Profit before tax 18,219 19,608 46,635 10,839 (68,304) - 27,906
Income tax - - - E 4,082 5 4,082
Profit for the year 19,219 19,608 46,635 10,839 (72,476) - 23,824
Software t Infrastructure Service Software
management Services, Cloud lmnzgen.nm develommn.t and Other Eliminations  Consolidated
and licensin and Cyber and technical business
9 Security support solutions
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Revenues
External sales 516,308 63,909 81,918 43630 3,895 (95,900) 613757
Total revenue 516,306 63,909 81,918 43,630 3,895 (95,900) 613,757
Resuit
Segment profit 12264 13857 37,169 7463 (53643) 183 17,202
Finance income - - - 4,828 (491) 4,337
Finance costs - - - - 11,763 (308) 11,455
Profit before tax 12,264 13,857 37,169 7463 (60,579) - 10,174
Income tax - - - - 272 - 272
Profit for the year 12,264 13,857 37,169 7,463 (63,301) - 7.452
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6.1. Operating segments (continued)

Products and services resulting in revenue for reportable segments (continued)

C L 2 4
So asset lnfrastmcture Service . s.onware
management  Services, Cloud . " Other  Consolidated
and licensing and Cyber and technical and business
Security support solutions
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Revenues
External sales 353,219 65,546 94,185 29,289 2694 544 932
Total revenue 353,219 65,546 94,185 29,289 2,694 544,932
Resuit
Segment profit 18,284 16,456 44787 3427 60,441 22,513'
Finance income - - - - 4,048 4,048
Finance costs - - - - 4,140 4,140
Profit before tax 18,284 16,456 44,787 3427 (60,534) 22,421
Income tax - - - - 3,062 3,062
Profit for the year 18,284 16,456 44,787 3427 (63,595) 19,359
Software asset Inffastructure Service Software
management Services, Cloud ) p Other Consolidated
and licensing and Cyber and technical and business
Security support solutions
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK '000
Revenues
External sales 261,729 50,168 77,927 22,787 2,745 415,356
Total revenue 261,729 50,168 77,927 22,787 2,745 415,356
Result
Segment profit 10,743 11,02 36,306 1314 (44,998) 14,426
Finance income - - - - 2,746 2,746
Finance costs - - - - 9,061 9,061
Profit before tax 10,743 11,062 36,306 1,314 (51,313) 8,111
Income tax - - - - 1,616 1,616
Profit for the year 10,743 11,062 36,306 1,314 (52,929) 6,496
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6.1. Operating segments (continued)

Products and services resulting in revenue for reportable segments (continued)

Non-current assets
Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
) 'HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Software asset management and licensing 1,718 561 568 401
Infrastructure Services, Cloud and Cyber Security 4,438 3,198 3,195 3,155
Service management and technical support 2,277 2,691 2,260 2,651
Software development and business solutions 3,121 986 655 886
Other 83,556 75,314 100,011 88,814
Total segment assets 95,110 82,749 106,690 95,907
Consolidated total assets 95,110 82,749 106,690 95,907
Amortisation
Group Company

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Software asset management and licensing 421 595 333 358
Infrastructure Services, Cloud and Cyber Security 1,451 1,419 1,369 1,297
Service management and technical support 2,416 1,615 2,415 1,606
Software development and business solutions 2,467 2,878 1,782 2,240
Other 8,840 7,689 7,130 7,205
15,594 14,196 13,029 12,706

Additions to non-current assets

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Software asset management and licensing 850 495 653 249
Infrastructure Services, Cloud and Cyber Security 2,928 1,109 2,680 1,052
Service management and technical support 4,876 1,263 4,727 1,167
Software development and business solutions 4,979 2,251 3,487 1,708
Other 17,842 4,705 13,956 4,662
31,475 9,823 25,503 8,839

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group and Company’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment before central administration
costs including directors’ salaries, other general costs, financial expenses and income, and taxes. This is the
measure reported to the Group and Company’s Chief Executive for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

In relation to the prior reporting period, in order to obtain quality information, the number of reportable segments of
the Group and Company increased to secure a better insight into the business activities.

Revenues from major products and services

The Group and Company'’s revenues from major products and services are disclosed in note 5.
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6.1. Operating segments (continued)
Territorial analysis of operations
Territory, in this context, means the location in which the goods and services have been invoiced.

Details on the revenues of the Group and Company from external customers and information on segment assets
(non-current assets without financial instruments, deferred tax assets and other financial assets) for each territory
are provided below:

Geographical information

Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Croatia 440,147 341,941 89,436 78,039
Slovenia 141,061 117,563 3,648 2,902
Ukraine 161,887 140,935 814 557
Other 31,028 13,319 1,213 1,251
774,123 613,757 95,110 82,749

Information about key customers

Included in revenues arising from sale of services are revenues of approximately HRK 64,000 thousand (2020:
68,000 thousand) which arose from sales to the Group and Company’s largest customer.
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7. Cost of goods sold
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Costs of goods sold 507,619 397,504 328,938 246,356
Total 507,619 397,504 328,938 246,356
8. Raw materials and supplies
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Cost of small inventory and spare parts 1,131 1,420 903 990
Cost of office material 684 506 557 466
Energy 1,322 1,108 1,160 984
Other costs 10 8 - -
Total 3,147 3,042 2,620 2,440
9. Service costs
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Production and advisory service costs 38,799 32,936 33,787 27,544
Intellectual services 14,039 6,390 10,372 3,319
Lease payments 1,909 3,037 1,359 1,070
Maintenance 3,452 2,577 3,125 2,087
Utility services 2,272 2,071 2,071 1,855
Entertainment and hospitality 1,745 1,139 1,282 812
Telecommunications costs 1,267 995 785 778
Promotion costs 2,280 560 1,782 354
Transport costs 270 372 254 343
Other services 5,463 1,285 3,997 835
Total 71,496 51,361 58,814 38,997
10. Staff costs
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Net salaries 84,329 74,428 61,430 52,679
Contributions and taxes from salaries 33,213 30,606 29,979 26,986
Contributions and taxes on salaries 12,428 11,115 11,153 9,737
Other employee costs 8,613 2,763 7,493 2,247
Total 138,584 118,912 110,055 91,649

The average number of employees in 2021 of the Group amounted to 537 and of the Company 436 (2020: Group 495,
Company 399).
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1. Depreciation costs
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Depreciation of property, plant and 4,806 4,880 4,038 3,939
equipment .
Depreciation of intangible assets 3,559 3,266 3,011 2,718
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7,229 6,049 5,980 6,049
Total 15,594 14,196 13,029 12,706
12 Other expenses
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Membership fees and similar expenses 958 755 907 865
Net losses from sale of intangible assets - 1,372 - 1,372
Insurance costs 1,960 1,376 1,683 1,222
Bank and payment operation charges 1,032 1,018 544 488
Training 1,539 900 1,391 809
Donations and sponsorships 673 152 548 86
Other IT costs 19 11 - -
Other expenses 4,238 4,898 3,805 2992
Total 10,419 10,482 8,877 7,834
13. Finance costs
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Foreign exchange losses 3,324 8,954 2,644 6,742
Interest on bank loans 971 1,893 853 1,711
Interest on lease liabilities 773 608 643 608
Losses on sales of subsidiary 72 - - -
Total 5,141 11,455 4,140 9,061
14. Finance income
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Interest income:
Financial instruments measured at
amortised cost:
- Bank deposits 506 481 264 12
Foreign exchange gains 5,608 3,855 3,784 2734
Total 6,114 4,336 4,048 2,746
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15. Income tax

The standard rate of corporation tax applied to reported profit is 18% (2020: 18%) for companies operating in the
Republic of Croatia.

Taxation in other jurisdictions is calculated in line with the rates effective in the relevant jurisdictions.

15.

Income tax

Current tax
Deferred tax
Total

Accounting profit before tax

Income tax calculated at the rate of 18% in
the Republic of Croatia (u 2020.g. 18%)
Effect of non-deductible expenses

Effect of tax-exempt revenue

Effect of movement of deferred tax
liabilities

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions and
unrecognised deferred tax assets on
transferred tax losses

Tax expense

Effective tax rate

Effect of movement of tax losses carried
forward:

Tax loss from 2018
Tax loss from 2019
Tax loss from 2020
Tax loss from 2021
Total

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
(1,232) (1,830) (96) (820)
(2,850) (892) (2,965) (796)
(4,082) (2,722) (3,061) (1,616)

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
27,906 10,174 22,421 8,111
5,023 1,831 4,036 1,460
502 411 462 384
(4,415) (278) (4,402) (1,023)
2,850 892 2,965 796
122 (134) - -
4,082 2,722 3,061 1,616
15% 27% 14% 20%
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
726 726 - -
3,81 4,794 - -
4,140 4,140 - -
2017 - - -
10,694 9,659 - -

In accordance with the tax legislation, the Tax Administration may, at any time, inspect the books and records of
the Company within three years from the end of the year in which the tax liability is reported and may impose

additional tax liabilities and penalties. The Management Board of the Company is not familiar with any
circumstances which may lead to contingent liabilities in that respect.
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16. Earnings per share

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Earnings
Earnings for the purposes of basic
earnings per share being net profit 23,719 7,798 19,359 6,496
attributable to owners of the Company
Earqnngs for the purposes of diluted 23719 7,798 19,359 6,496
earnings per share
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purposes of basic earnings 1,526,508 128,240 1,526,508 128,240
per share
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purposes of diluted earnings 1,526,508 128,240 1,526,508 128,240
per share
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Number of shares
1,626,508 128,240 1,526,508 128,240
1,526,508 128,240 1,526,508 128,240
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK
Earnings
Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity
holders of the parent 23,719 7,798 19,359 6,496
Earnings from continuing operations for the
purpose of basic earnings per share 15.54 60.81 12.68 50.65
Earnings from discontinued operations for
the purposes of diluted earnings per share 15.54 60.81 12.68 50.65

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/loss attributable to equity holders of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares issued during the year, excluding the average number of ordinary
shares purchased by the Group and Company and held as own shares. Basic earnings per share is equal to the
diluted earnings per share since currently there are no share options that could potentially increase the quantity
of shares issued.

On 24 May 2021, the General Assembly of Span d.d. adopted the Decision on allocating shares based on the
principle that one share of nominal value of HRK 100 be divided into 10 shares, each of nominal value of
HRK 10.

17.  Goodwill

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of subsidiaries InfoCumulus d.o.0., Delion d.o.0., and Recro-net d.o.0. and MMC
d.o.o. During 2021, the Company sold all of its shares in MMC d.o.0.
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17. Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill Recro.net
Goodwill InfoCumulus
Goodwill Delion
Goodwill MMC

Total

Cost

As at 31 December 2020
Exchange rate differences
Decrease

As at 31 December 2021

Accumulated impairment losses
As at 31 December 2020

As at 31 December 2021

Carrying value
As at 31 December 2021
As at 31 December 2020

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
10,781 10,781 10,781 10,781
6,705 6,705 - .
1,981 1,986 - -
- 287 - -
19,466 19,758 10,781 10,781
19,758
(5
(287)
19,466
19,466
19,758
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18. Other intangible assets

Group
Software Software and Intangible
. assets under Total
development other rights .
construction
Cost
As at 1 January 2020 14,916 9,051 2,217 26,184
Exchange rate differences - 1) - (O]
Additions from internal development 3,772 (3,719) 1,553 1,607
Decreases (2,197) (1,555) - (3,751)
Transfers - 3,723 (3,723) -
As at 31 December 2020 16,491 7,499 48 24,038
Exchange rate differences - 2 - 2
Additions from internal development 43 279 2,203 2,525
Decreases (43) (861) - (905)
Transfers 1,826 - (1,826) -
As at 31 December 2021 18,317 6,918 425 25,660
Depreciation and amortisation
As at 1 January 2020 5,273 8,134 - 13,407
Exchange rate differences - 2 - 2
Charge for the year 2,983 283 - 3,266
Decreases (780) (1,547) - (2,327)
As at 31 December 2020 7,476 6,872 - 14,348
Exchange rate differences - 1 - 1
Charge for the year 3,299 260 - 3,559
Decreases - (861) - (861)
As at 31 December 2021 10,775 6,272 - 17,047
Carrying value
As at 31 December 2021 7,543 646 425 8,614
As at 31 December 2020 9,015 627 48 9,691
As at 01 January 2020 9,643 917 2,217 12,777
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18. Other intangible assets (continued)

Company
Intangible
deveslzm: szmr:i::t: assets under Total
construction

Cost
As at 1 January 2020 12,238 6,167 2,217 20,622
Additions from internal development 3,723 (3,723) 1,505 1,505
Decreases (2,147) (1,414) (3,561)
Transfers 3,723 (3,723) -
As at 31 December 2020 13,813 4,753 - 18,567
Additions from internal development - 2,203 2,203
Decreases (861) (861)
Transfers 1,778 (1,778) -
As at 31 December 2021 15,592 3,892 425 19,909
Depreciation and amortisation
As at 1 January 2020 4,253 5,275 - 9,528
Charge for the year 2,448 270 - 2,718
Decreases (780) (1,414) (2,194)
As at 31 December 2020 5,921 4,131 - 10,052
Charge for the year 2,763 248 - 3,011
Decreases - (861) - (861)
As at 31 December 2021 8,684 3,519 - 12,203
Carrying value
As at 31 December 2021 6,908 374 425 7,706
As at 31 December 2020 7,892 622 - 8,514
As at 01 January 2020 7,985 892 2,217 11,094

Impairment losses

In 2020, impairment losses were recognised in relation to the net carrying amount during the sale of software

developed internally in the parent company and recognised in profit or loss.

19. Property, plant and equipment

Carrying value

Buildings

Land

Computers and IT equipment
Other equipment

Total

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
21,789 17,152 21,789 17,152
13,050 9,415 13,050 9,415
3,258 2,581 3,012 2,486
3,320 3,601 1,815 2,103
41,416 32,749 39,666 31,156

Buildings of the Company were pledged as collateral.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company increased the value of buildings and land owned based on an

assessment by an independent appraiser.
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19. Property, plant, and equipment

Group
Buildings Land Computer OffiSigy  Eassets tder Total
equipment quip
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

Cost or valuation
As at 1 January 2020 24771 9415 14,123 9,461 378 58,147
Additions - - 1,586 1,211 100 2,897
Foreign exchange gains and losses - - - (115) - (115)
Disposals = - (684) (1,002) (478) (2,165)
As at 31 December 2020 24771 9,415 15,024 9,554 - 58,764
Additions - - 2,531 1,216 - 3,747
Foreign exchange gains and losses - - - 244 - 244
Disposals - - (428) 612) - (1,040)
Revaluation increase 6,070 3,635 - - - 9,705
As at 31 December 2021 30,841 13,050 17,127 10,403 - 71,420
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment
As at 1 January 2020 6,186 - 11,362 5,292 - 22,840
Charge for the year 1,433 - 1,831 1,616 - 4,880
Impairment loss - - (35) (84) - (119)
Exchange rate differences - - - 31 - 31
Eliminated on disposals - - (715) (902) - (1,617)
As at 31 December 2020 7,619 - 12,444 5,953 - 26,015
Charge for the year 1,433 - 1,795 1,578 - 4,806
Exchange rate differences - - - 148 - 148
Eliminated on disposals - - (370) (596) - (965)
As at 31 December 2021 9,051 - 13,869 7,083 - 30,004
Carrying value
As at 31 December 2021 21,789 13,050 3,258 3,320 - 41,416
As at 31 December 2020 17,152 9,415 2,581 3,601 - 32,749
As at 01 January 2020 18,685 9,415 2,760 4,169 378 35,307
Comprising:
Per cost - - - 17,127 10,403 - 27,530
At valuation 2021 30,841 13,050 - - - 43,890
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19. Property, plant, and equipment (continued)

c
Buildings Land Computer Other  Assets under Total
quip quip construction
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Cost or valuation
As at 1 January 2020 24771 9,415 13,251 6,415 378 54229
Additions - - 1,494 420 100 2,014
Disposals - - (455) (734) (478) (1,668)
Digitalni Ured Merger - - 59 - - 59
As at 31 December 2020 24771 9415 14,349 6,101 - 54 635
Additions - - 2,282 623 - 2,906
Disposals - - (384) (435) - (819)
Revaluation increase 6,070 3,635 - - - 9,705
As at 31 December 2021 30,841 13,050 16,247 6,289 - 66,427
Akumulirana amortizacija i umanjenje
As at 1 January 2020 6,186 - 10,649 3,739 - 20,574
Charge for the year 1,433 - 1,659 926 - 4,018
Eliminated on disposals - - (484) (707) - (1,191)
Digitalni Ured - - 39 40 - 79
As at 31 December 2020 7619 - 11,863 3,998 - 23,479
Charge for the year 1,433 - 1,697 908 - 4,038
Eliminated on disposals - - (325) (432) - (756)
As at 31 December 2021 9,051 - 13,235 4474 - 26,760
Carrying value
As at 31 December 2021 21,789 13,050 3,012 1,815 - 39,666
As at 31 December 2020 17,152 9,415 2,486 2,103 - 31,156
As at 01 January 2020 18,585 9,415 2,602 2,676 378 33,656
Comprising:
Per cost - - 16,247 6,289 - 22,536
At valuation 2021 30,841 13,050 - - - 43,890
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19. Nekretnine, postrojenja i oprema (nastavak)

Fair value measurement of the Group and Company’s buildings

The Group and Company'’s buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The fair value measurements have been classified as level 3, in accordance with inputs used in the valuation.

While assessing the value of buildings and freehold land, the independent appraiser disclosed in their report to
have used the comparison approach method, having determined for it to be the most adequate method considering
the location, land registry, and cadastral status of the property owned by the Company. Inter alia, the comparison
approach method considers and assesses the quality of the building and its position at a similar location for a

comparable building type.

Details of the Group and Company'’s buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

Fair value as at

Level 2 Level 3 31 December
2021
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Freehold land - 13,050 13,050
Buildings - 21,789 21,789
Fair value as at
Level 2 Level 3 31 December
2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Freehold land - 9,415 9,415
Buildings - 17,152 17,152

Assets pledged as security

A portion of the loans received have been secured by the Company’s pledged assets (registered office building)

of net carrying value of HRK 21,789 thousand (2020: HRK 17,152 thousand).

Had the Group and Company’s land and buildings been measured on a historical cost basis, their carrying

amount would have been as follows:

As at 31 As at 31

December December

2021 2020

HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

Freehold land 5,763 5,763
Buildings 8,511 9,943
Total 14,273 15,706
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19.1. Subsidiaries

The following table provides an overview of information on subsidiaries as at 31/12/2021.

Country of . Voting
Company incorporation Ownership rights
Trilix d.o.o., Zagreb Croatia 60% 60%
'Z";‘;Z‘;m“'“s do.o., Croatia 100% 100%
Span d.o.o., Ljubljana Slovenia 100% 100%
Span IT Ltd., London Great Britain 100% 100%
Span USA Inc., Oak Brook USA 100% 100%
:2:: Azerbaijan LLC, Azerbaijan 100% 100%
Bonsai d.o.0., Zagreb Croatia 70% 70%
Span GmbH, Munich Germany 100% 100%
Span LLC, Kiev Ukraine 100% 100%
SPAN SWISS AG Switzerland 100% 100%
Span-IT s.r.l., Chigindu Moldova 100% 100%

Subsidiaries are all of the companies in which the Group controls financial and business policies, which generally
entails more than half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are completely consolidated as of the date the control is
indeed passed to the Company and excluded from consolidation as of the date the control ceases.

19.2. Transactions with related parties

Related parties are undertakings in which the Company owns business shares, that is undertakings that are part
of the Group. All transactions with related parties are based on usual business and market terms. Balances of
receivables and payables between the Company and its related parties as at the date of the statement of financial
position are as follows:

Receivables and loans Liabilities
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Span d.o.o0., Slovenia 6,734 6,739 195 199
Trilix d.o.o., Zagreb 169 461 - -
MMC d.o.o., Zagreb - 404 - 576
Span USAinc., USA - 61 - -
Span LLC, Ukraine - 50 86 244
InfoCumulus d.o.o0., Zagreb - 22 132 -
Span Azerbaijan LLC, Baku 109 2 60 125
Bonsai d.o.0., Zagreb - - 753 592
Span IT Ltd., Great Britain - - 15 12
Total 7,012 7,739 1,242 1,748
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19.2. Transactions with related parties (continued)

Transactions between the Company and its related parties presented in the statement of comprehensive income
for 2021 and 2020 are detailed below.

Revenue Expenses

2021 2020 2021 2020

HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

Span d.o.o0., Slovenia 106,946 82,016 2,587 1,224
Digitalni ured d.o.o0., Zagreb - 2,167 - 7
Span USAInc., SAD 7,932 1,833 - -
Trilix d.o.o., Zagreb 151 509 33 199
Bonsai d.o.o., Zagreb 333 507 4,028 1,727
InfoCumulus d.o.o., Zagreb 162 453 2,034 937
Span LLC, Ukraine 27 143 530 1,258
Span Azerbaijan LLC, Baku 334 1" 215 805
MMC d.o.o0., Zagreb - 1 27 78
Span IT Ltd., Great Britain - - 117 712
Total 115,884 87,640 9,571 6,947

19.3. Remuneration of key management personnel

Remuneration of directors, i.e., key management of the Group and Company is provided below. Key
management personnel include 5 members (2020: 6).

Remuneration of key management personnel

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Short-term employee benefits 9,493 6,936 9,493 6,936

20. Right-of-use assets

In its first application of IFRS 16, the Group and Company used the following practical exemptions as allowed by
the standard: exemptions from recognising lease contracts that as at their commencement date have a lease period
of 12 months or short-term leases of low value assets.

The Group and Company have business premises and company vehicles in operating lease. Lease contracts are
usually concluded for a period from 3 to 5 years.

Right-of-use Assets
Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Right-of-use assets — Vehicles 6,401 6,599 5,608 6,599
Right-of-use assets — Business premises 10,614 3,627 7,849 3,527
Total 17,015 10,126 13,456 10,126
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20. Right-of-use assets (continued)

Group
Right-of-use assets Buslqess Vehicles Total
premises
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Cost
As at 1 January 2020 7,449 8,093 15,541
Increase 2,628 2,691 5,319
Decreases (267) (207) (474)
As at 31 December 2020 9,810 10,677 20,386
Increase 12,804 2,694 15,498
Decreases (8,148) (1,248) (9,396)
As at 31 December 2021 14,465 12,022 26,488
Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2020 2,616 1,794 4,409
Charge for the year 3,793 2,257 6,049
Write-off (126) (72) (198)
As at 31 December 2020 6,282 3,978 10,261
Charge for the year 4,411 2,818 7,229
Write-off (6,842) (1,176) (8,017)
As at 31 December 2021 3,852 5,621 9,473
Carrying value
As at 31 December 2020 3,527 6,599 10,126
As at 31 December 2021 10,614 6,401 17,015
Company

Right-of-use assets Bus"!ess Vehicles Total

premises

HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Cost
As at 1 January 2020 7,449 8,093 15,541
Increase 2,628 2,691 5,319
Decreases (267) (207) (474)
As at 31 December 2020 9,810 10,577 20,386
Increase 9,362 1,328 10,689
Decreases (8,148) (1,248) (9,396)
As at 31 December 2021 11,023 10,656 21,679
Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2020 2,616 1,794 4,409
Charge for the year 3,793 2,257 6,049
Write-off (126) (72) (198)
As at 31 December 2020 6,282 3,978 10,261
Charge for the year 3,734 2,246 5,980
Write-off (6,842) (1,176) (8,017)
As at 31 December 2021 3,174 5,049 8,223
Carrying value
As at 31 December 2020 3,527 6,599 10,126
As at 31 December 2021 7,849 5,608 13,456
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20. Right-of-use assets (continued)

Amounts recognised in profit and loss

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets
Business premises
Vehicles

Interest expense on lease liabilities
Business premises
Vehicles

Expense relating to short-term leases

Fixed payments
Business premises
Vehicles
Total

Options to extend expected to be extended
Ukupno

Options to extend expected to be extended

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
4,411 3,793 3,734 3,793
2,818 2,257 2,246 2,257
350 197 269 197
423 412 374 412
1,909 3,037 1,359 3,037
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
4,138 4,103 3,441 4,103
4124 3,173 3,404 3,173
8,262 7,276 6,845 7,276
Group
Within 5 years Later than 5 Total
years

HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

14,070 - 14,070

14,070 - 14,070

Company
Within 5 years Later than 5 Total
years

HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

10,786 - 10,786

10,786 - 10,786
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21. Investments in financial assets

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Bank deposits
Loans given
Total

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Bank deposits

Receivables for tender guarantees

Receivables for lease guarantees

Depositary receipts and convertible notes

Total

Current

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
879 - - -
- 57 - -
879 57 - -

Non-current

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
- 866 - -
245 393 245 282
72 107 - 35
549 549 111 111
866 1,914 356 428

The current value of receivables for deposits and guarantees are considered a reasonable assessment of their fair

value.

Impairment of financial assets

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period in assessing the loss allowance for these financial assets.

21.1. Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all of the companies in which the Company controls financial and business policies, which
generally entails more than half of the voting rights. In 2021, the share in M M C d.o.0. was sold, the shares in
Span GmbH, Gemany and Span Swiss AG, Switzerland were increased, and Span-IT s.r.l., Moldova was

established.

Span d.o.o., Slovenia

Trilix d.o.0., Zagreb

MMC d.o.o., Zagreb

Span USAInc., USA

Span LLC, Ukraine
InfoCumulus d.o.o., Zagreb
Bonsai d.o.o., Zagreb
Span GmbH, Germany
Span Swiss AG, Switzerland
Span-IT s.r.l., Moldova
Total

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Ownership (%) HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
100% 2,980 2,980
60% 1,080 1,080
70% - 70
100% 115 115
100% 4,664 4,664
100% 16,884 16,884
70% 350 350
100% 298 185
100% 1,024 658
100% 374 -
27,769 26,986
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22, Inventories

Merchandise inventories predominantly refer to hardware purchased for fa
exceptionally for 2022 licences, for which the invoice was received on

01/01/2022.

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was HRK 507 million
for the Group, and HRK 329 million (2020: HRK 246 million) for the Company.

miliar customers and this year
31/12/2021. These licences were sold on

(2020: HRK 397 million)

At the end of each business year, the Group and Company examine the net recoverable value of inventories and

adjust the value of inventories older than 1 year.

The cost or the expense of inventories recognised as expenditures amount to HRK 27 thousand (2020: HRK 35
thousand) for both the Group and Company and refer to the value adjustment of inventories up to their net

realisable value. The value adjustment of inventories has been reverse

HRK 238 thousand (2020: HRK 390 thousand).

Itis expected that the value of inventories amountin
Group and HRK 1,972 thousand (2020: HRK 127 t

12 months the latest.

d for inventories sold in the amount of

g to HRK 2,026 thousand (2020: HRK 520 thousand) for the
housand) for the Company will be realised very quickly, within

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 3171272021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Trade goods 195 520 141 127
License 1,831 - 1,831 -
Ukupno 2,026 520 1,972 127
23. Trade and other receivables
Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Domestic trade receivables 60,005 63,464 22,407 39,307
Foreign trade receivables 20,428 31,954 26,658 29,772
Prepaid expenses 7,238 9,656 6,144 6,646
VAT receivables 2,417 1,012 320 165
Related party receivables - - 7,013 7,739
Calculated income 21,551 8,605 17,651 7,737
Impairment of trade receivables (36) (47) (36) (22)
Other receivables 2,157 1,856 2,165 1,098
Total 113,760 116,501 82,322 92,442

Trade receivables

The average credit period on sales of goods for the Grou

p is 38 days, and for the Company 38 days (2020: 54

days for the Group, and 68 days for the Company). Interest is not calculated for outstanding trade receivables.

The Group and Company always measure impairment of trade receivables in the amount equivalent to lifetime
ECL. The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to
past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current financial position, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions as at the reporting date.
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23. Trade and other receivables (continued)

Movements in impairment allowance on trade

receivables
Group Company

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Opening balance 47 ’ 91 151 57
Movement of loss allowance 333 967 85 947
Amounts recovered during the year (28) (29) (23) (29)
Amounts written off (316) (972) (178) (824)
Closing balance 36 47 36 151

The Group and Company write off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in

severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the

e.g., when the debtor has been placed
case of trade receivables, when the

amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. None of the trade receivables that have been

written off is subject to enforcement activities.

As the Group and Company'’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further

distinguished between the Group and Company’s different customer segments.

Group Company

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

Customer 1 7,783 7,783
Customer 2 5,166 6,734
Customer 3 3,302 5,166
Customer 4 2,100 2,100
Customer 5 2,068 2,068
Customer 6 1,798 1,798
Customer 7 1,701 1,701
Customer 8 1,521 1,521
Customer 9 1,495 1,495
Customer 10 1,467 1,383
Total 28,403 31,750
Total receivables 73,420 49,065
Share in total receivables (%) 38.69% 64.71%

Group Company

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

Customer 1 10,315 10,315
Customer 2 8,713 8,713
Customer 3 4,437 6,739
Customer 4 4,186 4,186
Customer 5 3,771 3,318
Customer 6 3,318 2,443
Customer 7 2,443 2,406
Customer 8 2,406 2,055
Customer 9 2,055 1,904
Customer 10 1,904 1,894
Total 43,546 43,972
Total receivables 97,464 69,079
Share in total receivables (%) 44.68% 63.65%

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables in

accordance with the simplified approach set out in IFRS.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021

24. Borrowings

Unsecured borrowings at amortised cost

Non-current

OTP bank d.d.

Splitska banka

Privredna banka Zagreb bank d.d.

Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Current

Zagrebacka banka d.d.

OTP bank d.d

Privredna banka Zagreb bank d.d.
Raiffeisenbank Austria d.d.

Other liabilities to banks

Total

Balance at 1 January

New loans

Loan repayment

Foreign exchange gains and losses
Total

Group Company

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 'HRK ‘000
6,895 9,296 6,895 9,296

- 3,162 - 3,162

- 1,655 - 1,655

6,895 14,113 6,895 14,113

- 7,612 - 7,441

6,337 15,941 5,548 15,941
1,665 1,662 1,665 1,662

701 7,603 - 6,503

379 - - -
9,082 32,817 7,213 31,546
15,977 46,930 14,108 45,659

Group Company

2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
46,930 66,859 45,659 65,737
53,060 103,765 49,175 103,594
(84,130) (124,383) (80,841) (124,353)
118 689 114 681
15,977 46,930 14,108 45,659
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24, Borrowings (continued)

Analysis of foreign currency borrowings:

Other principal features of the Group and Company’s borrowings are the following:

@
(ii)
(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The Company does not use overdrafts.
The Company has four main bank loans:

A loan, of HRK 9.3 million (2020: HRK 12.3 million) contracted on 05/06/2019 with OTP bank d.d. with a
currency clause in EUR, for financing trade and other payables. Repayments commenced on 05/09/2019 and
will continue until 05/01/2025. The loan has been secured by promissory notes and bills of exchange issued
by the Group companies the Company'’s pledged assets (registered office building). A variable, annual interest
rate of 1.80% is applied to the loan.

A loan, of HRK 3.2 million (2020: HRK 5.7 million) contracted on 23/07/2015 with OTP bank d.d. with a
currency clause in EUR, for settling payables to Addiko bank d.d.. Repayments commenced on 23/10/2015
and will continue until 23/03/2023. The loan has been secured by promissory notes and bills of exchange
issued by the Group companies the Company’s pledged assets (registered office building). A fixed, annual
interest rate of 1.80 % is applied to the loan.

Aloan, of HRK 1.7 million (2020: HRK 3.3 million) contracted on 16/07/2020 with Privredna banka Zagreb d.d.
in HRK for working capital. Repayments commenced on 31/08/2020 and will continue until 31/12/2022. The
loan has been secured by promissory notes and bills of exchange issued by the Company. A fixed, annual
interest rate of 2.20 % is applied to the loan.

A loan, multipurpose framework, of EUR 4.4 million, active as at the reporting date and used only for issuing
guarantees in the amount of HRK 7.7 million (2020: HRK 10.4 million of used loans), contracted on 31/03/2011
with OTP banka d.d. with a currency clause in EUR. Each instalment matures within 6 months from its
withdrawal. The framework is contracted and renewed annually, the loan to be used by 31/05/2022, ultimate
repayment deadline 30/11/2022. Interest rate benchmark for 1-month EURIBOR increased by the interest
margin of 2.75%, variable, is applied for EUR. The loan has been secured by the Company's pledged assets
(registered office building) and promissory notes and bills of exchange by the Group’s companies and owners.

In addition to the loans cited above, the Group has another two loans:

A loan of the member of the Group Span LLC Kiev, with an overdraft of USD 500 thousand, with HRK 0.4
million used as at the reporting date (2020: HRK 0.0 million) contracted on 30/11/2021 with Raiffeisen Bank
Ukraine, with a currency clause in USD. The loan is repayable by 30/11/2022. Interest rate benchmark for 3-
month UIRD (Ukrainian Index of Retail Deposit Rates) increased by the interest margin of 2.50%, variable, is
applied for the loan. The loan is secured by the Company’s corporate guarantee.

() Aloan of the Group member Bonsai d.0.0., multipurpose framework of EUR 400 thousand, HRK 0.8 million
used as at the reporting date (2020: -) contracted on 06/07/2021 with OTP banka d.d., with a currency clause
in EUR. Each instalment matures within 6 months from its withdrawal. The framework is contracted and
renewed annually, the loan to be used by 31/05/2022, ultimate repayment deadline 30/11/2022. Interest rate
benchmark for 1-month EURIBOR increased by the interest margin of 1.65%, variable, is applied for EUR.
The loan has been secured by promissory notes and bills of exchange issued by the Group companies.

Analysis of borrowings by currency: Group Company

EUR HRK usD EUR HRK
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

31 December 2020
Bank loans 35,206 11,724 = 33,935 11,724
35,206 11,724 - 33,935 11,724

31 December 2021
Bank loans 13,933 1,665 379 12,443 1,665
13,933 1,665 379 12,443 1,665

(iii)

Interest on payables to related parties of the Group and Company amounts to 3.00% (2020: 3.42%) p.a. on
the outstanding amount of the loan. The interest rate is the interest rate currently in force for loans between
related parties defined by the Ministry of Finance.
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25. Deferred tax

Below please find an overview of deferred tax liabilities and assets that the Group and Company recognised and the
movement thereof during the reporting period.

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Deferred tax liability (3,502) (1,855) (3,502) (1,855)
Deferred tax assets 7,729 8,498 6,952 7,902
Total 4,227 6,643 3,449 6,047
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Deferred tax assets
Amounts refer to temporary differences arising from:
Tax incentives 6,825 7,865 6,825 7,865
Tax losses 778 595 o o
Inventories 5 6 5 6
Trade receivables 1 3 1 3
Right-of-use assets 120 28 120 28
Total deferred tax assets 7,729 8,498 6,952 7,902
Net deferred tax liabilities 7,729 8,498 6,952 7,902
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Deferred tax liability
Amounts refer to temporary differences arising from:
Revaluation of buildings and land (3,502) (1,855) (3,502) (1,855)
Total deferred tax liabilities (3,502) (1,855) (3,502) (1,855)
Net deferred tax liabilities (3,502) (1,855) (3,502) (1,855)
Group
Deferred tax assets Tax incentives Tax losses Inventories N Trade Right-of-use Total
receivables assets
HRK 000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
As at 1 January 2020 8,709 797 64 5 20 9,596
Recognised in profit or loss (844) (202) (58) [¢3] 8 (1,088)
As at 31 December 2020 7,865 595 6 28 8,498
Increase in deferred tax assets 2,114 67 - - - 2,181
Recognised in profit or loss (3,154) 115 1) 1) 92 (2,950)
As at 31 December 2021 6,825 778 5 1 120 7,729
Company
Deferred tax assets Tax incenti les Rk Right-of-use Total
receivables assets
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
As at 1 January 2020 8,709 64 5 20 8,798
Recognised in profit or loss (844) (58) (2) 8 (896)
As at 31 December 2020 7,865 6 3 28 7,902
Increase in deferred tax assets 2114 - - - 2,114
Recognised in profit or loss (3,154) 1) () 92 (3,065)
As at 31 December 2021 6,825 5 1 120 6,952
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25. Deferred tax (continued)

Group Company

Revaluation of Revaluation of
Deferred tax liability buildings and Total buildings and Total

land land
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
As at 1 January 2020 1,955 1,955 1,955 1,955
Recognised in other comprehensive income (100) (100) (100) (100)
As at 31 December 2020 1,855 1,855 1,855 1,855
Increase in deferred tax liability in other comprehensive income 1,747 1,747 1,747 1,747
Recognised in other comprehensive income (100) (100) (100) (100)
As at 31 December 2021 3,502 3,502 3,502 3,502

Deferred tax liability refers to the revaluation of land and buildings owned by the Group and Company, the impact of
which was recognised in other comprehensive income for 2021.

Deferred tax assets represent the corporate tax amounts that are recoverable based on future deductions of taxable
profit and recognised in the statement of financial position. Deferred tax assets are recognised up to the amount of
the tax revenues which are likely to be realised. When determining future taxable profit and amount of tax revenues
that are likely to be realised in the future, the Group and Company make judgements and estimates based on taxable
profit from prior years and expectations of future revenues that are considered reasonable in the current
circumstances.

The Group and Company recognised deferred tax assets as temporary tax differences and tax losses carried
forward. Temporary tax differences predominantly refer to ECL, valuation allowance for inventories, and temporary
differences on account of the application of IFRS 16. All impacts of the change were recognised in profit or loss.

26. Lease liabilities

The Group and Company are not exposed to substantial liquidity risk in terms of their lease liabilities.

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Lease liabilities — long-term 10,847 6,285 8,566 6,285
Lease liabilities — short-term 7,140 4,409 5,957 4,409
Total 17,987 10,695 14,522 10,695

Lease liabilities refer to the lease of business premises and company vehicles recognised in line with the provisions
of IFRS 16 Leases.

27. Trade and other payables

Trade payables and liabilities accounted for mainly comprise outstanding amounts for purchasing trade goods and
current costs. The average credit period for the purchase of goods for the Group is 38 days, and for the Company 44
days (2020.: 50 days for the Group, and 56 days for the Company). For most suppliers interest on trade payables is
not calculated for the first 180 days from the invoicing date. Afterwards, interest is calculated for open balances by
using different interest rates. The Group and Company have financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms.

The Management Board believes that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates their fair value.
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27. Trade payables and other liabilities (continued)

Domestic suppliers
Foreign suppliers

Related party liabilities
VAT payable

Amounts due to employees
Accrued expenses

Taxes and contributions on employee salaries

Advances received
Other liabilities
Total

28. Share capital

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
14,161 25,071 11,464 20,979
39,352 21,520 26,668 14,911
- - 1,242 1,748
7,169 8,220 3,284 4,274
8,839 8,163 5,990 5,423
11,236 9,242 8,021 5,444
4,427 3,951 3,957 3,570
3,154 1,732 1,319 515
8,142 12,518 7,565 8,394
96,478 90,416 69,511 65,258

Share capital comprises 1,960,000 shares of nominal value of HRK 10/share.

On 24 May 2021, the General Assembly of the company Span d.d. adopted the Decision on allocating shares based
on the principle that one share of nominal value of HRK 100 be divided into 10 shares, each of nominal value of HRK
10. This Decision was entered in the court register of the Commercial Court in Zagreb on 25 May 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had 30,900 (2020: 677,600) treasury shares. The Company has formed

treasury share reserves in the amount of HRK 616 thousand (2020: HRK 28 million).

The Company has a single type of regular shares which do not secure the right to a fixed income.

Share capital
Total

Profit reserves

Profit reserves
Total

Opening balance
Increase/(decrease)
Closing balance

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
19,600 19,600 19,600 19,600
19,600 19,600 19,600 19,600

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
8,252 8,477 7,413 8,072
8,252 8,477 7,413 8,072

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
8,477 8,494 8,072 8,494
(224) (17) (660) (421)
8,252 8,477 7,413 8,072
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29. Legal reserves

As at 31/12/2020, the share capital of the company Span d.d. comprised 196,000 shares of nominal value HRK 100
per share, so the Company held 67,760 own shares. Reserves of HRK 28 million were formed for those shares.

On 24 May 2021, the General Assembly of the company Span d.d. adopted the Decision on allocating shares based
on the principle that one share of nominal value of HRK 100 be divided into 10 shares, each of nominal value of HRK
10. This Decision was entered in the court register of the Commercial Court in Zagreb on 25 May 2021.

In line with the aforementioned, as at 31 December 2021, the share capital of the company Span d.d. comprised
1,960,000 shares of nominal value of HRK 10, so the Company held 30,900 own shares. Reserves of HRK 615
million were formed for those shares.

In line with Article 222 a (2) of the Companies Act, the Company cancelled the reserves for own shares sold in the
IPO and recorded the amount in retained earnings. Legal reserves amount to HRK 79,084 thousand and are a result
of the public offering of Company shares, that is the difference between the nominal share value (HRK 10) and final
IPO price (HRK 175), net of cancelled reserves for own shares sold in the IPO.

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Opening balance - - - -
Increase in legal reserves 98,412 - 98,412 -
Decrease in legal reserves (19,328) - (19,328) -
Closing balance 79,084 - 79,084 -

30. Revaluation reserves
Pro, revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve was formed in 2019 from land and buildings revaluation based on an assessment by an
independent appraiser and increased in 2021 based on a new assessment by an independent appraiser, and on
31/12/2021 it amounted to HRK 15,954 thousand (2020: HRK 8,451 thousand).

Revaluation reserves may be realised once the asset is derecognised or gradually by using assets in the amount
defined as the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of assets and depreciation
based on the original purchase cost. Realised revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

When selling revalued land or revalued buildings, a portion of the properties revaluation reserve referring to the
assets sold is transferred directly to retained earnings. Other comprehensive income items included in the properties
revaluation reserve are not subsequently transferred to profit or loss.

The Group and Company decided to realise the revaluation reserve by gradually using assets and in 2021 they
realised revaluation reserves in the amount of HRK 455 thousand and increased the revaluation reserve in the
amount of HRK 7,958 thousand based on a new assessment.

Revaluation reserves - property

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Opening balance 8,451 8,906 8,451 8,906
Re_vgluation increase/(decrease) on land and 7503 (455) 7503 (455)
buildings
Closing balance 15,954 8,451 15,954 8,451
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31. Non-controlling interests

Below please find an overview of summary information on all subsidiaries of the Company, in which the Company
has material non-controlling interests. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

Non-controlling interests

Group
2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Opening balance 1,049 1,425
Decrease in non-controlling interests by acquirin:

a share o Y SeAtng M 30
Share in profit/(loss) for the year 105 (346)
Closing balance 1,153 1,049
Non-controlling interest

2021 2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

Non-controlling interest - Trilix d.o.o.
Balance on 01 January 805 1,204
Attributed net profit 14 (399)

Balance on 31 December 819 805
Non-controlling interest - Bonsai d.o.o.

Balance on 01 January 243 195

Attributed net profit 186 49

Balance on 31 December 429 243
Non-controlling interest - MM C d.o.0.

Balance on 01 January 1 27

Contractual decrease in non-controlling interests 1) (30)

Attributed net profit (95) 4

Balance on 31 December (95) 1

Total 1,153 1,049
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31. Non-controlling interests (continued)

Trilix d.o.o.

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Revenues

Expenses

Profit (loss) for the year

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company
Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests
Profit (loss) for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling
interests

Total comprehensive income for the year

31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
411 2,071
1,518 1,614
(3,250) (1,625)
(649) -

60% 60%

40% 40%
31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
9,756 8,365
(9,720) (9,327)

36 (962)

22 (577)

14 (385)

36 (962)

22 (577)

14 (385)

36 (962)
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31. Non-controlling interests (continued)

Bonsai d.o.o.
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Revenues

Expenses

Profit (loss) for the year

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company
Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests
Profit (loss) for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controliing
interests

Total comprehensive income for the year

31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
2,841 2,178
1,870 332
(2,629) (1,699)
(593) -

70% 60%

30% 40%
31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
7,253 4,894
(6,576) (4,731)
677 163

474 98

203 65

677 163

474 98

203 65

677 163
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31. Non-controlling interests (continued)

31/12/2021 31/12/12020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

MM C d.o.o0.
Assets (603) 937
Liabilities 753 (657)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 70% 70%
Non-controlling interests 30% 30%
31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Revenues 21 676
Expenses (339) (661)
Profit (loss) for the year (317) 14
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company (222) 10
Profit (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests (95) 4
Profit (loss) for the year 14
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company (222) 10
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests (95) 4
Total comprehensive income for the year (317) 14

In 2021 the Company sold its shares in MMC d.o.0. The Group's loss from sales amounted to HRK 72 thousand
(note 13).
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32. Notes to the cash flow statement

The carrying value of the relevant assets approximates their fair value. Below please find an overview of cash and
cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period.

Cash at bank and in hand

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Cash at bank 139,775 29,556 126,904 16,010
Cash in hand 16 29 16 22
Total 139,791 29,585 126,920 16,032

33. Deferred income

Deferred income refers to accruals and deferrals, i.e., income recognised in future periods in which the service is
realised.

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Deferred income 8,643 4,646 8,107 1,701
Ukupno 8,643 4,646 8,107 1,701
34. Contractual liabilities
Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 3112/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Contractual liabilities - non-current 10,186 15,277 10,186 15,277
Contractual liabilities - current 5,052 4,070 5,052 4,070
Total 15,237 19,347 15,237 19,347
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35. Financial instruments
(a) Classes and categories of financial instruments and their fair values

The following table provides information on:
o classes of financial instruments based on their nature and characteristics;
o the carrying amounts of financial instruments;

o fair values of financial instruments (except financial instruments when carrying amount approximates their fair
value); and

o fair value hierarchy levels of financial assets and financial liabilities for which fair value was disclosed.
Level 1 to 3 fair value measurements are based on the degree of measurability of fair value:

e Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

e Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

e Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

(b) Financial risk management objectives

The Company and Group’s Corporate Treasury function supports operations, co-ordinates access to domestic and
international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Company
and Group. These include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk, and price risk), then credit risk and
liquidity risk.

The Group and Company seek to minimise the effects of these risks by using financial instruments to hedge against
the relevant exposures. The Company and Group have concluded a framework contract on derivative financial
instruments for hedging against the interest and currency risk, as well as other risks that incur or may incur due to
changes in prices, values etc.

(c) Market risk

The Company and Group'’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates and interest rates (see below). The Company and Group have introduced changes to the ways in which they
manage this risk.
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35. Financial instruments (continued)
(c)(i) Foreign currency risk management

The Group and Company undertake transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to
exchange rate fluctuations arise. The Group and Company have not concluded a contract on derivative financial
instruments for hedging against the currency risk. The table below details the carrying amounts of the Group and
Company'’s foreign-currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting date.

Group
31 December 2021
EUR UsD GBP CAD AUD
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Trade and other receivables 17,933 14,521 2,832 324 336
Long-term trade receivables
Borrowings (13.933) (379)
Trade and other payables (59,769) (7.944) (764)
Net balance exposure (55,769) 6,198 2,068 324 336
31 December 2020
EUR UsD GBP CAD AUD
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Trade and other receivables 13,908 11,897 5,054 (83) 526
Long-term trade receivables
Borrowings (35,292)
Trade and other payables (44,011) (3,831) (12)
Net balance exposure (65,395) 8,066 5,042 (83) 526
Company
31 December 2021
EUR UsD GBP CAD AUD
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Trade and other receivables 13,559 23478 1,057 580 631
Long-term trade receivables
Borrowings (40,678)
Trade and other payables (39,767) (1,238) (5)
Net balance exposure (66,886) 22240 1,052 580 631
31 December 2020
EUR usb GBP CAD AUD
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000

Trade and other receivables 13,908 11,897 5,054 (83) 526
Long-term trade receivables
Borrowings (35,292)
Trade and other b (44,011) (3,831) (12)
Net balance exposure (65,395) 8,066 5,042 (83) 526

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Group and Company are mainly exposed to the currency of EU member states (EUR) and the currency of the
USA (USD). The following table details the Group and Company’s sensitivity to a 1 % increase and decrease in
currency units against the relevant foreign currencies. 1 % is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 1% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes certain receivables (trade and other receivables) and payables (loan liabilities to financial
institutions, trade payables, and other contractual liabilities) denominated in a foreign currency. A positive number
below indicates an increase in profit and other equity where the HRK strengthens 1 % against the relevant currency.
For a 1 % weakening of the HRK against the relevant currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit or
equity, and the balances below would be negative.
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35. Financial instruments (continued)
(c)(i) Foreign currency risk management

The following exchange rates were applied:

2021 2020
EUR 1 7.442580 7.536898
USD 1 6.649911 6.139039
GBP 1 8.724159 8.353910
CAD 1 5.089988 4803632
AUD 1 4.651031 4.709678

Profit or loss
Group Company _
Appreciation Depreciati Appreciation Depreciation

31 December 2021
EUR (1% change) (558) 558 (669) 669
USD (1% change) 62 (62) 222 (222)
GBP (1% change) 21 21 11 (11)
CAD (1% change) 3 ) 6 6)
AUD (1% change) 3 (3) ] (6)
31 December 2020
EUR (1% change) (654) 654 (654) 654
USD (1% change) 81 (81) 81 (81)
GBP (1% change) 50 (50) 50 (50)
CAD (1% change) (1) 1 (1) 1
AUD (1% change) 5 6 5 (5)

(c)(ii) Interest rate risk management

The Group and Company are exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group and Company borrow funds
at both fixed and floating interest rates. The risk is managed by the Group and Company by maintaining an
appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings. The Group and Company’s exposures to interest rates on
financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note.
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35. Financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the reporting date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability
outstanding at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole year. A 1 % increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk intenally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant:

o the Company's profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 would decrease/increase by HRK 93 thousand
(2020: decrease/increase by HRK 227 thousand). This is mainly attributable to the Group's exposure to
interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

Company
Interest rate risk

In HRK ‘000 2021 2020

Variable-rate instruments

Borrowings and loan liabilities 9,271 22,701
Total 9,271 22,701
1% interest rate increase 93 227

o the Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 would decrease/increase by HRK 104 thousand
(2020: decreaselincrease by HRK 227 thousand). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

Group
Interest rate risk
In HRK ‘000 2021 2020

Variable-rate instruments

Borrowings and loan liabilities 10,436 22,701
Total 10,436 22,701
1% interest rate increase 104 227
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35. Financial instruments (continued)
(d) Credit risk management

The Group and Company have adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The
Group and Company'’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.

Before accepting any new customer, a dedicated team responsible for the determination of credit limits uses an
external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer.

Monitoring procedures are also in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The
expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions. None of the trade receivables that
have been written off is subject to enforcement activities. Furthermore, the Group and Company review the
recoverable amount of each trade debt and debt investment on an individual basis at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate loss allowance is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group and Company’s credit risk is significantly reduced. Trade receivables refer
to a large number of customers from different economic sectors and regions.

Of the trade receivables balance at the end of the year, HRK 7,783 thousand (2020: HRK 10,315 million) is due
from Customer 1, the Group and Company’s largest customer. Apart from this, the Group and Company do not
have significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar
characteristics. The Company and Group consider counterparties having similar characteristics related parties.

As at 31 December 2021, an amount of HRK 221 thousand (2020: HRK 957 thousand) has been estimated as a
loss allowance in accordance with IFRS 9 for the Group and HRK 46 thousand for the Company (2020: HRK 130
thousand) (note 23).

(d)(i) Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements

Where appropriate, the Company and Group hold collateral to cover their credit risks associated with their
financial assets and continuously monitor customers.

d)(ii) Overview of the Group and Company’s exposure to credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Group and Company. As at 31 December 2021, the Group and Company’s maximum exposure to credit
risk without taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements, which will cause a financial loss
to the Group and Company due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group arises from:

e the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the statement of financial
position.

For trade receivables, the Group and Company have applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group and Company determine the expected credit losses on these items by
using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the
debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Thus,
the credit risk profile of the relevant assets has been presented based on the past due status in relation to the
Group’s provision matrix.

SPAN d.d. and its subsidiaries 79



08

SOLBIPISQNS S}t PUB "P'P NYdIS

09€'26
000, ¥¥H

oL
000, ¥HH

yov'ee
000, X¥H

(yseoudde payyduwis) 703 awnayn anN

£z S8|qeAID031 B0 pue apes )

(1) Junowe Burises JoN

asuemojje S0

)

«.:zoEu Buikises ssoin

Bunea Bunes

7103 uinej o juourzy, }PaJO [eUId)u]  PPRID jeudaixg

3JON ozozreiive

S9|qeAI0a] JaY0 pue apes |

6228 €8 15¢£'28 (yoeosdde paydwis) 703 dwnay aN €2
000, ¥4H 000, ¥¥H 000, X¥H

(1) 3unowre Bupkises 33, asuemoj|e sso o a4l 4o Yuow- Gupe Buge. 330

(k! [ 8N Il 2 Junoure BuykLies ss0Jg 193 awnajy Jo yy zi UPOID [BUIBIY]  YPOID jeuseIXT 10N 120ZRRLILE

Auedwo)

LLE'8LL 62l 66¥'8LL (yoeoudde paydwis) 103 swiney] dN >4 SS|qeAI308) JaYJo pue apel L
000, ¥4H 000, M4H 000, ¥yH

(1) Junoute Buiises 39 asuemojje sso 0 awnayll Jo Yjuow- Buges Bupes ajo 020

D3y 18N I 1 junocwe m:.?...uo §§049) 103 najll w (47 JP3JI [BUIdU]  NIPAID jBUIdIXT ON ZOZIELILE

629'90) €8 TLL'90L (yoeosdde paydwis) 703 swidy aN €2 S9|qeA3031 JaYjo pue SpelL
000, MuH 000, ¥¥H 000, ¥iH

(1) 3unowre Buikised 33, aouemojje sso E 2Wi3ajl] 4O YJuow- BuREd Bupes 9o /LE

1y 13N I 1 junowe m:_>._._wo €801 193 nall w (44 JPaJJ jeuddju] NP3 jeuladlxy ON rzozret

dnoi

(panupuo) ysu )ipaid o) ainsodxs s,Auedwo) pue dnoig) ayj Jo mairtdAQ (i1)(P

(p

anupuod) sjusawnIsul [ejdueuld ‘¢

120z Jlequiadaq L€ papua Jeak ay) o}
SjuaWale)s [eioueUl 8y} 0} SB}ON



Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021

35. Financial instruments (continued)
(e) Liquidity risk management

Responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the management, which has established an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for managing short, medium, and long-term funding and liquidity. The Group
and Company manage liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and credit lines, continuously comparing
the planned and realized cash flow by monitoring the maturity of claims and liabilities. Details on unused credit
products available to the Group and Company to additionally decrease liquidity risk are provided below.

Group Company
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
Secured bank loan facilities with various maturity dates through to 2020 and which may be
extended by mutual agreement:
—amount used 9,637 22,020 7,669 22,020
— amount unused 73,885 48,529 67,658 48,529
Total 83,422 70,549 75,327 70,549

The Company has access to financing facilities, of which HRK 67,658 thousand were unused at the reporting date
(2020: HRK 48,529 thousand).

The Group has access to financing facilities, of which HRK 73,885 thousand were unused at the reporting date
(2020: HRK 48,529 thousand). The Group and Company expect to meet their other obligations from operating
cash flows and proceeds of maturing financial assets.

(e)(i) Liquidity and interest risk tables

The remaining period until the contract maturity of non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group and the
Company was analysed in the following tables. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
outflows for financial liabilities in line with the earliest date when the Group and the Company may demand
payment. The tables detail cash flows from principal and interest. Based on expectations at the end of the
reporting period, the Group and Company consider that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held
by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest
date on which the Group and Company may be required to pay.

Group
Weighted
e':::;e: 0-12 months 1-5 years Total Carrying amount
interest rate
% HRK '000 HRK ‘000 HRK 000 HRK ‘000
311212021
Trade and other payables 96,478 - 96,478 96,478
Lease liabilities (nominal amount) 441% 7,140 10,847 17,987 17,987
Borrowings (nominal amount) 205% 9,082 6,895 15977 15977
Interest on lease liabilities 73 1,138 1911 -
Borrowing interest o71 360 1,331
311212020
Trade and other payables 90,416 - 90,416 90,416
Lease liabilities (nominal amount) 4.83% 4,409 6,285 10,695 10,695
Borrowings (nominal amount) 2.48% 32,817 14,113 46,930 46,930
Interest on lease liabilities 425 419 844 -
Borrowing interest 684 442 1126
Company
Weighted
:v’ e vue 0-12 months 1-Syears Total Carrying amount
interest rate
% HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK'000 HRK ‘000
311212021
Trade and other payables 69,511 - 69,511 69,511
Lease liabilities (nominal amount) 4.49% 5,957 8,566 14,522 14,522
Borrowings (nominal amount) 1.85% 7213 6,895 14,108 14,108
Interest on lease liabilities 643 903 1,546 -
Borrowing interest 853 304 1,157
311212020
Trade and other payables 65,258 - 65,258 65,258
Lease liabilties (nominal amount) 4.83% 4,409 6,285 10,695 10,695
Borrowings (nominal amount) 248% 31,546 14,113 45,659 45,659
Interest on lease liabilities 425 419 844 -
Borrowing interest 664 442 1,106
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

(e)(ii) Financing instruments

The Group and Company use a combination of cash inflows and available banking instruments for managing

liquidity.

The table below presents the cash inflows from assets:

31112/2021

Long-term trade receivables
Investments in financial assets
Trade and other receivables

31/12/2020

Long-term trade receivables
Investments in financial assets
Trade and other receivables

31/12/2021

Long-term trade receivables
Investments in financial assets
Trade and other receivables

31/12/2020

Long-term trade receivables
Investments in financial assets
Trade and other receivables

(f) Capital risk management

Group
0-12 months 1-5 years 5+ years Total
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
- - 4 4
879 842 24 1,746
113,760 - - 113,760
- - 14 14
57 1,890 24 1,971
116,501 - - 116,501

C ‘ i

0-12 1-5 years 5+ years Total
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
4 - 4 9
- 356 - 356
82,322 - - 82,322
14 - - 14
- 428 - 428
92,442 - - 92,442

The Group and Company manage their capital to ensure they will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group and Company consists of net debt (borrowings after deducting cash and bank
balances) and equity of the Group and Company (comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and

non-controlling interests).

The Group and Company are not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Gearing ratio:

The gearing ratio at the end of the year was as follows:

Capital risk management

Debt

Cash and bank balances
Net debt

Equity

Net debt-to-equity ratio

Debt is defined as long- and short-term borrowings.

Group

C

3111212021 31/12/2020 31122021 311212020
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
(15,977) (46,930) (14,108) (46,930)
139,791 29585 126,920 29,585
123814 (17,345) 112,812 (17,345)
192,590 54,475 192,917 54475
(0.64) 0.32 (0.58) 0.32

Equity includes share capital, profit reserves, other provisions, other capital items, translation reserves of foreign
operations, revaluation reserves, and retained earnings, all of which the Group and Company manage as equity.
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36. Events after the reporting period

We would like to highlight the following significant events after the reporting period:

Purchase of treasury shares

On 20 January 2022, the Company acquired 20,000 own shares at the price of HRK 212 based on the Programme of
repurchase of own shares adopted by the Management Board of the Company.

Merger with the subsidiary Infocumulus d.o.o.

On 17 February 2022, the subsidiary Infocumulus d.0.0. was acquired by the Company, as entered in the Court

register based on the Acquisition agreement of 16 December 2021 and the Minutes from the Assembly of the

acquiree of 25 January 2022.
Military operations in Ukraine

On 24 February 2022, Russia invaded Ukraine and we are currently not able to assess the impact of the invasion on
TOV Span’s operations as events are unfolding day-by-day. The Company TOV Span has 31 employees.

Below please find a separate statement of comprehensive income of the subsidiary for 2021 and 2020, as well as its

contribution to the Group’s consolidated result.

SPAN Ukraine - report

Total revenue

Operating income
Total expenses

Costs of goods sold

Staff costs

Other operating expenses

EBITDA before before one-off items
EBITDA

Amortization

EBIT

Net financial result

Profit / loss before tax before one-off items
Profit / loss before taxes

Profit tax

Profit / loss after tax before one-off items
Profit / loss after tax

Total revenue

Operating income

Other income

Total expenses

Costs of goods sold

Staff costs

Other operating expenses

EBITDA before before one-off items

One - off items

EBITDA after one-off items

Amortization

EBIT

Net financial resuit

Profit / loss before tax before one-off items
Profit / loss before taxes after one-off items
Profit tax

Profit / loss after tax before one-off items
Profit / loss after tax after one-off items

2021 2020 A%
HRK ‘000 HRK ‘000
162,416 142,079 14%
162,416 142,079 14%
165,436 143,548 15%
155,162 133,475 16%
7,868 7,940 -1%
2,406 2,133 13%
(3,020) (1,469) -106%
(3,020) (1,469) -106%
72 175 -59%
(3,092) (1,643) -88%
1,334 (321) 515%
(1,758) (1,968) 10%
(1,758) (1,965) 10%
(213) 271) 21%
(1,545) (1,694) 9%
(1,545) (1,694) 9%
Span Ukraine contribution Span Ukraine share in the
Group in the Group Group
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
HRK'000  HRK ‘000 HRK000  HRK'000
774423 613.757 161.887 140.935 21% 23%
767.273 610.022 161.887 140.935 21% 23%
6.851 3.735 - - 0% 0%
731.597 582.269 165.410 143.458 23% 25%
546.418 427.591 155.137 133.386 28% 31%
138.584 118.912 7.868 7.940 6% 7%
46.595 35.766 2405 2133 5% 6%
48.575 31.488 (3.523) (2.523) 1% -8%
6.048 - - -
42,526 31.488 (3.523) (2.523) 8% -8%
15.594 14.196 72 175 0% 1%
26.933 17.292 (3.595) (2.698) -13% -16%
973 (7.118) 1334 (334) 137% 5%
33.954 10174 (2.262) (3.032) 7% -30%
27.906 10.174 (2.262) (3.032) -8% -30%
4.082 2722 (213) (271) -5% -10%
29.872 7.452 (2.048) (2.761) -7% -37%
23.324 7.452 (2.048) (2.761) -9% -37%
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36. Events after the reporting period (continued)
Investment incentives

On 25 February 2022, the Company received the Ministry of Economy and Sustainable Development's Confirmation
of awarding funds from the Government programme granting the Company tax incentives as a support for eligible
labour expenses related to its investment project. Furthermore, the Ministry approved a 50% income tax exemption
for a period of 10 years that is applicable as of 2022 (payment of income tax for the year 2021) if the conditions from
the Act are met.

Acaquisition of the subsidiary Ekobit d.o.o.

On 14 March 2022, the Company signed a purchase contract for all shares in the company Ekobit d.o.0. in a
transaction worth HRK 37,390 thousand. A portion of the purchase price depending on the business results of the
company Ekobit d.o.o. is subject to adjustments in 2022. According to the decision of the so-far owners of Ekobit
d.o.0., a portion of the amount of HRK 3,266 thousand will be paid via own shares of the Company to meet the
Employee Share-Based Compensation policy of Ekobit d.o.o.

37. Authorisation of financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the Management Board on 29 April 2022.

For SPAN d.d.:

President of the Member of the Member of the
Management Board Management Board Management Board
Nikola Pujmovi¢ ( Mar% % Dragan Markovi¢
Member of the Member of the

Management Board Management Board

Antonija Kapovi¢ Sasa Kramar

e,
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